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PREFACE

T his book has taken me almost four decades to write. And that makes the task of
writing this Preface so difficult. If I might, I would like to offer some simple but
hopefully helpful advice and insight into this profession: Learn from anyone and
everyone. You’ll be surprised what information you can glean about business from
about anyone you might meet. Ask about their job, what (if not nonpublic and
material) their company could be doing to become more efficient, what it might
be doing wrong or well, as well as the firm’s customers, clients, and competition.

While all security analysts like to spend time with the chief financial officer
(CFO), in a large organization it’s really the professionals that report to the CFO
who carry the valuable information and expertise. For instance, if possible, I like
to speak to the individual who wrote particular footnote sections of the 10K or
10Q, such as the manager of global tax or the pension manager.

The chief motivational factor over the course of my professional career has
been my desire to learn and experience all there was when it came to analyzing
stocks. A good security analyst always should seek out individuals from whom to
learn, books to study, and schools and conferences from which to receive training.
An analyst must use his or her resources and ask sound questions based on an
understanding of the subject or an obvious quest for such an understanding. As a
young analyst, I chaired the Education Committee at the New York Society of
Security Analysts, so I had access to high-ranking individuals whom I could
invite, visit with, and learn from.

An analyst needs to be as inquisitive as a police detective—and as probing
and as suspicious. An analyst never should get complaisant during bull markets or
be so doubting during bear markets as to lose sight of the long-term opportunities.

Having heard countless Depression-era stories from my father, I came into the
investment business with a congenital concern that a business might not be able to
provide its owners with sufficient cash to warrant an investment. And the ever-
increasing list of scandals and abuses only tended to raise my level of suspicion.
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Preface

It was with this background that I began, during the 1970s, the study of cash flow
and credit, during which I spent several years as a loan officer.

As the growth in U.S. corporate pension funds became apparent, I worked
as the pension fund analyst for a large utility company, where I delved into actu-
arial methodologies, which was an arcane science at the time. The United States
was going through a very difficult recession, yet stocks were, for the most part,
being valued on growth of earnings, even though the owners of companies, the
shareholders—who were hoping for some capital gains—discovered that there
was little excess cash to be distributed. Mergers were being completed for stock
under pooling of interest accounting, which allowed the assets and liabilities to
be recorded at their carrying values. By artificially boosting earnings through
avoidance of goodwill, this made for lower P/Es, but again providing no distrib-
utable cash.

As I delved into the minutiae of corporate reporting, it became apparent to
me that many firms were wasting cash, either through excessive hiring, wasteful
acquisitions of other firms, or unneeded expansion fueled by top-of-cycle deci-
sions. These firms had just an outside chance of earning a decent return on their
investment, not to mention the downside risk if the investment didn’t turn out as
planned. One public company chairman once told me he was in a “transactions
mode” and wound up almost bringing down the whole company from the eventual
deal. His investment bankers were quite happy as they left his office that day. It
was from experiences such as these that I learned that a company must have a cash
return at least equal to its cost of capital.

Now that the industrialized world is entering its second decade of slowing
economic growth, the analysis of cash flow and credit is coming to the forefront.
With that Depression mentality in mind, I explain in this book my concept for how
the entity can maximize free cash flow without impairing its growth. For without
free cash flow, outside of selling assets, principal on debt cannot be reduced, and
investors cannot be compensated.

The reason for this book, however, is my genuine concern that investors have
not learned to program risk into their expectations. Even when they believe that
they have, normally omitted are a multitude of factors that deserved careful atten-
tion but did not receive it. Without a careful assessment and evaluation of funda-
mental business and operating risks, the potential for negative surprise looms.
When building in such risks to expectations of reward in the form of cash flow, a
superior investment model is created, including the estimate of fair value.
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CHAPTER 1

Overview

Security Valuation and Risk Analysis is a book written to help investors appraise
the expected return from an investment in an equity security. In undertaking this
endeavor, half this book is allocated to risk, as measured by cost of capital, and
half is allocated to to return, as measured by the investment’s expected cash
flows.!

Many new lessons were taught and many old lessons were learned as a result
of the financial system meltdown of 2008-2009, but none more important than
possessing the deep skill set to practice the rigorous application of cash flows and
credit analysis. The investors having such a deep-seated knowledge were, in many
instances, able to earn outsized returns while avoiding the concerns that were
forced into bankruptcy or forced to accept government aid. Many other entities
were severely weakened, with massive loss of market share. And when the econ-
omy stabilized, the firms that had strong cash flows and low cost of capital
quickly rebounded to their former levels, and over the course of a business cycle,
such enterprises normally outperform the general equity market by a considerable
margin.

Investors who understand cash flow and credit have an important competitive
advantage. They can place a confident value on the enterprise and spot discrepan-
cies in value. To the extent that economic uncertainty is prevalent, investment
opportunities are especially widespread. Those who succeed in this environment
are those who are best equipped with the new analytic skills to do so. Successful
investors understand cash-flow adequacy is the most important benchmark in both
security valuation and credit decisions; they also understand there are risks associ-
ated with expected cash flows.

I'Throughout the text, I refer to cash flows as meaning both cash flow from operating activities and
free (maximum distributable) cash flow. Otherwise, they are referred to separately, as will be
defined.



Security Valuation and Risk Analysis

This book will provide you with the tools designed to give you a real edge
relative to other security analysts by demonstrating how you can

* Enhance your forecasting skills by showing how to spot and take
advantage of early-warning signals provided by cash-flow and credit
metrics

* Have a better understanding of how financial statements are prepared

» Take advantage of a better definition of cost of equity capital from
which to discount free cash flow

* Capitalize on a better definition of free cash flow by understanding how
management could free up cash resources

* Earn superior investment returns through practical use of an advanced
definition of cash flow from operating activities that is superior to that
reported under generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)

* Spot and quantify important balance-sheet and off-balance-sheet items
that most often are neglected or lightly scrutinized by securities analysts
and investors

* Think like a corporate “insider” by showing how corporate executives
view the various risks that confront them

» Take advantage of the many failings of earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation, and amortization (EBITDA)

* Take advantage of how rating agencies assign credit grades

To say that much has developed in the world of finance since I cowrote Cash
Flow and Security Analysis (2nd ed., McGraw-Hill, 1995) with distinguished
Professor at the Stern School of Business, Dr. Joshua Livnat, would be a very
gross understatement. Who knows how close the United States, and, for that mat-
ter, the industrialized world, came to financial collapse during the fall of 2008?

What can be stated with complete and utter confidence is the study of cash
flow and credit has become more important than ever. It is with this perspective
that I produced this book.

Investments—and their study —are a living, changing experience. What we
take for granted one day may not be so certain the next. And thus we must adapt,
even when our central rule makers, the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) and the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB?), are slow to do the

2Accounting promulgations in the United States are issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB), a Norwalk, CT-based private organization that is officially recognized by the U.S. government
and the accounting profession as the rule-making body. Any company with publicly traded stock or
bonds must comply in full with GAAP, which means complying with the FASB’s regulations.
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same. The U.S. Congress also operates with a lag, normally reacting to events by
swinging too hard and too late.

At other times, as we have seen, accounting rule makers are forced to refine
accounting standards that have stood for many years, reacting to events of the
moment, in order to satisfy investors in problem sectors. We have witnessed the
public weigh in, voicing support for modification of existing accounting stan-
dards, supported by a Congress feeling the heat of the voters.

Let me state with authority what this book is not. It is not a text written for
or designed to appeal to academic statisticians who practice money management.
This book is for practitioners of security analysis. I have seen more than a couple
of Nobel Prize-winning scholars run gigantic hedge funds into the ground with
their theories. I have been through too many once-in-a-hundred-years events.

The great investors throughout time started, built, or acquired companies
whose products enjoyed consistent and growing free cash flow. By relying on
financially prudent business practices, their companies enjoyed a low cost of cap-
ital. They created a competitive advantage and did not deviate. And if they did
deviate, more often than not, they ran into trouble. I never hear successful builders
of businesses mention beta or other academic statistical risk tools. They talk about
products, customers, risk, and cash. They talk about growth rates in free cash flow,
taxes, and stability. This is how the reader will be taught to measure return and risk
in this book.

This book is not centered on financial companies, although I will provide
many detailed examples and explanations of financial instruments, including why
it is important to monitor creditors with whom the industrial entity relies on for
financial backing.

While I am painfully aware of how problems in the financial sector spilled
over to the rest of the economy, banks and insurers have investment accounts
equal to many times their shareholders’ equity, and it is too often those assets that
drive valuations and stock prices. If their investments are overstated, their reserves
understated, or their commitments, contingencies, or hedges in trouble, their val-
uations will see sharp declines. It doesn’t seem so long ago that many of the largest
U.S. banks, quite a while before television commentators were talking about
derivatives, were in danger of failing from loan overexposure to the energy sector.
Readers will understand how risk to cash flows can be mitigated through the judi-
cious use of financial instruments, but also how risk can be amplified when those
instruments are used improperly.

This book is designed to assist you in analyzing operating concerns. Large
changes in market value resulting from balance-sheet assets deserve recognition but
are not this book’s focal point. For instance, when the price of gold runs up, EZCORP,
Inc., a large pawn shop operator, often sees its stock rise owing to the company’s high
inventory of gold pawned merchandise; as gold falls, so too does the price of its stock.
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During the real estate boom preceding the outset of the 2008—2009 recession,
many stocks sensitive to the sector traded with little regard to cash flow or risk.
Some shrewd managers of such entities recognized the discrepancy and placed
their companies for sale to the greater fool, as did the board of directors at Central
Parking Corp., which was being valued as an asset play.

Example:

Nashville, TN (Business Wire)—March 14, 2005. Central Parking Corporation (NYSE:CPC)
announced today that its board of directors has retained Morgan Stanley as its exclusive finan-
cial advisor to assist the company in evaluating various strategic alternatives in order to maximize
shareholder value.

“Our Board believes that the intrinsic value of our operating platform, as well as the value of
our owned real estate, is substantially higher than is currently reflected in our stock price. With
the goal of maximizing shareholder value, the Board has decided to evaluate strategic alterna-
tives at this time,” commented Monroe J. Carell, Jr., chairman and chief executive officer. “Since |
founded Central Parking in 1968, the senior management team and | have spent considerable
time developing the company into the industry leader that it is today, particularly in streamlining
operations and reducing debt since my return in 2003. | now believe that it is time for the com-
pany to enter into the next phase of its corporate life in order to capitalize on the significant growth
opportunities in today’s recovering and improving economy.”

This book will not neglect a proper discussion, analysis, and treatment of
financial instruments because one would be foolish not to recognize the importance
of the financial sector to the consumer (final demand) and to industrial companies,
especially entities having financial subsidiaries. Indeed, industrial concerns do use
hedging strategies, but in their case, such hedges are not supposed to drive the train.
For financials, they do.

THE MACRO ENVIRONMENT

Although this book is principally about the analysis of free cash flow and risk to
the equity holder, the latter measured by the cost of equity capital, it goes without
saying that all companies are at the mercy of the macro environment. As we saw
during 2010, the fiscal crises in Greece impacted the euro, and with it the financial
markets in Europe and the United States. The macro environment affects cost
of capital in a multitude of ways—from top-line (revenue) growth to bottom-line
free cash flow. For these reasons, as will become clear from my credit model,
I evaluate consistency of revenues and interest-rate spreads, among other such met-
rics that are inextricably tied to the vagaries of the economic and business cycle.
All companies are affected by macroeconomic events, such as embargoes, wars,
taxes, threats, consumer confidence, legislation, and general economic prosperity,
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and inflation. The latter, unless accompanied by substantial increase in free cash flow,
often forces the real return on invested capital below the cost of capital, thereby
depressing market values. Companies whose customers are regional in scope are
more subject to local and state issues, in addition to the unavoidable macroeconomic
factors.

For instance, the primary factors affecting demand for power (revenues) for
local utility companies are weather and the economic conditions in the regions they
serve. In 2004, Consolidated Edison, the large New York City utility, estimated that
cooler than average summer weather reduced their earnings by $5 million. While
it is difficult to forecast the weather, long-term normal demand for electricity is
easier to predict. Is the utility company located in a growth area? Is the state in
which the company is located successful in attracting new business? Are taxes,
environmental policy, and other regulatory matters conducive to growth of both
consumers and business?

While the operating environment for a company under review may be satis-
factory currently, it is imperative that analysts understand the climate for potential
change—economic, political, and social.

Example:

Altria Corp, the parent company of Phillip Morris, owns a financial services division that leases
aircraft [Phillip Morris Credit Corporation (PMCC)]. When the price of oil rose, many airlines,
including United Airlines (UAL), had massive cash-flow drains, impairing their ability to service
their lease obligations. This, of course, affected Altria.

PMCC leases 24 Boeing 757 aircraft to UAL with an aggregate finance asset balance of
$569 million on December 31, 2004. PMCC has entered into an agreement with UAL to
amend 18 direct finance leases subject to UALs successful emergence from bankruptcy
and assumption of the leases. UAL remains current on lease payments due to PMCC on
these 18 amended leases. PMCC continues to monitor the situation at UAL with respect
to the six remaining aircraft financed under leveraged leases, in which PMCC has an
aggregate finance asset balance of $92 million. PMCC has no amended agreement
relative to these leases because its interests are subordinate to those of public debt hold-
ers associated with the leveraged leases. Accordingly, since UAL has declared bank-
ruptcy, PMCC has received no lease payments relative to these six aircraft and remains
at risk of foreclosure on these aircraft by the senior lenders under the leveraged leases.

Source: Altria Corp, 2004 10K.

Example:

When Intel raised its first-quarter 2005 revenue and profit-margin guidance, stock investors
greeted the news by pushing up its shares by 3 percent in after-hours trading. The next day, how-
ever, when both oil prices and the U.S. trade gap rose sharply, Intel shares dropped by 5 percent
from its after-hours high. The macro effect overcame the firm’s positive news.




6 Security Valuation and Risk Analysis

Over the long term, the real driver of the train is management. It is manage-
ment that strives to add value by virtue of its investments in assets whose returns
are in excess of the firm’s cost of capital. It is management that recruits, trains, and
motivates. As such, we begin this book’s journey, Chapter 2, with a discussion of
management, showing how executives can create or destroy value. We show how
the marketplace reacts to management changes in tacit recognition of expected
shifts in free cash flow and risk. Also presented is an example of management
leading a firm to bankruptcy by not calibrating the risks of leverage properly while
both buying back shares and undergoing a large capital spending budget.

In addition, Chapter 2 discusses productivity and shows that equity values
are indeed enhanced when free-cash-flow increases resulting from productivity
enhancements. For non-free-cash-flow producers, enhancements to productivity
have little value and generally are ignored.

MAKING EFFECTIVE USE OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The role of financial statements is to provide users with relevant, reliable,
comparable, and understandable information on which they can make rational
economic decisions about a reporting entity. However, as we will see, the ana-
lyst can increase the predictive value of financial statements by incorporating
adjustments to the balance sheet, income statement, and footnoted items into
their analyses. These adjustments will provide the analyst with more reliable
information on which to base his or her investment decisions. Too often, as we
shall learn, the FASB, in its desire to present investors with greater transparency,
has been forced to reverse or partially reverse earlier pronouncements that at the
time they were originally put into effect were enacted with the intent of provid-
ing investors with greater insight and hoped-for comparability. Unless new
accounting rules provide additional relevant information that the analyst could
not gather easily on his or her own, they would rarely affect the cash-flow and
credit analyst.

There is no doubting financial statement rule makers, both in the United
States and around the world, can have a remarkable effect on stock prices and the
cost of capital in the short run.

Chapter 3 begins our discussion on cash flows. I embark by providing
a detailed understanding of the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows (SFAS 95), including its intent and shortfalls and
firms misapplications of the standard. Shown are various means by which cash
flow from operations can be artificially bolstered or understated through misclas-
sification, expense timing, lease classification, or change in funding pattern.
Managerial ploys are also discussed in relevant later chapters.
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Example:

March 18, 2005 (Bloomberg)—Shares of Cattles, Plc., which provides unsecured loans to low-
income households in the United Kingdom, had its biggest drop in more than three years after the
company said new accounting rules would have cut 29 percent of its 2004 profit.

Shares in the lender fell as much as 6.7 percent to 351.75 pence as of 10:20 a.m. in London,
their biggest drop since September 21, 2001. International financial reporting standards that
came into effect this year would have trimmed about £41 million ($78.6 million) from pretax profit
last year, the Batley, England—based company said today.

About 7,000 public companies in the United Kingdom and other European Union countries
are adopting the standards this year to make accounts more comparable across the region. The
rules replace the U.K.!s GAAP.

Ilustrated in Chapter 3 is how to prepare a direct method statement of cash
flow from operations from balance-sheet and income-statement information and
the importance of doing so. Taken is a critical view of the many firms currently
reporting operating cash flows under the indirect method. Also illustrated are a
wide cross section of examples of firms’ investing, financing, and operating activ-
ities, as well as examples of supplementary cash-flow information. The examples
were chosen specifically for the information content in an attempt to provide the
reader with a very wide swath of presentations, lessons, and accounting and cash-
flow treatments. Although many examples are given, I want the reader to be pre-
pared, in his or her own everyday analysis, for reporting related to anything from
tax windfalls to hedge accounting, from voluntary employee benefits associations
(VEBAS) to the effect of closing out of a multiemployer pension plan.

Important is the understanding of the role of the treasury manager, including
the credit and collection process. Therefore, I discuss the cash conversion cycle,
showing how it is calculated, as well as advances in Treasury Department software
that aids the cash balance and can have the same impact as growth in sales.

It is here that I introduce the concept of power operating cash flow. This con-
cept begins with cash flow from operating activities, as reported, and adjusts
important working-capital items to the same percentage of revenues as its 5-year
average. This gives the analyst greater visibility into normalized cash flow from
operations, that is, exclusive of changes spurred on by management or induced by
temporary business conditions. For example, during 2007, UPS reported a sharp
decline in operating cash flows resulting from its withdrawal from a pension fund
necessitating a large payment, yet power operating cash flow was largely unaf-
fected, reflecting the underlying strength in the company’s operations. For this
reason, power operating cash flow is often a superior tool for measuring the recur-
ring cash flow than is operating cash flow.

I will show the relationship between the Standard and Poor’s (S&P) 500 Index
and power operating cash flow going into and coming out of the 2007 recession. You
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will see that entering the recession, power operating cash flows were negative,
reflective of weakness in business operations, and how this number provided greater
clarity than reported cash flow from operating activities, which were holding up
owing to balance-sheet management. During the first quarter of 2009, power oper-
ating cash flow signaled an end to the recession, although growth was weak. A chart
on power operating cash flow underscores the reason that returns on the S&P 500
were negative for the decade ending December 2009, the first since data recording
began in 1927.

FREE CASH FLOW

Chapter 4 expounds on one of the two focal points of the book—free cash flow.
I focus on free cash flow because it is the purest form of return to shareholders. It is
not influenced, over the course of the business cycle, by accounting whims, such as
accruals, and various other events, such as the timing of expense items intended to
inflate cash flow from operations. It will take into account what a firm should have
contributed to its pension fund versus what it expensed, a large worker’s compensa-
tion or other payout relative to its normal expense. Free cash flow is what equity
investors generally can count on if the cost of capital for the firm is low.

While I have observed a greater percentage of companies talk about free cash
flow over the past several decades, nowhere is the talk more heated than during eco-
nomic slowdowns. Regrettably, there is no standard definition of free cash flow, so
I will provide one that has served me well over several decades, one that makes busi-
ness and economic sense. [ also show how an analyst should account for discretionary
expenditures and why part of such spending should be included as free cash flow.

Entities that cannot generate consistent free cash flow are more prone to
financial irregularity. It is rare for a consistently positive generator of free cash
flow to manipulate its results. There is no reason for such a company to do so.
Once a financial irregularity is discovered for a net borrowing entity, its risk pro-
file becomes extremely high as the door to outside financing slams shut.

Example:
Freddie Mac Says SEC May Seek Injunction after Restatement

August 19 (Bloomberg). Freddie Mac, the second-largest U.S. mortgage finance company, said
that it may face civil action by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), which began an
investigation after the company restated earnings last year by $5 billion.

The SEC is probing possible violations of a regulation prohibiting fraud and deceptive prac-
tices and may impose a fine and a permanent injunction, McLean, Virginia—based Freddie Mac
said in a statement.
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Example:

New York (Dow Jones Newswire)—March 11, 2005. Interpublic Group of Cos., which has been
struggling to turn itself around since a 2002 accounting scandal, warned Friday that it might have
to restate past results because of the discovery of bookkeeping errors.

Interpublic said that it will delay filing its annual report while it investigates the problems.
The company plans to seek waivers from its lenders and bondholders to avoid a possible default.

The most significant of the accounting errors concerned acquisitions made from 1996
through 2001. The company said that so far it has found about $145 million in revenue and
$25 million in net income that might have been improperly recognized during those years.
But Interpublic said that the review is in its early stages and could uncover further problems.

The company said that it will miss the March 31 deadline for filing its annual report and will
delay releasing fourth-quarter and full-year results.

Chapter 4 also shows how many firms devise a definition of free cash flow
to suit their own needs and circumstances, not normally resulting in a useful
measure of distributable cash to equity holders. Also explored in Chapter 4 are
taxes, a critical area of analysis to the cash-flow and credit analyst. Tax rates
often flash early-warning signs of trouble or improvements to cash flow. Sudden
changes in the rate, even for interim reporting, often result in unpleasant sur-
prises affecting the value of a security, cost of debt capital, and estimated return
on projects or invested capital. Shown is the significance of using cash taxes
paid (including a cash tax rate) versus the effective tax rate that is reported to
shareholders. Tax-rate stability is shown to have the utmost value in setting cost
of capital and in relation to owners of equity. Taxes other than income taxes also
are discussed for their often unrecognized importance in addition to its impact
on free cash flow.

I conclude Chapter 4 with a detailed example of how to construct a work-
sheet to estimate free cash flow, including the estimation of excess discretionary
expenditures. Sources of liquidity aside from cash and cash flow from operations
are presented. I compare the model with the most popular definitions in use today,
and the advantages of using the enhanced formula become apparent.

RETURN ON INVESTED CAPITAL

Chapter 5 explores the critical concept of return on invested capital (ROIC).
Explained is why one of the best decisions corporate executives can make on
behalf of shareholders is to invest in projects having a return on invested capital
in excess of the cost of capital. Like free cash flow, though, ROIC is defined
differently by many firms, and these variations are explained with examples and
comments.
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To this end, I enumerate the many failings of EBITDA and show why the
free-cash-flow-based definition of ROIC that I propose produces superior results.
After all, investors invest cash and expect cash in return—the projects of an enter-
prise must do the same. The denominator of the metric, invested capital, also can
pose problems in analysis, and I show how it should be computed.

I look into the folly of stock buybacks and show why it is really ROIC in
excess of cost of capital that provides value to shareholders, even though share
repurchases can enhance accounting-based metrics.

Depicted is how the analyst should adjust for “Other comprehensive
income” in the calculation of ROIC. Under FASB guidelines, companies are able
to shift impairment charges on items from foreign currency, pension losses, and
other events that are explained to other comprehensive income on the balance
sheet.?

Many investors, large and sophisticated to small and naive, with the latter
dependent on and trusting of the former, fail to understand the complicated rela-
tionship between GAAP-based valuation metrics and ROIC. It is easy to under-
stand why investors desire a simplified approach to investing, such as the
price/earnings multiple, but quite another to apply facility in a manner that actu-
ally works. Having knowledge of the bearings behind the numbers allows the ana-
lyst to understand why so many entities sell for what appears to be an incredibly
low GAAP-inspired multiple (such as price/book value or price/earnings ratio) yet
continue to underperform the general averages. GAAP is an accounting concept;
this book deals with cash inflows and cash outflows.

In essence, entities having a low ROIC or that depend on large capital expen-
ditures resulting in small amounts of distributable cash flows deserve low valuation
metrics despite their higher rates of growth in revenues and/or earnings. For entities
that have a low capital base, I show that using economic profit provides high infor-
mation content when free cash flow is used as the base. Shown are how various enti-
ties calculate their ROIC and economic profits with critiques and explanations.

FINANCIAL STRUCTURE

Credit analysis has become more time consuming since the 1990s, in addition to
requiring a deeper understanding of financial instruments that a couple of decades
ago either did not exist or were used sparingly. While most industrial entities with

3The section of the shareholders equity account “Other comprehensive income” has become
a repository of accounting gains and losses that have not been realized and may never be.
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variable-rate debt take proper advantage of such instruments to protect (hedge)
against harmful movements in interest rates, currencies, or commodities, a few
have run into trouble gambling on the outcome of such movements.

Investment bankers always can be counted on to devise new financial instru-
ments that intend to blur the distinction between cash flows and GAAP net
income, all under the guise of risk reduction or aiding bottom-line growth. Along
with these new creations, expect such “helpful” financiers to continue to find
“innovative” ways to keep liabilities off the balance sheet (until the FASB or SEC
catches up) and use financial devices as a means of protection of owning other-
wise risky assets. However, what happens when the devices don’t work as
intended, turning them into yet another set of risky securities dressed in lamb’s
clothing. I recall a number of conference calls held by Merrill Lynch and Enron
executives lecturing investors on the benefits of Enron’s “Special Purpose
Entities,” often chastising security analysts for their tough questions.

Financial engineering’s obfuscations are not limited to U.S. recordkeeping.
In Europe, accounting rule makers approved a standard known as embedded value,
a measure of net asset value that includes the present value of future profits of life
insurance policies—as if that could be forecasted accurately given the multitude
of variables that could not be known until the insured’s demise.

Financial chicanery is ageless, and barely a year goes by without another
publicized event—from Enron, which brought to light the aggressive exploitation
of “Special Purpose Entities,” to Refco, which concealed $430 million in bad
debts. The accountants at Lehman Brothers classified repurchase agreements as a
sale of assets just prior to the close of reporting periods in an attempt to show
lower leverage.

In Chapter 6 the book thus begins a necessary shift of focus to the credit side,
with a detailed discussion of financial structure, including an analysis and com-
ments on the securities the analyst finds on and off the main body of the financial
statement. The optimal financial structure is discussed in relation to current popu-
lar thinking. Examples illustrate the points discussed, especially the critical point
that low leverage does not necessarily translate into a low cost of capital.

Throughout Chapter 6, a thorough discussion of the appropriate accounting
rules is presented, including more recent promulgations related to off-balance-
sheet debt held by nonconsolidated subsidiaries and their effects on financial
structure, credit, and cash flows.

The reader is given a thorough understanding of the roles debt, equity, and
hybrid securities play in the capital structure, including possible calls on capital,
such as commitments, contingencies, guarantees, convertible securities, and expo-
sure to lawsuits, and other cash requirements, such as sinking-fund requirements.
Also explored are contingent capital, debt covenants, adjusted debt, special-purpose
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entities, bank facilities, contingent liabilities, and the importance of sensitivity
analysis in evaluating financial structure.

A thorough understanding of financial structure would not be complete with-
out a detailed discussion of hedging and derivative securities, replete with
accounting and cash-flow treatments. The proper role of hedging is analyzed along
with relevant examples, including instances where hedges might be characterized
improperly.

Financial leverage and debt coverages then are discussed and evaluated in
relation to the firm’s cash flows and financial flexibility. The chapter then looks at
and discusses the weighty role played by the credit rating agencies—how they
may evaluate a firm and why their decisions enter into my cost-of-capital model.
Volatility of cash flows is discussed in relation to leverage and the setting of the
financial structure. The cash burn rate is defined.

Taxes are reintroduced for their significance in the financial structure,
including tax accounting, deferred taxes, loss carryfowards, and the ability to
affect cash flow through various scenarios. Next shown and discussed in detail is
the accounting for pension and other postretirement benefits, including health
care. This section will provide the reader with a complete understanding of these
far-reaching issues and how to understand the footnote, including actuarial terms.
A template is presented that reflects the important information for analysis. The
impact of these issues on cash flows and leverage is made clear through examples.

Yield spreads are discussed in this chapter for their important real-time
signals and potential early-indicator capacity. Yield spreads flashed a historic
warning signal for many firms coming into the financial crises and later
signaled its end.

Next, I look at two financial companies that were affected by the credit cri-
sis, with their accounting under current mark-to-market rules explained and what
the analyst should be on the lookout for for both financial and nonfinancial firms.
Too many industrial companies hold investment portfolios to not have a proper
discussion and analysis of the subject. Also, of course, industrial companies are
frequent visitors to the credit markets and are affected by yield spreads, deriva-
tives, swaps, and hedges.

Finally, leases are discussed, with a detailed study contrasting UPS and FedEx
because the latter leans more on operating leases for its capital equipment. UPS is
more conservative in its financial structure, including having defeased some capi-
tal leases. Shown is how the analyst should treat operating and capital leases and
current accounting rules and how comprehensive income should be adjusted in cal-
culating ROIC for these companies. The advantages and disadvantages to both
types of leases are brought out, including their differing accounting, requiring
adjustments, on the income statement, balance sheet, and statement of cash flows.
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COST OF EQUITY CAPITAL

Building on Chapters 1 through 6, the second central tenet of this book—cost of
equity capital—comes next. Chapters 7 and 8 explain in detail cost of capital,
including my credit model worksheet. This worksheet will present the analyst with
an important tool to asses risk while providing a superior discount rate in a present-
value model. Advancement in the analysis of cost of capital was the primary reason
this book was undertaken, and Chapter 7 provides both the background of current
theory and the tools for an analytic edge. Conventional thinking is challenged, and
a better solution is offered.

Understanding the many elements of risk facing the enterprise is essential for
the investor to gauge the value of the asset and reasons for its possible volatility
both to its cash flows and to its security price. Chapter 7 discusses one of the largest
companies in the world, IBM, showing, in slides presented by the company, the
company’s own inability to accurately determine its cost of capital. I provide an
estimate of IBM’s cost of equity capital using the popular models, as well as my
credit-based model.

Contained in this chapter is a detailed study of a company with quite volatile
cash flows in the refinery industry and how it might have analyzed the risks asso-
ciated with the financing of the construction of a large new refinery. Weighted-
average cost of capital is determined, including a number of methods for how the
company might have calculated cost of equity. The reader is also introduced to the
real decisions that management and the board of directors would confront in
deciding if the project should be given the “go ahead.”

The cost of capital is the return required by equity investors and is based on
the inherent risk to the entity’s projected cash flows. This is the logic of the credit-
based cost-of-capital model I introduce in Chapter 8. It is grounded on a detailed
cash-flow and credit worksheet that assesses the underlying credit risk of the
entity and its placement above the risk-free rate. Entities that have low credit risk,
along with consistent and prospectively growing positive free cash flow, deserve
a lower cost of capital; those with higher credit risk deserve a higher cost of
capital. The cost should not be based on an implied rate grounded on nondistrib-
utable earnings. This makes sense, right? But this is not how business enterprises
and students of finance discern it today.

The factor underpinning the capital asset pricing model (CAPM), at the
individual security level, is the beta coefficient, a function of stock price volatil-
ity. Cost of equity as calculated via the misty lens of stock volatility has been fol-
lowed by consultants who received their MBAs at universities teaching this
faulty gospel. These leading management consultants, in turn, have advised
boards of directors that these methodologies are the most appropriate approaches
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and, because such methodologies are taught at leading universities, have not been
questioned.

A search on Edgar, the SEC database, found that the only alternative getting
recognition is the implied cost of equity model (ICEM), which is based on solv-
ing for the denominator of the present-value model given a forecast for the entity’s
GAAP earnings and current stock price. As with the CAPM, the ICEM suffers
from serious shortfalls, and these are outlined.

To investors who have not studied credit, the theory behind the CAPM could
well make sense. In reality, there is just a loose connection. Hundreds of compa-
nies have low betas and are thus accorded a low cost of equity capital, yet they
can’t pay their bills! Hundreds of other firms are erroneously accorded a high cost
of capital yet are strong and consistent producers of cash flow and do so with just
moderate financial leverage. True, many hundreds of companies are in bank-
ruptcy, technical default, or a stiff wind away from that status yet have, according
to the CAPM, a lower cost of capital than, say, a Microsoft or other deserved
AAA-rated entity.

The reliance on stock volatility in the placement of a discount rate is so
ingrained in Wall Street (sell-side) analyst research reports that it renders a high
percentage of those reports useless. Security analysts then are forced to find a
GAAP-associated yardstick such as price/earnings or price/book to back up their
investment ratings. However, GAAP and the CAPM do not often reflect underly-
ing financial risk, cash flows, competitive market position, possible loss of a
patent or supplier, financial structure, or resources available to the enterprise.
Accounting concepts are not a measure of cash that could be used to repay debt or
distribute wealth to shareholders.

Consider the following:

Georgia Gulf has a beta of just 0.3, indicative of a low-risk entity, yet it is
rated just B by Standard and Poor’s (S&P). A B rating by S&P is
defined as, among other things, having greater vulnerability to default
than other speculative-grade debt that could lead to inadequate capacity
or meet timely interest and principal payments.

Comcast is rated BBB (“adverse economic conditions could lead to
default”), yet analysts may consider it to have a lower cost of
equity capital than 3M owing to its having less stock volatility, as
reflected by its beta coefficient. A BBB rating is regarded by S&P as
having predominantly speculative characteristics. 3M is rated AA—,
which S&P indicates as having a very strong capacity to repay interest
and principal.
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Example:

Flexpoint Sensor Systems has a beta coefficient of just 0.48, indicative by users of the CAPM*
of a company having a small degree of risk and a low cost of equity capital. Does reading what
management had to say remind you of a low-risk enterprise?

Management believes that our current cash burn rate is approximately $85,000 per
month and that the remaining proceeds from the private placement, notes, and
accounts receivable will fund our operations for at least the next three months. Our
auditors have expressed doubt about our ability to continue as [a] going concern and
that we may not realize significant revenue or become profitable within the next 12 to
18 months. We will require additional financing to fund our long-term cash needs. We
may rely on debt financing, additional loans from related parties, and private place-
ments of common stock for additional funding. However, we cannot assure you that we
will be able to obtain financing or that sources of financing, if any, will continue to be
available and, if available, that they will be on terms favorable to us.

Source: Flexpoint Sensor Systems, 2009 10K.

A business is worth the present value of its free cash flows discounted by its
cost of capital. However, if the cost of capital used to discount those cash flows is
incorrect, the resulting valuation also will be incorrect. From the point of view of
the enterprise, if the company misjudges its cost of capital, it might be accepting
projects that destroy shareholder value.

Prior to the worldwide financial meltdown, because analysts did not have
a reliable cost-of-capital measure on which to draw, they all too often relied on
price/book. However, as book values came crashing down, analysts, who
believed that the stocks they were recommending would not trade below book,
were caught off guard. Had they approached the analysis with superior credit
tools, they would have better understood the exposure. With the credit crisis, the
popular risk models became unmasked.

What does the use of an incorrect cost of capital mean in terms of actual
valuation? Since Rite Aid (Table 1-1) has not been able to generate free cash
flow, a cash-flow analyst would question whether, aside from selling off assets,
it should stay in business because the company must, unless cash-flow neutral,
continue to borrow cash to stay afloat. If we estimated Toyota’s free cash flow at
$3 per share, a 5-year growth rate of 5 percent in its free cash flow, leveling off

4The Capital Asset Pricing Model, developed by William Sharpe, was intended to help measure
portfolio risk and the return an investor can expect for assuming that risk. The beta reflected the
(market) risk that could not be diversified away. According to the CAPM, a portfolio’s return is
solely a function of its beta.
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to 2 percent thereafter, along with its 7.5 percent discount rate, fair value would
be $84.60 under the CAPM compared with $60.14 under the credit model. On the
other hand, IBM, with $9 per share in free cash flow and a 10 percent cost of
equity capital, under the same growth pattern as Toyota, would be fairly valued
at $130.16 under the CAPM and $160.77 under the credit model. These are sig-
nificant differences for such large companies that are followed by many investors
and security analysts.

TABLE 1-1

Cost of Equity Capital: Capital Asset Pricing Model versus
Comprehensive Credit Model

Company CAPM Credit Model
Toyota 7.5 percent 9.7 percent*
Rite Aid 6.8 percent 18.5 percent
IBM 10.0 percent 8.4 percent

*Data in table as of September 30, 2009.
Based on Toyota’s beta of 0.73, a return on the S&P 500 Index of 9 percent and a 3.5 percent 10-year bond.

Are the risks of these widely followed companies in the table accurately
reflected by their cost of equity, as measured by stock volatility? It appears that
they are not. Commensurate with the 2007 credit crisis, many firms were unable
to raise funds, and even investment-grade borrowers faced historically high credit
spreads over U.S. Treasuries. It was the fundamental credit health of the entity that
investors in debt and equity instruments were concerned with, not its stock price
movements. The following example illustrates further.

Example:

Cal-Maine Foods, a large egg producer, has seen its cost of equity capital, based on the CAPM,
swing between 8 and 19 percent, hardly making for a reliable fair-value forecast of its underlying
stock. During the same period, cost of equity capital based on the company’s credit metrics, while
having shifted somewhat during the period, has remained considerably more stable, providing a
truer picture of the company’s fundamental condition. During the 5-year period under analysis
(Fig. 1-1), Cal-Maine’s shareholders’ equity was rising, its free cash flows were growing, and its
total debt was growing just modestly, not indicting the growth in risk that was being reflected under

the CAPM.
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FIGURE 1-1
Cal-Maine Foods’ Cost of Equity Capital versus Market Capitalization
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The company’s market value rose from a low of $147 million to a high of $936 million as its
cost of equity capital based on my credit model remained in the relatively narrow range between
11.2 and 13.5 percent. Meanwhile, Cal-Maine’s cost of equity capital based on beta (CAPM)
reflects a progressive increase in risk, which would serve to reduce its fair-value estimate. Equity
investors were, in this example, obviously following the credit and cash-flow cost of capital and
not the cost of equity implied by the CAPM.

It is no wonder the analysis of risk represents the single most important
underexplored factor in security analysis and the primary reason for investor
disappointment in investment returns. The closer the free cash flows are to meet-
ing expectations, the less is expected volatility. And that risk is best defined
through the cost of capital.

COST-OF-CAPITAL MODEL

Chapter 8 presents a cost-of-capital credit model, including a worksheet and
related definitions. The purpose of the worksheet is to allow the user to formulate



18

Security Valuation and Risk Analysis

a superior cost-of-equity-capital projection with the goal of improving investment
performance. I am confident that this will be the case, and I present the analyst
with an important view of how risk might be currently misperceived by the invest-
ment marketplace.

In fact, the reader may wish to begin this book with a thorough reading of
Chapter 8. It is this chapter that explains many of the terms, adjustments, and
analyses used and discussed in prior chapters. Incorporating many departments in
finance gathered over the past 35 years, the credit model platform of Chapter 8 has
been devised taking a deep and wide array of fundamental items into considera-
tion, including cash flows, sales, taxes, cost of sales and cash flow volatility, cash
burn rate, credit, yield spreads, insurance, potential for lawsuits, and about 50
other metrics. Cost of capital is measured as a function of the firm’s operating and
financial risk, not how its stock price zigzags. If you know the true cost of capital
and free cash flow, you then can take advantage of those zigzags. The model is
designed to evaluate all credits, with the express purpose of offering a systematic
approach for spotting trends that the marketplace in general may not see. Included
are metrics that allow users to see “around the corner” through the inclusion and
evaluation of areas that normally are not covered by security analysts today.

Betas constantly change, whereas credit risk typically changes slowly. An
additional advantage of the credit model is that it eliminates unnecessary high
portfolio turnover. If an investor does not have a consistent fundamental credit-
risk measure, he or she would be uncertain of an investment’s true value, result-
ing in high trading costs.

The cost-of-capital model in Chapter 8, along with the estimation of free
cash flow shown in Chapter 4, should provide the reader of this book with the
primary valuation yardsticks needed to achieve superior investment performance.

APPLICATION OF FREE CASH FLOW AND
COST OF CAPITAL

I conclude this journey with the results of a live portfolio using the principles out-
lined. While I was not surprised that a diversified portfolio of companies that pro-
duced consistently large and growing amounts of normalized free cash flow, with
low cost of capital and high return on invest capital, outperformed the general
market, I was pleasantly surprised that it did so in both up and down quarters. The
results are presented in Chapter 9.

With that, let us begin!



CHAPTER 2

Management

COrporate executives have direct control over the financing, operations, and
resources (assets) of the company —bad decisions destroy value and good ones
create it. Certain industries, because their cash flows have higher than normal
uncertainty or volatility and are leveraged, are more difficult to manage (includ-
ing planning) than others, such as airlines and commodity-based firms. As such,
mergers in these type of entities are notoriously risky.

Management that is as transparent in its decision making as it is in its good exe-
cution makes analysts’ jobs a lot easier and at the same time can provide invaluable
insights into current industry conditions and trends; management insight is especially
needed when operating results are less consistent. Management that is not transpar-
ent raises lots of questions, including: Why aren’t executives open to questioning?
Stocks react to changes in management, often resulting in very large shifts in market
value. Analysts get to know and judge management, including level of trust and can-
didness, in addition to managers’ proven ability to drive results in either direction.

The abilities of management can be clearly measured, starting with the revenue
line and comparing it with historical trends and those of the industry. If the company
operates in more than one segment, assessment of all individual segments is required,
allowing for an evaluation of the managers or group heads of the reporting operating
units. This would include performance of recent acquisitions and capital outlays that
called for the expenditure of cash. A company that reports consistently positive nom-
inal, real, and relative growth in revenues and cash flows, along with a return on
invested capital above its cost of capital, is one that is managed effectively; that is,
one can attribute the gains to management (and employee) effectiveness.

However, executives must also be judged on their ability to perceive and
control risk. And toward that end, we look at those factors which influence the cost
of capital. It is these factors—from insurance adequacy (including self-insurance),
to litigation hedging and tax rate management, that can expose the entity to risks
we will quantify through our cost of capital model. Risk is just as important a
barometer of management ability as is return in invested capital.

19



20 Security Valuation and Risk Analysis

Superior management will be manifested, relative to its competition, through

Greater growth rate in cash flows from operations
Greater growth in free cash flow
Higher return on invested capital (ROIC)

Eal o

Lower cost of capital

For non-capital-intensive firms, including companies that deal in services and
entities that are able to leverage off the capital intensity of other concerns (i.e., those
which outsource), economic profit as a percentage of revenues would be added to
these evaluation yardsticks. (Chapter 5 discusses economic profit.)

Superior managers have a clear sense of the marketplace and recognize that it
is often important to see demand established prior to committing capital. Creating
demand for a product or service that does not yet exist takes greater skill and is often
risky. For example, Gemstar was unsuccessful at bringing its handheld e-reader, a
device that could download books to itself, to market. Now, the e-reader is a suc-
cessful product, made so by another company, but Gemstar wound up failing with
its attempt.

Clearly, Apple and Google created their most successful products many
years after a market was established. They, as well as other superiorly managed
firms, showed that they had an edge bringing the products to market. McKinsey'
noted, after surveying more than 300 employees at 28 companies across North
America and Europe, that companies with the best product-development track
records did three things better than their peers:

* They create a clear sense of project goals early on.
e They nurture a strong project culture in their workplace.
* They maintain close contact with customers throughout a project’s duration.

COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS

Table 2-1 highlights comparative data for Motorola, Inc., a large technology com-
pany specializing in mobile devices, including the manufacture of cell phones.
Motorola is in an extremely competitive industry, pitted against such companies
as Apple, Research in Motion, LG, and Nokia. It is where management is of
utmost importance, from research to manufacturing.

As discerned from the table, Motorola has a higher cost of capital than its
peers, reflective of its revenue volatility, declining trend in cash flows, and dete-
riorating credit. The company’s return on investment is negative, whereas it is

"McKinsey & Co., “Operations Extranet,” Gordon, Gupta & Rebentisch, December 2009.
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positive for its peer group. In fact, it is difficult to find a financial measure where

Motorola is superior to its peers.

One must conclude, based on its financial performance and risk profile, that
Motorola management has been sub-par—a reflection of the company’s superiorly
managed competition, not industry demand, which has been strong. Management’s
inability to earn a higher return on company assets than the firm’s cost of capital has
not been lost on investors, and the company’s stock has declined 90 percent from its
high. Having been unsuccessful remedying its financial performance, Motorola is in

the midst of spinning off its telecom unit.

TABLE 2-1

Mototola Comparative Analysis

MOTOROLA INC  MOT 6 Co PEER Avg (Incl Target)
Sep09 LTM 5Yr Avg LTM 5Yr Avg

LIQUIDITY
Current Ratio 2.02 1.93 2.52 3.00
Quick Ratio 1.44 1.40 2.36 2.81
Working Capital Per Share 3.34 4.84 2.18 217
Cash Flow Per Share 0.09 0.73 0.21 0.69
ACTIVITY
Inventory Turnover 5.37 7.61 22.66 20.80
Receivables Turnover 5.46 5.89 6.78 6.16
Total Asset Turnover 0.87 1.04 0.39 0.47
Average Collection Period (Days) 63.24 62.18 55.66 65.30
Days to Sell Inventory 65.88 48.94 7.37 9.91
Operating Cycle (Days) 129.12 111.12 65.87 75.22
PERFORMANCE
Sales/Net PP & E 10.55 15.14 20.51 16.69
Sales/Stockholder Equity 2.39 2.52 0.63 0.76
PROFITABILITY
Gross Profit Margin (%) 32.96 32.01 86.10 85.47
Operating Margin Before Depr (%) 3.64 8.46 34.70 30.92
Operating Margin After Depr (%) 0.34 6.44 31.78 21.55
Pretax Profit Margin (%) —8.91 5.80 32.56 23.69
Net Profit Margin (%) —16.58 2.54 25.05 15.15
Return on Assets (%) —15.61 2.58 9.78 8.41
Return on Equity (%) —39.86 3.54 15.26 13.14
Return on Investment (%) —28.30 3.87 13.73 12.67
Cost of Capital 11.40 10.02 8.11 8.48
Return on Avg Assets (%) —14.51 3.15 9.36 9.37
Return on Avg Equity (%) —38.58 6.43 15.27 15.00
Return on Avg Investment (%) —27.63 5.10 13.53 14.07

(Continued)
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TA BLE 2-1 (Continued)

Mototola Comparative Analysis

MOTOROLA INC  MOT 6 Co PEER Avg (Incl Target)
Sep09 LTM 5Yr Avg LTM 5Yr Avg

LEVERAGE
Interest Coverage Before Tax —6.39 7.71 22.61 208.31
Interest Coverage After Tax -12.82 4.25 14.05 162.06
Adj OCF/Int Cov 3.46 7.05 34.88 177.77
LT Debt/Common Equity (%) 39.77 28.36 23.00 21.89
LT Debt/Shareholder Equity (%) 39.77 28.36 23.00 21.89
Total Debt/Adj OCF 3.49 2.47 2.03 3.44
Total Debt / Market Capitalization 0.20 0.17 0.03 0.04
Total Debt/Total Equity (%) 40.01 32.58 24.89 23.87
Total Debt/Invested Capital (%) 28.40 25.10 11.69 12.76
Total Debt/Total Assets (%) 15.67 13.58 9.13 9.10
Total Assets/Common Equity 2.55 2.38 1.70 1.71
MARKET
P/E —4.48 —55.41 41.40 17.68
Price/Earnings from Operations —8.29 23.57 33.05 7.10
Price to Book 2.07 2.57 5.02 5.43
Price to Sales per Share 0.76 1.07 8.27 8.94
Price to Cash Flow per Share 89.09 16.23 106.13 230.73
Price to Free Cash Flow per Share -30.77 —-17.59 13.63 12.99
Dividend Yield (%) 0.58 1.66 2.23 0.03
Dividend Payout (%) -2.91 —83.16 51.92 1.01
GROWTH RATES YR OVER YR
Sales Growth (%) —28.17 3.50 25.21 17.82
Net Income Growth (%) —690.55 —1682.44 7.85 57.63
EPS Primary Excl Ex Growth (%) —719.05 —705.50 9.03 59.87
EPS (Basic from Op) Growth (%) —2225.00 —67.54 33.68 104.00
Cash Flow per Share Growth (%) —949.83 —-107.26 4.99 461.86
Free CF per Share Growth (%) —58.63 —32.85 —29.98 77.16
Capital Spending Growth (%) —41.27 —3.68 33.30 13.48
Reinvested Earnings Growth (%) —76.07 22.42 95.96 39.38
Equity Capital Growth (%) —33.08 —3.08 52.74 23.09
Total Assets Growth (%) —24.37 —-1.97 46.16 25.87
Dividend Growth Rate (%) —75.00 4.80 1925.00 #DIV/0!

Source: CT Capital, LLC, Research Insight.
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Example:

When Ronald Tutor, chairman of Perini Corporation, sought to combine the company with another
entity he controlled, he had no problem convincing his “independent” board members. Investors did
not agree with his judgment because, on announcement of the merger, and despite a conference
call with investors and analysts touting the benefits of the combination, Perini stock suffered a pre-
cipitous decline. Shareholders were diluting their interest in favor of Mr. Tutor and the cash-flow
dilution caused by the additional shares relative to the acquired entity’s cash flows.

Perini released the following press release:

Merger with Tutor-Saliba Corporation

On September 8, 2008, we completed the merger with Tutor-Saliba pursuant to an
agreement and plan of merger between us, Tutor-Saliba, Ronald N. Tutor and sharehold-
ers of Tutor-Saliba. The merger and related transactions were recommended to the
Board by the Special Committee which included only independent and disinterested
directors. Subsequent to the approval of the merger by our shareholders, we issued
22,987,293 shares of our common stock to the shareholders of Tutor-Saliba in exchange
for 100 percent of the outstanding capital stock of Tutor-Saliba. Mr. Tutor served as our
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer prior to the merger and continues in that role pur-
suant to an employment agreement (see “Employment Agreement,” page 23). In addi-
tion, Mr. Tutor controls two trusts that collectively owned 96 percent of the outstanding
stock of Tutor-Saliba prior to the merger. As a result of the merger, Mr. Tutor, through
these two trusts, became the beneficial owner of approximately 43 percent of our out-
standing common stock. (Mr. Tutor’s beneficial ownership has since increased to 46 per-
cent of our outstanding common stock due to the effect of our share repurchase pro-
gram, which decreased the number of outstanding shares by approximately 2 million
shares.) The shares owned by the two trusts are subject to certain restrictions contained
in a shareholders agreement between Mr. Tutor, us and other former Tutor-Saliba share-
holders as described on page 28.

Changes in upper management often signal upcoming disappointments in
operations, especially if the change comes just prior to the actual release of finan-
cial results. If, however, investors perceive that the change will result in enhanced
cash flows, the stock most often will react quite positively.

When management is highly controlled, as at Perini, by strong insiders and
a weak board of directors, the controlling person or group typically has a magni-
fied effect, being able to steer the entity’s cash flow and cost of capital. Station
Casinos, a hotel/gaming concern based in Nevada, enjoyed strong growth as a
result of the rapid population influx into the state during the period 1980-2007.
The company benefited because its properties catered to the “locals” market as
opposed to out-of-state tourism.

It is important for an investor to feel management, and especially the board
of directors, is exercising independent judgment and is professionally skilled and
trained in various areas that will maximize the value of their shares. We have all
observed situations where corporate officers are undeservedly enriched while
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shareholders see the value of their shares fall. Management profiting when the
company is doing well should be respected, but managers should do so in propor-
tion to shareholders and not more. It is the responsibility of the compensation
committee of the board of directors to see such is the case.

As we see below, some firms do align management and shareholders’ interests.

Example:

On November 7, 2007, officers and certain employees were granted 48,000 shares of
restricted common stock that can be earned only if either one of two defined multiyear
performance goals is met within five years of the date of grant (“Performance Shares”). If
the performance goals are not earned by the end of this five-year period, the Performance
Shares will be forfeited. Vesting of Performance Shares is subject to certain performance
measures being met and can be based on an interim earn-out of 25, 50, 75, or 100 per-
cent. The defined performance goals are tied to two different performance measures: (1)
growth of free cash flow per share on a trailing twelve-month basis and (2) growth of roy-
alty ounces in reserve on an annual basis.

Source: 2008 10K, Royal Gold, Inc.

Example:

The management of Station Casinos (STN) saw its business grow through two generations of
family leadership. As population growth in the State of Nevada took hold, so did the revenues of
STN. Rather than balancing the company’s massive growth in capital spending with cash flow
from operations and additional equity, however, controlling shareholders and senior management
spent as much cash as it could in as many places as their creditors would allow, leveraging the
balance such that fixed-charge coverage (discussed in Chapters 6 and 8) became unhealthy.
When the economy stalled and unemployment grew, STN’s financial structure could not withstand
the weight of its financial obligations.

As the following financial exhibits clearly illustrate, the company borrowed large amounts of
cash not just for new hotels but also to finance dividends and share buybacks. While cash flow from
operations was showing solid growth resulting in a large runup in its stock price (Figure 2-1), the
controlling shareholders’ profligate spending resulted in an increasingly higher leverage profile.
Moreover, to build leverage is to increase the cost of capital, and hence risk, because the financial
structure allows for less margin for error, an unusual event or a deteriorating business climate.
Unfortunately, many investors tend to ignore a shift in the risk profile when the numerator of the
valuation equation (earnings or cash flow) is growing.

Gaming was considered an industry whose future growth was forecast by analysts as fairly cer-
tain, and as the Station Casino’s stockholders’ chart Table 2-1 reveals, investors agreed. In 2006,
management of Station spent $881 million buying back its stock at the same time that it expended
$755 million on capital expenditures. During that year, the company generated $293 million in oper-
ating cash flow as the cash burn was financed by $1.5 billion in new borrowings. The company’s
cash interest expense, as reported in its supplemental cash-flow information in its Statement of
Cash Flows (see table), was $137 million, or almost half the operating cash flows. Free cash flow
was negative by over $1.2 billion. Meanwhile, management paid $65 million in dividends, all of which
contributed to the company having negative shareholders’ equity from a modestly positive capital
cushion the year before.
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TABLE 2-2

Principal Stockholders of Station Casinos (2006)

Amount and Nature of Beneficial Ownership
Acquirable Percent
Currently within of

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Owned 60 days Class
Frank J. Fertitta Il 5,674,443 45,000 8.5
Lorenzo J. Fertitta 5,475,979 30,000 8.2
FMR Corp (4) 5,587,350 — 8.4
Blake L. Sartini (5) 3,911,411 — 5.9
Delise F. Sartini (5) 3,856,763 — 5.8
Scott M Nielson (6) 678,527 10,000 1.0
Glenn C. Christenson (7) 533,857 15,000 *
William W. Warner (8) 472,959 60,000 *
Richard J. Haskins (9) 205,847 10,000 *
James E. Nave, D.V.M. 45,000 — *
Lowell H. Lebermann, Jr 34,500 — *
Lee S. Isgur (10) 24,500 — *
Robert E. Lewis 17,500 — *
Executive officers and directors

as a group (10 persons) 13,163,112 170,000 19.6

Source: Proxy material, Station Casinos, 2006.

During the preceding three years, management and the board of directors also
felt compelled to spend over $1 billion buying back stock during the ambitious cap-
ital spending period, taking away the capital cushion that could have braced the com-
pany during the coming business slowdown.

In 2007, the company was taken private in a $5.4 billion deal, whereas its debt
continued to trade publically, which it did until it fell to near zero as the company
filed bankruptcy only a couple of years after the buyout.

The company, in its merger documents (see “Successor”), cited a positive net
worth only through writing up almost $3 billion in goodwill and writing up its prop-
erty, plant, and equipment account by almost $600 million. The large unnecessary
cash outflows resulted in a high cash burn rate? and, with its leverage, resulted in
the company’s cost of capital, based on my credit model, rising to over 23 percent.

Unfortunately, Station Casinos had no check on the profligate spending by
senior management. Not only did insiders control almost 20 percent of the stock,
but the company also had very onerous antitakeover provisions, as well as a

2 The cash burn rate is explained in Chapter 6.
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position of paying senior management and board members high compensation
packages, including stock. Was there any reason for these very well-paid insid-
ers and board members to disagree with what controlling insiders were doing?
With no strong system of checks and balances, the controlling shareholders had
free reign, which they took advantage of.

FIGURE 2-1

Comparison of Station Casino’s 5-Year Cumulative Total Return
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STATION CASINOS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands, except share data)
Successor Predecessor
December 31, December 31,
2007 2006
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $96,392 $116,898
Restricted cash 966 —
Receivables, net 48,680 40,762
Inventories 12,496 9,676
Prepaid gaming tax 21,541 21,519
Prepaid expenses 14,472 12,696
Total current assets 194,547 201,551
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Successor

Predecessor

December 31,

December 31,

2007 2006
Property and equipment, net 3,563,497 2,586,473
Goodwill 2,964,938 154,498
Intangible assets, net 1,002,617 —
Land held for development 516,186 214,374
Investments in joint ventures 391,953 253,577
Native American development costs 200,667 181,153
Other assets, net 154,261 125,070
Total assets $8,988,666 $3,716,696
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt $2,610 $341
Accounts payable 16,954 19,558
Construction contracts payable 23,151 58,318
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 178,018 173,689
Total current liabilities 220,733 251,906
Long-term debt less current portion 5,241,814 3,468,487
Deferred income tax, net 789,644 109,788
Due to unconsolidated affiliate 100,000 —
Other long-term liabilities, net 65,413 73,373
Total liabilities 6,417,604 3,903,554
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):
Successor:
Common stock, par value $0.01; authorized
10,000 shares; 41.7 shares issued — —
Nonvoting common stock, par value $0.01;
authorized 1 million shares; 41,674,838
shares issued 417 —
Predecessor:
Common stock, par value $0.01; authorized
135,000,000 shares; 80,507,427 shares issued — 593
Treasury stock, 23,245,751 shares, at cost — (1,039,804)
Additional paid-in capital 2,948,265 582,739
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (59,666) (10,782)
Retained (deficit) earnings (317,954) 280,396
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 2,571,062 (186,858)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit) $8,988,666 $3,716,696
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STATION CASINOS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(amounts in thousands)

Successor Predecessor
Period from  Period from
November January
8,2007, 1, 2007,
Through Through Year Ended  Year Ended
December November December December
31,2007 7,2007 31,2006 31,2005
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net (loss) income $(317,954) $(57,656) $110,212 $161,886
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss)
income to net cash provided
by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 32,292 136,498 131,094 101,356
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options — — — 31,803
Excess tax benefit from exercise
of stock options (23,303) — (3,145) —
Share-based compensation 288,130 143,714 24,294 12,669
Earnings from joint ventures (1,132) (10,744) (35,046) (31,938)
Distributions of earnings from joint
ventures — 82,115 890 11,867
Amortization of debt discount
and issuance costs 5,907 4,392 4,731 3,262
Loss on early retirement of debt 20,311 — — 1,278
Impairment loss — 16,631 — —
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables, net 2,786 (10,704) (21,158) 1,848
Inventories and prepaid expenses 1,439 (6,057) (9,836) (4,419)
Deferred income tax 7,392 (24,023) 38,739 59,481
Accounts payable (10,422) 7,818 6,947 2,260
Accrued expenses and other
current liabilities 18,454 (13,342) 39,589 19,885
Other, net (5,211) 4,831 6,062 5,653
Total adjustments 336,643 331,129 183,161 215,005
Net cash provided by operating activities 18,689 273,473 293,373 376,891
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of Station Casinos, Inc.,
including direct merger costs (4,217,469) — — —
Capital expenditures (55,510) (530,364) (754,988) (830,805)
Proceeds from sale of land, property,
and equipment 105 10,019 18,002 22,143
Investments in joint ventures, net (27,983) (81,552) (39,759) (1,295)
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Successor Predecessor
Period from  Period from
November January
8, 2007, 1, 2007,
Through Through Year Ended Year Ended
December November December December
31,2007 7,2007 31,2006 31, 2005
Distributions in excess of earnings
from joint ventures 488 106,999 — —
Construction contracts payable (19,619) (15,548) (24,833) 46,853
Native American development costs (2,454) (17,060) (15,909) (111,900)
Other, net (1,523) (2,912) (18,774) (10,323)
Net cash used in investing activities (4,323,965) (530,418) (836,261) (885,327)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Cash equity contributions 2,706,145 — — —
Proceeds from issuance
of CMBS loans 2,475,000 — — —
Borrowings under the revolver with
maturity dates less than 3 months, net 293,100 — — —
Borrowings under the term loan with
maturity dates greater than 3 months 250,000 — — —
(Payments) Borrowings under
revolving facility with maturity
dates less than 3 months, net (1,383,300) 227,500 825,800 278,500
Proceeds from issuance of
related party promissory note — 100,000 — —
Proceeds from financing transaction — 70,000 — —
Proceeds from the issuance of senior
and senior subordinated notes, net — — 698,500 358,250
Redemption of senior and senior
subordinated notes — — — (34,272)
Purchase of treasury stock — (110,164) (880,676) (21,414)
Payment of dividends — (49,050) (65,403) (62,643)
Debt issuance costs (60,086) (8) (8,660) (11,381)
Exercise of stock options — 560 1,562 18,957
Excess tax benefit from exercise
of stock options 23,303 — 3,145 —
Other, net (1,229) (56) (34) (426)
Net cash provided by financing activities 4,302,933 238,782 574,234 525,571
Cash and cash equivalents:
(Decrease) increase in cash and
cash equivalents (2,343) (18,163) 31,346 17,135
Balance, beginning of period 98,735 116,898 85,552 68,417
Balance, end of period $96,392 $98,735 $116,898 $85,552
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CHANGES IN SENIOR MANAGEMENT

As we saw with Station Casino, insider-controlled management can usurp the corpo-
rate checkbook and capital. Changes in key management positions often send share-
holders an important signal—the board is unhappy with current results and has
decided to move in a new direction. New executives have their own ideas as to how
corporate assets are best used, where cash should be spent, which assets need to be dis-
posed of, and any other uses of cash, such as acquisitions that should be considered.

Example:

The stock and business operations of Walt Disney, Inc., suffered a noticeable decline shortly
after the 1994 departure of Jeffrey Katzenberg, who ran Disney’s movie studio. When he left to
form DreamWorks, a rival movie studio, he took many of the best animators at his former
employer with him. Katzenberg had been at Disney for 10 years prior to his departure, helping
to propel the company’s results and stock price to record highs.

Example:

In March 2005, shares in NCR Corp. tumbled over 17 percent the day it was announced that Mike
Hurd, its CEO, would leave the company to join Hewlett-Packard. At NCR, Hurd had cut costs while
increasing revenues, and as a result, free cash flow grew substantially. As the shares in NCR were
falling on the date of announcement, stock in Hewlett-Packard rose over 10 percent.

Were shareholders overreacting to the management changes at NCR and
Hewlett-Packard, or were they correct? In the 3 years subsequent to joining Hewlett-
Packard, as observed in Figure 2-2, free cash flow grew, whereas back at NCR, free
cash flow fell.

The ability of Mr. Hurd to take actions that resulted in increased free cash
flow at Hewlett-Packard (HP) has enriched HP investors. As seen in the relative
performance of the stocks (Figure 2-3), Hewlett-Packard has substantially outper-
formed NCR.

Example:

When Feld Entertainment, a privately held entertainment entity whose operating companies
include Barnum and Bailey Circus and Disney on Ice, acquired Monster Trucks, Inc., manage-
ment was easily able to improve free cash flow through selective increases in ticket prices and
intensive cost savings, including right-sizing discretionary expenditures such as the combining of
advertising departments. Since the prior owner could have initiated many of the same actions, the
cash-flow enhancement was clearly a reflection of managerial skill set.




Management

FIGURE 2-2

Free Cash Flow at NCR and Hewlett Packard, 2001-2008
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FIGURE 2-3

Cumulative Returns of NCR and Hewlett-Packard (HPQ)
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CASH FLOWS, PRODUCTIVITY, AND STOCK PRICES

Productivity growth is probably the single most important indicator of an economy’s health.
The Economist, November 4, 2004

Most corporate managers and economists believe that productivity measures lie at
the top of determinants of value creation and corporate health. For this reason, it
is a recurring theme during meetings with investors and in regulatory filings, as
expressed in a September 2009 8K filing for Kraft Foods concurrent with its bid
for Cadbury PLC: “A strong pipeline of cost-savings initiatives will result in
higher productivity and better margins as part of its three-year plan.”

We will see that while productivity is certainly an important factor that could
lead to higher cash flows, its positive bearings are confined primarily as a measure of
consequence to the current or soon-to-be free-cash-flow producer. If a firm’s products
are met with insufficient demand and the inputs under which they are produced do not
generate satisfactory cash flows, it would be rare for productivity improvements to be
able to turn the business around. If the entity is a satisfactory producer of free cash
flow, then productivity improvements can indeed lead to even greater free cash flow
and a higher security price. For this reason, top-line growth and cash flow from oper-
ations are more important valuation and cost-of-capital metrics than productivity.

During periods of slow growth or expectations of slowing growth, managers
often pursue a downsizing strategy, including layoffs, efficiencies, and reductions
in the number of manufacturing facilities, all in an effort to improve long-term
productivity. But what realistically can be expected from such actions?

Economics students learn that productivity, as commonly defined, grew about
2.2 percent per year in the second half of the twentieth century. Economic teachings
have us believe that increases above this rate lead to higher than expected corporate
profits and hence higher than expected stock prices. If this is the case, we would
expect to see companies that are noted for and continuously employ such productiv-
ity-enhancing measures, also referred to as rightsizing, tending to have investment
returns that are higher than those of the general stock market. Certainly, few compa-
nies, if any, come to mind ahead of General Electric (GE), which has seen many of
its former executives hired to lead other large business enterprises.

Figure 2-4 shows that during the period 2004-2009, a good period to study
because it includes both economic expansion and recession, GE underperformed
the returns of the Standard and Poor’s (S&P) 500 Index. While GE is perceived as
a company with excellent managerial skills, if those skills cannot be translated into
higher free cash flow, shareholders do not benefit, as they have not since the end of
2002, a full 4 years prior to the outset of the 2007 recession. GE’s performance was
not, as many would suspect, solely due to its financial exposure; its underperfor-
mance began years earlier.
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FIGURE 24

Stock Price: GE versus S&P 500 Index
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Is GE’s stock price performance an anomaly? My analysis concludes that
companies such as GE should match their workforce to their operating and free
cash flow and not their workforce to output, which GE bases on business strate-
gies such as Six Sigma, a productivity-enhancement tool tied to output, not cash
flows. If a firm requires additional labor to match output, which would result in
negative free cash flow, one should question making an investment in such an
entity until it is evident that free cash flow will be realized.

While it takes a greater workforce to produce a greater level of goods and
services, it is not the purpose of a for-profit enterprise to provide employment but
rather to produce free cash flow as a residual of that labor. The distinction is sub-
tle but significant.

Figure 2-5 illustrates an interesting dichotomy, leading into the 2007
recession, between the growth rate in sales per employee (year over year) for
the aggregate S&P 500 companies relative to cash flow from operations
adjusted for normalized balance-sheet changes, power operating cash flow
(OCF). Power OCF rose between 2004 and 2007, coincident with the economic
expansion. However, beginning 2008, as corporate officers recognized a weak-
ening in their business, they began to step up balance-sheet management
to enhance operating cash flows, but, as reflected in the figure, power OCF
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tumbled. Since power OCF normalizes the working-capital changes, its use
provides better predictive value because it is based on the liquidity normalized
generation of the operating company.

Also shown in Figure 2-5, the right axis reflects indicate positive growth
in productivity, as measured by the growth rate in sales per employee. Sales per
employee rose during the recession year of 2008, and despite the cuts in labor
that were taking place at the time, and which translated into rising productivity
measures, the improvements were not finding their way into normalized operat-
ing cash flows. Investors who thus made decisions on the basis of changes in
productivity-enhancing actions were sorely disappointed. Not so were investors
who focused on normalized (power operating) cash flows, which had been in a
declining trend since the beginning of the decade.

Corporate executives who are continually reviewing their internal portfolio,
enhancing their products and lines of business, and filling in strategic gaps where
necessary to improve core competencies while eliminating and streamlining assets
that underperform, with an eye on cash flows, typically see higher returns on
invested capital than executives who simply look to shed labor as a quick-fix solu-
tion. This is an important distinguishing factor in the cost-of-capital-credit model.

FIGURE 2-5

Year-over-Year Rate of Growth in Sales per Employee versus Power
OCF: S&P 500
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While the model considers productivity-boosting measures as value enhancing, it is
not awarded the large weighting most investors believe exists, and for companies
that are not positive producers of cash flows, its weighting is zero. The weaker the
cash flows, the lower is the importance of enhancing productivity to cost-of-capital
improvement. If an entity has no prospect of ever generating free cash flow, its equity
value, as a going concern, is at best zero regardless of how many units it produces.

Management often faces quick decisions concerning its workforce, including
the growth outlook for its products and services and the various product lines
within the company’s markets. As the following examples show, however, if the
free cash flows are absent, layoffs hopefully can provide a bridge to a turnaround.

Example:

DuPont, despite substantial layoffs, did not report positive free cash flow for the second quarter
of 2009 or the first 6 months of 2009. The company did beat earnings estimates, owing to reduced
headcount.

DuPont Co.s (DD) second-quarter profit plunged 61 percent on lower volumes as the
chemical company continued to struggle with weak demand. Earnings results beat
expectations, though revenue fell short of analysts’ views.

Chemical companies have been scrambling to cope with falling demand in recent
months as major customers in the construction, automotive, and textile industries have
slashed inventories. For its part, DuPont has announced 12,000 layoffs since late 2008
and cut its earnings target in April.

Chief Executive Ellen Kullman said the company’s actions to boost productivity and
cut costs are paying off as it contends with continued weak demand in key segments.

The company reported earnings of $417 million, or 46 cents a share, down from
$1.08 billion, or $1.18 a share, a year earlier. The latest period included 15 cents of restruc-
turing charges.

Revenue decreased 22 percent to $6.86 billion.

Source: Wall Street Journal, July 21, 2009.

Example:

Sometimes an entity’s desire to avoid a cut in its credit rating forces a particular decision concern-
ing its labor force as management strives to raise assurance that it has the ability to control costs
while business is soft. MGIC, the large mortgage insurer, reduced its workforce, hoping it would
reflect to the agencies an aggressive act which would help preserve its investment-grade rating,
without which it would be virtually assured of not being able to write new business. In fact, the com-
pany was able to maintain its grade longer than warranted even though its cash flows and stock
price were collapsing from defaults on mortgage payments related to its investments that took place
prior to the 2008 housing slump. MGIC'’s long-term credit rating eventually was reduced to CCC after
its stock had lost over 90 percent of its value, too late for shareholders who believed that the cuts in
the company’s overhead would result in a continuation of its investment-grade credit.
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Example:

NEW YORK—Lucent Technologies, Inc., has announced another round of layoffs
even as Standard and Poor’s cut the wireless vendor’s credit rating one notch to “B—,"
its sixth-highest junk rating. The company said it will cut 10,000 more jobs, or 22 per-
cent of its workforce, and it expects to report a wider-than-expected fourth-quarter
loss.

The job cuts will bring down the staff strength to 35,000 instead of the projected
45,000 at the end of the year. Lucent has been slashing its workforce repeatedly since
the telecom industry’s meltdown began last year. It had anticipated a bounce back
to profitability after cutting half of its about 106,000 staff last year, but the company’s
fortunes have continued to dwindle.

Source: BNET.com.

Corporate executives are initially reluctant to cut staffing levels, especially
if they sense that demand will be restored within a reasonable period of time, even
if current levels are obviously mismatched with output and cash flows. There is a
natural reluctance to cut payroll, even though the facts dictate otherwise, premised
on the “invisible handshake” theory of the cost of retraining new employees and
allegiance to existing ones.

The workforce and productive capital and plant can be set once current and
projected operating and free cash flows are reasonably estimated; it would be
imprudent to match workforce and plant with units of production or revenues if the
entity is not capable of generating long-term free cash flow.

WHY IT’'S CASH FLOW, NOT PRODUCTIVITY,
THAT MATTERS

Shown next are leading productivity and cash-flow metrics for two technology
companies, Photronics and IBM. Photronics’ rate of revenue growth was
slightly in excess of IBM’s, 3.1 versus 2 percent, for the period 2000-2008.
Despite IBM’s lower growth rate in revenues, the firm increased total employ-
ment at a greater rate than Photronics but did so with less expensive foreign
labor. Management at IBM recognized the need for additional employees but
did so in a way that matched its estimates of production and sales with its free
cash flow. As a result, subsequent free cash flow grew. Photronics increased its
labor force despite a weakening of free cash flow, relying on its historical
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revenue growth in making this decision. The company was concerned about
loss of market share to aggressively priced foreign competition and was match-
ing workforce to revenues. Eventually, Photronics was forced to respond to
the weakening of its free cash flow and lay off employees, but by then, free
cash flow had turned negative, causing the company’s stock price to drop rather
dramatically.

Photronics

Photronics, a supplier to the semiconductor industry, showed a long history of
rising productivity (Figure 2-6), as measured by revenues per employee.
Sales/property, plant, and equipment, before depreciation, however, continued
to slide (Figure 2-7). Unlike Photronics, IBM (Figure 2-7) saw its revenues per
employee generally dropping throughout the decade, except for a brief spurt in
2004, reflecting a substantial drop in productivity. On the other hand, IBM
experienced a consistent rise in its sales/property, plant, and equipment (PPE)
as the firm became more software-centric given its new lower requirements
for capital assets. Shown is PPE prior to accumulated depreciation because
(1) companies use differing depreciation schedules, (2) depreciation, in many
instances, does not reflect the true lifespan of the asset, and (3) we better cap-
ture the true cash spent on the asset. A fully depreciated economic asset could
make it appear as if management used its resources more efficiently than actu-
ally was the case.

Table 2-3 shows Photronic’s free cash flow per employee declining after 2001,
whereas it rose for IBM. During 2006, Photronic’s free cash flow rose owing to
“working” the balance-sheet items. Normalizing the changes in balance-sheet items,
as we do for power OCF, would have shown that free cash flow declined that year.

The fall (see Figure 2-6) in Photronic’s total employment during 2008
allowed the ratio of sales per employee to generally rise compared with the dotted
line, which reflects revenues as a percentage of property, plant, and equipment,
which is not as easily reduced and, as I pointed out, can be managed through
writeoffs and disposals. The more widely used measure of productivity, sales per
employee, was not reflecting the financial difficulty experienced by Photronics.

There is a clear positive relationship between rising productivity and subse-
quent stock price performance when the accompaniment is followed by an
increase in free cash flow. However, while cutting the labor force may give the
analyst the impression of stronger productivity by increasing sales per employee,
this can only result in a temporary salve to a firm’s market value if free cash flow
for the enterprise is not produced.
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IBM and Photronics Productivity Characteristics

PHOTRONICS INC INTL BUSINESS MACHINES CORP
(October Year-End) (December Year-End)
Sales/ Free Cash Sales/ Free Cash
Sales Employees Flow/Employees Sales Employees Flow/Employees
($Mm) ($Mm) (SM) ($Mm) ($Mm) ($Mm)
2000 331 201 3.6 88,396 280 17.9
2001 378 224 38.4 85,866 268 31.6
2002 387 245 6.3 81,186 257 30.1
2003 349 246 255 89,131 279 354
2004 396 279 325 96,293 293 37.7
2005 441 306 14.7 91,134 277 38.0
2006 455 303 14.4 91,424 257 33.0
2007 422 274 26.3 98,786 256 32.9
2008 423 293 (9.1) 103,630 260 38.2
2009 361 278 55 95,758 240 442

FIGURE 2-6

Photronics Productivity Measures
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FIGURE 2-7

IBM Productivity Measures
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Reflected in Figure 2-8 are the headcount and free cash flow for Photronics.
Despite downward trending free cash flow since 2004, Photonics’ management
continued growing its labor force until 2007.

Shares of Photonics (Figure 2-9) were under enormous pressure beginning in
the middle of 2007, reflecting the company’s drop in free cash flow, because the
job cuts and higher sales per employee became irrelevant to equity holders, who
rely on free cash flow for compensation. As indicated, free cash flow rose during
2007 only because management “worked” the balance sheet to provide cash.
During the following year, it turned negative.

IBM

IBM, unlike Photronics, has shown itself to be quite adept at matching its cost
structure with its operating and free cash flow, and as a result, its stock price held
up in the face of the severe recession (Figure 2-10). During 2010, shares in IBM
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FIGURE 2-8

Photronics’ Employees and Free Cash Flow
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FIGURE 2-9
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FIGURE 2-10

IBM’s Stock Price
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were back to its prerecession levels, whereas Photronics’ shares still were trading
at a 10-year low. IBM management’s clearly stated vision® of substituting cheaper
foreign labor for high-cost domestic labor resulted in an upward and consistent
increase in its operating cash flows, as depicted in Figure 2-11, and a greater
increase in free cash flow, as depicted in Figure 2-12. During the June 30, 2009,
quarter, despite a 13 percent fall in revenues, IBM saw its free cash flow increase
by over 10 percent. As a result, IBM was the best-performing stock in the Dow
Jones Index over the prior year. And for the year 2009, IBM, despite reporting no
growth in sales/employees and sales/PPE, by squeezing out cost efficiencies ema-
nating in strong free cash flow, saw its stock rise by over 54 percent, or about
twice that of the S&P 500 Index.

Inflation-adjusted revenue growth is often cited as an important gauge of
productivity, whereas buying revenue through pricing below cost is usually a
recipe for financial failure. If these firms were defending or attempting to
increase their market shares through pricing actions, we would most like see it in
Figures 2-13 and 2-14. Figure 2-13 highlights the ratio of selling, general, and

3 As stated during quarterly conference calls and analysts’ day conferences.
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IBM and Photronics: SG&A/Sales
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IBM and Photronics COGS as a percent of Sales, 2004-2008
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administrative expense SG&A/Sales for IBM and Photronics, and Figure 2-16
highlights cost of goods sold (COGS)/sales. Photronics has had declining selling
and general and administrative expenses relative to IBM. Normally, security
analysts would view lower and declining levels of SG&A relative to its output
(revenues) as a positive sign indicative of rising productivity. If this is true,
increased productivity has not helped Photronic’s.

For IBM, weak hardware sales were offset by its very lucrative software and
service revenues, excellent balance-sheet management, and tight expense control,
with the majority of its revenue growth and most of the cost savings stemming
from emerging countries. Figure 2-14 depicts IBM’s downward-sloping cost of
sales, which, for the company, has a significantly greater impact on free cash flow
than SG&A owing to its magnitude (about double SG&A) and substantial cost
savings, including the labor component. COGS measures normally are looked at
as signals of operating margins, not productivity, especially when the depreciation
component is removed. The picture, for Photronics, is one of a firm interested in
defending its market share despite falling revenue.

This example clearly shows that for Photronics and IBM, it was free cash
flow that mattered most to equity owners. A history of good productivity metrics
quickly became unimportant to Photronics’ investors after its free cash flow
peaked. IBM, with consistently poor productivity metrics, enriched investors with
its growth in free cash flow. The company had falling revenues per employee but
growing free cash flow per employee, whereas Photronics had, over the period
studied, the opposite.

Determining the optimal labor force as being a function of sales or unit out-
put does not reflect on an enterprise as a cash-flow-maximizing entity but rather
as a unit-producing entity. Determining output based on profits may not leave dis-
tributable cash to the owner of equity. The corporate managers and analysts there-
fore must determine the level of output that places free cash flow at its highest
level (Figure 2-15) both today and prospectively. Free cash flow is maximized at
the point on the chart where labor is most efficient. If the current level of employ-
ment cannot produce satisfactory free cash flow, management must seek a lower-
cost labor pool, downsize the labor force, become more productive, raise prices,
reduce other expenses, or lastly, sell the asset. If, by virtue of such action(s), the
entity turns into a free-cash-flow producer, it has value to its equity owners given
the distributable cash.
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CHAPTER 3

Statement of Cash Flows

Understanding the role of the cash-flow statement is crucial for the general
analysis of cash flows and in particular for analysis that is based on free cash flow
and cost of capital. This is so because the statement reveals important information
about the firm’s operations, in addition to reconciling balance-sheet changes and
financing and investment activities. In financial reporting, there can be a distor-
tion to the cash-flow statement resulting from events that are classified as invest-
ing or financing activities instead of operating activities, with the result of such an
action providing a boost to both cash flows from operations and free cash flow.

The purpose of the statement of cash flows is to disclose information about
economic events that affect cash during the accounting period. Three general
types of economic events or activities are described in the statement: operating
cash flows, financing cash flows, and investing cash flows. Operating cash flows
are ongoing operations of a business entity that affect cash, such as collections
from customers and payments to suppliers, employees, and the like. Financing
cash flows are events that affect the financial structure of the firm, such as bor-
rowing cash, repurchasing common stock, and making dividend payments.
Investing cash flows are the events that affect the long-term assets of a firm, such
as purchases of property, plant, and equipment (PPE), sale of investments in
subsidiaries, and so forth.

As the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) states in its intro-
duction of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 95, Statement of
Cash Flows (SFAS 95): “The primary purpose of the statement of cash flows is
to provide relevant information about the cash receipts and cash payments of an
enterprise during a period.” The statement of cash flows provides information
about these events if they affect cash during the accounting period. These events
that affect cash during a period are important to investors, creditors, suppliers,
and employees. Information about operating cash flows indicates the business’s

47
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ability to generate cash from its continuing operations. Information about
investing cash flows indicates how the business used (received) cash for capital
items or liquidated capital to survive downturns. Information about financing
cash flows illustrates how the business financed its expansion and partially
rewarded stockholders. If a financing event, for example, does not involve cash
(such as the conversion of preferred stock to common stock), the information is
disclosed in a separate section called “Supplemental information” at the bottom
of the cash-flow statement or in the footnotes of the statement of cash flows.

It is important to understand the classifications, especially because it is not
uncommon for one entity to place an item as an operating activity, whereas a peer-
group entity might place the same item as a finance activity. In general, it is up to
the analyst to become familiar with FAS 95 to make any adjustments regarding
proper classification. Without doing so, peer comparison and security valuation
become difficult.

The sections to follow provide detailed explanations of the components of cash
flows, as well as examples from published financial statements. Finally, I discuss
how the cash-flow analyst should interpret the cash flows from investing, financing,
and operating activities. A follow-up discussion appears in Chapter 8 because
various activities here relate to cost-of-capital analysis.

The reader will see why a complete understanding of the items in the cash-
flow statement is imperative in risk assessment used to infer a cost of equity and
the subsequent determination of fair value. This will allow you to see if a firm is
artificially boosting the cash flows it is reporting to shareholders.

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

In SFAS 95, the FASB defines cash flows from investing activities as follows:

Investing activities include making and collecting loans and acquiring
and disposing of debt or equity instruments and property, plant, and
equipment and other productive assets, that is, assets held for or used

in the production of goods or services by the enterprise (other than
materials that are part of the enterprise’s inventory) [SFAS 95, para. 15].

Thus the definition of investing cash flows includes cash outflows used as
investments in financial or fixed assets, as well as cash receipts from disposition
of such investments. Furthermore, investing cash flows are for investments
in financial instruments as well as investments in real assets (PPE). The FASB
further describes cash inflows and outflows from investing activities as
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Inflows

a. Receipts from collections or sales of loans made by the enterprise
and of other entity’s debt instruments (other than cash equivalents)
that were purchased by the enterprise.

b. Receipts from sales of equity instruments of other enterprises and
from returns of investment in those instruments.

¢. Receipts from sales of property, plant, and equipment and other
productive assets [SFAS 95, para. 16].

Outflows

a. Disbursements for loans made by the enterprise and payments to
acquire debt instruments of other entities (other than cash equivalents).

b. Payments to acquire equity instruments of other enterprises.

c¢. Payments at the time of purchase or soon before or after purchase to
acquire property, plant, and equipment and other productive assets
[SFAS 95, para. 17].

It is more natural to discuss the cash outflows for investing activities prior to
financing or operating activities. By analyzing the firm’s investment activities, we
can see how management deploys its cash. The statement requires the classifica-
tion of investments in PPE and other productive assets as investing activities. It
further restricts the inclusion of these investments in the statement of cash flows
to amounts that were paid at the time of purchase or soon before or after the time
of purchase. Thus an advance payment for PPE or a down payment will be
included. However, a loan by the seller of the PPE will not be included as a cash
flow from investing activity because the buyer had not paid for it in cash.

The FASB includes in investing cash flows investments in equity instruments
of other enterprises (repurchases of the firm’s own securities are classified as
financing cash flows), investments in debt instruments of other enterprises, or loans
made to other enterprises. The FASB notes that investments in debt instruments
of other entities should be “other than cash equivalents.” This is an important
distinction because the statement of cash flows can be prepared using “cash and
cash equivalents.” Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that
are both

a. Readily convertible to known amounts of cash.

b. So near their maturity that they present insignificant risk of changes
in value because of changes in interest rates [SFAS 95, para. §].
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The FASB states that generally only investments with original maturities of
3 months or less qualify under the definition of a cash equivalent. Thus, when
a treasurer purchases a Treasury note that has 60 days to maturity using cash, an
increase in cash and cash equivalents is recorded for the period.! However, if the
treasurer purchased a 120-day Treasury note, an investing cash flow is recorded
on the statement of cash flows. Clearly, these rules leave management some room
for manipulation close to the end of the accounting period. It should be noted that
the FASB ruled that if a 7-year note, for example, is purchased less than 90 days
before maturity, it does not get reclassified as a cash equivalent when the balance-
sheet date falls within 90 days of its maturity.

Example:
Cash and Cash Equivalents

The company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or
less when purchased to be cash equivalents. The company’s cash equivalents consist
primarily of money market funds, unrestricted deposits, debt instruments of the U.S.
Treasury, and commercial paper. Cash includes amounts restricted for letters of credit
for purchases and deposits for equipment maintenance of $528,000 and $72,000 at
June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Source: 2009 Oplink Communications, Inc., 10K.

It seems reasonable that cash and cash equivalents will include only items that
could be readily converted to cash because there should be no question both as to
the item’s value and its liquidity. In some cases, a portion of the available cash is
restricted by compensating balance agreements or other agreements. Restricted cash
should not be included in “Cash and cash equivalents” for purposes of the statement
of cash flows. However, in some cases, firms deviate from this line of reasoning.

Example:

Compensating balance arrangements that do not legally restrict the withdrawal or
usage of cash amounts may be reported as Cash and Cash Equivalents, while legally
restricted deposits held as compensating balances against borrowing arrangements,
contracts entered into with others, or company statements of intention with regard to
particular deposits should not be reported as cash and cash equivalents.

Source: Home Depot, June 2009 10Q.

I'The decrease in cash is exactly offset by the increase in cash equivalents, the Treasury note,
because the maturity of the note is less than 90 days.
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Example:

Berkshire Hathaway defines cash equivalents quite differently. As reported, cash held out as
backing for loans and other liabilities is listed as part of “Other assets” on its balance sheet. For
Berkshire, this can be substantial because the company lists $9.3 billion of other assets on its
2008 10K. Found in various locations of the company’s 10K, we learn that also included in “other
assets” are $1.7 billion of premium acquisition costs and $0.3 billion of derivative contract assets
minus $0.1 billion in pension assets and $2.1 billion in regulatory assets. The company footnotes
cash and cash equivalents as follows:

Cash equivalents consist of funds invested in U.S. Treasury Bills, money market accounts,
and in other investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased. Cash
and cash equivalents exclude amounts where availability is restricted by loan agreements
or other contractual provisions. Restricted amounts are included in other assets.

It should be noted that cash flows from investing activities include both cash
outflows and cash inflows. The inflows occur when a firm disposes of its invest-
ments in financial instruments or fixed assets.> The cash proceeds from sales are
included among the cash flows from investing activities and represent disinvest-
ing activities by the firm. Can a firm net cash inflows against cash outflows? For
example, can a firm net the proceeds from sales of PPE against additions to PPE?
Usually, accountants and investors are against offsetting any type of inflows with
outflow, assets against liabilities, or revenues against expenses because to do so
could deprive the decision maker of important information regarding current and
prospective cash flows. However, if the amount of the proceeds is immaterial, the
firm may report the net purchases of PPE.

Most firms disclose in this section cash outlays on capital expenditures,
acquisitions, investments in financial instruments, investments in unconsolidated
subsidiaries, and purchases of additional shares from minority shareholders.
Clearly, each of these investing activities has an opposite counterpart of a disin-
vesting activity, for instance, the sale of investments.

The cash-flow analyst should investigate the capital expenditures of a firm
and the retirement of PPE during the accounting period. Capital expenditures
should be sufficient at least to sustain the current levels of operations. They can be
compared with past capital expenditures, levels of investments by competitors,
improvements in technology, current levels of PPE, the firm’s unit growth rates,
and which divisions or reportable segments are consuming cash. Are the invest-
ments in those segments appropriate in relation to their ability to produce free cash
flow? Has outsourcing of production had its intended effect, resulting in capital
savings, or has it created additional problems?

2 Capital payments on debt instruments in which the firm invested are also considered cash inflows
from investing activities; these are, in effect, disinvesting activities. However, interest payments on
such debt are classified as operating cash inflows.
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A significant increase in the sale of PPE may indicate that the firm is suffering
from a cash shortage and decides to generate cash by selling fixed assets. This strat-
egy means that the firm is reducing the scale of operations or that it is gradually
liquidating. However, the firm just may be selling underutilized capital or making
a strategic shift in its business, such as outsourcing or purchasing more productive
capital. Thus the cash-flow analyst will examine these events carefully because of
the implications for future cash flows. As we will also see, overspending is also
a red flag indicative of mismanagement in the form of wasteful resources.

The firm has three major options in its future expansion: (1) to expand inter-
nally through further investments in capital expenditures, (2) to invest in the
existing operations of other firms through acquisitions, or (3) to use other firms’
capital resources. Most studies to date show that, on average, it is detrimental for
a firm to expand through acquisition of other firms; most such acquisitions do not
work as originally intended.® It has been estimated by management consultants
that about half the business combinations either fail or fall short of expectations.
Thus the cash-flow analyst may want to assess the probability of success for an
acquisition and the related costs of that acquisitions in terms of additional debt
that is assumed or issued. The analyst also should assess the potential synergies
that can be created through acquisition. These may have favorable effects on
future cash flows by eliminating redundant operations.

Finally, the cash-flow analyst should examine additional investments in
unconsolidated subsidiaries (which are subsidiaries in which the firm owns less than
50 percent of the stock), investments in joint ventures, and investments in other
financial instruments. The analyst should carefully assess potential future cash-flow
consequences of such investments. Usually, investments in other entities, where the
investing firm does not control the investee, are considered less desirable (unless
there are debt consequences) than investments in entities where the firm has full
control. Similarly, the analyst should examine the reasons for investments in finan-
cial instruments; are these made merely to park cash that will be needed in the near
future for investments, because of regulatory requirements or because of covenants,
or are they made because the firm has no superior investment opportunities?

Sometimes the distinction between investing and operating cash flows is not
clearcut. For example, a cash payment may pertain to an item that could be con-
sidered either as inventory or as a productive asset. If so, the appropriate classifi-
cation should depend on the activity that is likely to be the predominant source of
cash flows for the item. For example, the acquisition and sale of equipment to be
used by the enterprise or rented to others is generally considered an investing

3 The list of failed corporate mergers grows daily. Some of the more notable examples include
AT&T/NCR, Sterling Drug/Kodak, AOL/Time Warner, Daimler Benz/Chrysler, HP/Compaq, and
Alcatel/Lucent.
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activity. However, equipment sometimes is acquired or produced to be used by the
enterprise or rented to others for a short period of time and then sold. In such cir-
cumstances, the acquisition or production and subsequent sale of those assets can
be considered an operating activity.

Needless to say, this ambiguity in reporting requirements leads to different
interpretations in practice by many firms. Some leasing companies include the
collections of principal on their capital leases as cash flows from operating activ-
ities on the grounds that the equipment leased is in fact inventory. Other leasing
entities include such payments in investing activities on the grounds that the leases
represent investments in the traditional sense. Thus the cash-flow analyst needs to
carefully assess the classification of such items as a proper investing or operating
cash flow. For example, Bally Technologies and IGT Corp. are two slot-machine
manufacturers. When building machines for lease to casinos, Bally’s purchase of
parts is reported as an operating activity, yet IGT reports the event as an investing
activity. When making adjustments to cash flow from operations, the analyst
should consider both events as operating cash flows.

Similarly, the analyst should examine the implications of disinvesting events
as carefully as investing events. Also, the cash-flow analyst should note that the
current requirements of SFAS 95 are that only the cash portion of these events is
disclosed in the statement of cash flows. It is reasonable in most cases to focus not
only on the cash portion of the transaction but also on the noncash portion because
of its future consequences. For example, the sale of a division for cash, notes
receivable, and stocks likely will yield future cash inflows. During 2008, Prudential
Insurance agreed to sell its retail brokerage unit to Wells Fargo, with Prudential
receiving $4.5 billion in cash, but not until January 2010. These payments, to the
extent they are probable, should be incorporated by the cash-flow analyst, as well
as the initial payment of cash from the sale of the division, which was reported in
the statement of cash flows during 2008. During 2010, the $4.5 billion was
received.

Let us now examine several examples of investing activities.

Example:

Merck & Co., Inc., is a global pharmaceutical company. The following schedule is taken from its
2008 10K:

Merck considers the pledge of assets backing up letters of credit to be restricted
assets. These restricted assets evolved with a large legal settlement relating to a drug
which was sold by Merck and was withdrawn from the market. As the letter of credit
amount declines with payment under the Agreement, so too will the restricted assets
(shown as “Other assets” on Merck’s balance sheet) and reported in its statement of
cash flows as the sale of securities shown under investment activities.
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2008 2007 2006

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Capital expenditures (1,298.3) (1,011.0) (980.2)
Purchases of securities and other investments (11,967.3) (10,132.7) (19,591.3)
Proceeds from sales of securities and other investments 11,065.8 10,860.2 16,143.8
Acquisitions of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired — (1,135.9) (404.9)
Distribution from AstraZeneca LP 1,899.3 — —
Increase in restricted assets (1,629.7) (1,401.1) (48.1)
Other 95.8 10.5 (3.0)
Net cash used by investing activities (1,834.4) (2,810.0) (4,883.7)

Example:

In June of 2008, Verizon Corp. paid $5.9 billion in cash plus the assumption of $22.2 billion in
debt, net of cash acquired, to acquire Alltel Corporation. Immediately prior to the closing, Verizon
borrowed $12.4 billion to complete the acquisition and repay a portion of the Alltel debt. In con-
nection with the borrowings, Verizon entered into swap (hedging) contracts to protect against
interest-rate and currency movements because some of this new debt was denominated in pound
sterling and euros. In December 2008, additional borrowings were needed.

Verizon also repaid debt totaling $4.1 billion during the year and repurchased $1.4 billion of
its stock. It is not unusual for boards of directors to “send a signal” to the financial markets on
announcement of a large business combination. That signal is designed to show investors that
the board is confident that the merger will add to the value of the enterprise and that the board is
willing to risk additional capital as a show of faith. This is not a recommended strategy because
normally arbitrageurs will offset the stock buyback and investors will wait to see if the combined
company does produce the anticipated free cash flows. In Verizon’s case, its stock fell on the
announcement and had not recovered 2 years later.

Shown below is the financing section of the balance sheet for Verizon Corp. for fiscal years
2006-2008.

2008 2007 2006

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from long-term borrowings 21,598 3,402 3,983
Repayments of long-term borrowings and capital lease obligations (4,146) (5,503) (11,233)
Increase (decrease) in short-term obligations, excluding current maturities 2,389  (3,252) 7,944
Dividends paid (4,994) (4,773)  (4,719)
Proceeds from sale of common stock 16 1,274 174
Purchase of common stock for treasury (1,368)  (2,843) (1,700)
Other, net 93 2) (201)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities—continuing operations 13,588 (11,697) (5,752)
Net cash used in financing activities—discontinued operations —_ — (279)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 13,588 (11,697) (6,031)
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Example:

Clayton Williams Energy, Inc., is an independent oil and gas company engaged in the exploration
and production of oil and natural gas primarily in Texas, Louisiana, and New Mexico. Shown below
is the company’s entire consolidated statement of cash flows to illustrate its accounting of deriv-
atives, which the company uses to mitigate the risk of falling energy prices. How the derivatives
are set up determines whether they are characterized as cash-flow hedges or non-cash-flow
hedges (defined in Chapter 6). This is an example of certain hedges not working out, as well as
a pitfall of a business acquisition.

During 2004, Clayton made an acquisition of another energy company that had put in place
derivative contracts having a price of $28 a barrel, meaning that a rise in the price of a barrel of
crude above $28 would result in a loss as the contracts were settled. As those contracts reached
expiration, they indeed saddled Clayton with a huge loss as the price of crude ran up. Fortunately
for Clayton, though, it had other hedges in place that were quite profitable.

In its year-end 2009 income statement, the company booked a gain of $74.7 million, with
that amount a sum of both realized and unrealized gains for the year. We see $49.7 million of
“unrealized gains” reversed under operating cash flows. Therefore, the company had a cash real-
izable gain for the year approximating $25 million.

The company also shows $43.486 million under financing cash flows, representing cash that
was paid to counterparties to settle hedged contracts. Under SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities, because the contracts Clayton acquired pursuant to the
merger agreement did not meet the requirement of a cash-flow hedge, those contracts are char-
acterized as non-cash-flow hedges and must be presented under financing activities. If they were
cash-flow hedges, under SFAS 133, they would be recognized in “Other comprehensive income”
until the hedged item is recognized in earnings. If they are not recognized as cash-flow hedges,
they are recognized in earnings, as reported by Clayton Williams.

How did Clayton do on its hedged contracts during 20087

Amount
From income statement $74,743
Add: Unrealized—from operating activities (49,738)
Equals: Realized gains 25,005
Less: Settled losses—from financing activities 43,486
Normal hedged gains 68,491

Thus Clayton took in $68.491 million on normal hedged activities, from which it had cash
payments of $43.486 million, which more than cover the loss-ridden contracts taken on by the
acquisition.

Because settlements on derivative contracts deemed to contain a financing
element are reported as financing activities in the statement of cash flows and
must be reversed under operating activities (the loss is already taken into account
in the income statement), it has the effect of increasing (decreasing with a gain)
cash flow from operations. This can under certain circumstances, such as not
merely reversing an item in the income statement, result in over(under)stated
operating cash flows to analysts who use a simple definition of free cash flow
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defined as either operating cash flow minus depreciation or an EBIDTA-based
definition. One therefore must inspect for such reversals if the hedge is deemed a
noncash hedge.

Companies that use derivative contracts as partial speculation should be
accorded a higher cost of capital. It is not a coincidence, therefore, that Clayton
Williams has greater volatility of free cash flow and tax rate, although an inspec-
tion of its tax footnote reveals that the latter is due in part to the tax incentives.

CLAYTON WILLIAMS ENERGY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income $140,534 $5,990 $17,799

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash
provided by operating activities:

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization 120,542 84,476 66,163
Impairment of property and equipment 12,882 12,137 21,848
Exploration costs 80,112 68,870 65,173
Gain on sales of property and equipment, net (42,381) (4,209) (1,668)
Deferred income taxes 77,327 3,768 215
Noncash employee compensation 5,834 1,865 2,279
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivatives (49,738) 24,249 (57,568)
Settlements on derivatives with financing elements 43,486 28,468 29,407
Amortization of debt issue costs 1,354 1,281 1,308
Accretion of abandonment obligations 2,355 2,508 1,653
Excess tax benefit on exercise of stock options — (963) (1,807)
Minority interest, net of tax 708 3,812 574
Changes in operating working capital:

Accounts receivable 13,087 (10,028) (8,101)
Accounts payable (4,946) 10,992 3,543
Other (19,176) 1,650 5,172
Net cash provided by operating activities 381,980 234,866 145,990
Cash flows from investing activities

Additions to property and equipment (350,106)  (233,453) (254,840)
Additions to equipment of Larclay JV (1,683) (29,302) (60,655)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 117,226 22,773 4,451
Change in equipment inventory (8,247) 18,166 (662)
Other 3,935 (14,443) 1,753

Net cash used in investing activities (238,875)  (236,259)  (309,953)
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Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from long-term debt — 25,800 129,300
Proceeds from long-term debt of Larclay JV 7,500 8,727 66,254
Repayments of long-term debt (71,700) — —
Repayments of long-term debt of Larclay JV (22,500) (13,125) —
Proceeds from sale of common stock 15,936 6,000 3,914
Settlements on derivatives with financing elements (43,486) (28,468) (29,407)
Excess tax benefit on exercise of stock options — 963 1,807
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (114,250) (103) 171,868
Net increase (decrease) in cash and

cash equivalents 28,855 (1,496) 7,905
Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of period 12,344 13,840 5,935
End of period $41,199 $12,344 $13,840
Supplemental disclosures
Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized $24,027 $35,213 $19,653
Cash paid for income taxes $16,652 $348 $196
Example:

Black and Decker reported the following investing cash flows in its 2008 10K:

2008 2007 2006

Investing Activities

Capital expenditures (98.8) (116.4) (104.6)
Proceeds from disposal of assets 204 13.0 14.7
Purchase of businesses, net of cash acquired (25.7) — (158.5)
Reduction in purchase price of previously acquired business — — 16.1
Cash inflow from hedging activities 724 2.0 1.4
Cash outflow from hedging activities (29.7) (47.4) (14.8)
Other investing activities, net — (1.0) 4.7
Cash flow from investing activities (61.4) (149.8) (241.0)

As is typical, the largest item in the subsection of investment activities is capital expenditures,
which we discuss in relation to excessive expenditures (corporate “fat”) in Chapter 4. The company
also disposed of assets as well as made a small acquisition. The company uses derivatives in its
hedging activities as protection against changes in commodity prices, in addition to interest-rate
hedging on its variable-rate debt. One may question whether commodity price hedging is more
suitably related to an operating activity, as are its other related input costs. Over the 3 years shown,
the hedges have resulted in a $16.1 million outflow, rather insignificant for a company having over
$6 billion in revenues and $1.5 billion in balance-sheet debt.
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Example:

Accuray, Inc., develops and manufactures robots used in medical procedures, which the company
calls the CyberKnife system. In the sales process, customer’s deposits are backed with a letter of
credit. As the letters of credit are released, so too are the deposited funds.

During 2009, the company’s decrease in restricted cash results from releases of deposited
funds as delivery of the CyberKnife unit takes place. Accuray’s balance sheet showed that
restricted cash declined from $4,830 to $527, or a $4,303 difference, shown under investment
activities. Some entities report a change in restricted cash as a financing activity, so the analyst
should ensure comparability.

2009 2008 2007
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment (4,232) (5,030) (7,230)
Restricted cash 4,303 (4,830) 1
Purchase of investments (155,934) (177,651) (283)
Sale and maturity of investments 157,732 54,089 —
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 1,869 (133,422) (7,512)

Source: Accuray 2009 10K.

Example:

Phelps Dodge is one of the world’s leading producers of copper and molybdenum and is the world’s
largest producer of molybdenum-based chemicals and continuous copper rod. Its investment activ-
ities reveal several entries that bear interest. The first is the reversal of capitalized interest, which
appears on the balance sheet as an asset but actually represents a cash expenditure; thus the cash
effect is reported in that section. Also reported are $300 million in expenditures during 2006 and
$100 million during 2005, representing cash contributions of those amounts into a trust fund
earmarked for environmental and mine-closure regulatory compliance. The analyst must inquire
how these contributions will be financed, the estimated total obligation, any possible future claims,
and the extent of insurance.*

Phelps Dodge ramped up its capital expenditure program during 2006. The $1.2 billion in
cash expenditures was partially offset by $641 in asset sales, with the balance financed via the
large cash flow from company operations.

Also in the investment activities section is $12.1 million of “Other investing, net.” This could
represent a new investment or an addition to an old investment. The analyst would need further
clarification from the company to learn the nature of the outlay(s).

4 BP PLC was self- insured, having set up insurance subsidiary companies, according to its 20-F. As
soon as the oil rig explosion in the Gulf of Mexico occurred, it was incumbent on the analyst to
place a worst case outcome scenario. The insurance sub had its parent covered up to $1 billion per
incident. In its SEC filings, BP wrote prior to the disaster it considers “external insurance as not
being an economic means of financing losses.”
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Regarding capital expenditures, there is no reason to believe that it must be consistently
below cash flow from operations. Over the operating cycle, such must be the case because
sooner or later the entity will confront a business downturn, and if the gap were continually debt
financed, this could place the firm in a severe strain.

However, if the entity is conservatively financed and capable of investing in projects having
a higher return on invested capital than its cost, the capital expenditure gap will prove to be value-
adding and will reward shareholders over time. It is the divisions that are capital-intensive and do
not generate free cash flow and returns on invested capital greater than their cost that should be
scrutinized with an eye on disposal. Balance-sheet cash and financial flexibility have a calculable
strategic value and so must be put to use properly. When this advantage becomes minimized, the
entity’s ability to take on additional value-enhancing projects becomes impaired.

Investing Activities 2006 2005 2004
Capital outlays (1,191.1) (686.0) (303.6)
Capitalized interest (54.4) (17.6) (1.0)
Investments in subsidiaries and other, net of

cash received 3.3 (12.2) (13.7)
Proceeds from the sale of Columbian Chemicals 505.2 — —
Proceeds from the sale of Magnet Wire North

American assets 136.5 — —
Proceeds from the sale of High Performance

Conductors 47.9 — —
Proceeds from sale of cost-basis investments,

net of expenses — 451.6 —
Proceeds from other asset dispositions 251 18.2 26.9
Restricted cash (4.6) (20.8) —
Global reclamation and remediation trust contributions (300.0) (100.0) —
Other investing, net (12.1) (1.2) 0.4
Net cash used in investing activities (844.2) (368.0) (291.0)

Source: Phelps Dodge 2006 10K.
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Example:

Chevron, the large integrated energy company, explains in a footnote the sizable capitalization of
items representing cash spent but placed on the balance sheet as an asset. These include
expenses related to exploration activities that may be accounted for, under generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP), using two methods: full cost or successful efforts.

Under successful-methods reporting, a firm expenses the costs of unsuccessful drilling and
exploration costs, such as geologic and geophysical expenditures, engineering expenses, and the
costs of carrying and retaining undeveloped properties.

Under the successful-efforts method, only exploratory drilling costs that result in the discov-
ery and development of a commercial oil and gas field may be capitalized and amortized based
on the field’s proven reserves on a unit-of-production basis; all expenditures that are unsuccess-
ful (dry holes) are expensed as incurred. Using the full-cost accounting method, all exploration
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and development expenditures are capitalized and amortized over the reserves of the related
pool of properties.

The following is from Chevron’s 2009 10K, where dry-hole expense is shown under operating
activities.

Properties, Plant, and Equipment The successful efforts method is used for crude oil
and natural gas exploration and production activities. All costs for development wells,
related plant and equipment, proved mineral interests in crude oil and natural gas prop-
erties, and related asset retirement obligation (ARO) assets are capitalized. Costs of
exploratory wells are capitalized pending determination of whether the wells found
proved reserves. Costs of wells that are assigned proved reserves remain capitalized.
Costs also are capitalized for exploratory wells that have found crude oil and natural
gas reserves even if the reserves cannot be classified as proved when the drilling is
completed, provided the exploratory well has found a sufficient quantity of reserves to
justify its completion as a producing well and the company is making sufficient progress
assessing the reserves and the economic and operating viability of the project. All other
exploratory wells and costs are expensed.

Year ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Operating activities

Net income $23,931 $18,688 $17,138
Adjustments

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization 9,528 8,708 7,506
Dry-hole expense 375 507 520
Distributions less than income from equity affiliates (440) (1,439) (979)
Net before-tax gains on asset retirements and sales (1,358) (2,315) (229)
Net foreign currency effects (355) 378 259
Deferred income tax provision 598 261 614
Net (increase) decrease in operating working capital (1,673) 685 1,044
Minority interest in net income 100 107 70
Increase in long-term receivables (161) (82) (900)
(Increase) decrease in other deferred charges (84) (530) 232
Cash contributions to employee pension plans (839) (317) (449)
Other 10 326 (503)
Net cash provided by operating activities 29,632 24,977 24,323
Investing activities

Capital expenditures (19,666) (16,678) (13,813)
Repayment of loans by equity affiliates 179 21 463
Proceeds from asset sales 1,491 3,338 989
Net sales of marketable securities 483 185 142
Net sales (purchases) of other short-term investments 432 (799) —

Net cash used for investing activities (17,081) (13,933) (12,219)
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Example:

Overseas Shipholding Group is one of the world’s leading bulk shipping companies, engaged
primarily in the ocean transportation of crude oil and petroleum products. The unusual entry
found under investing activities relates to the “Capital construction fund.” To encourage private
investment in U.S. metric vessels, the Merchant Marine Act of 1970 permits deferral of taxes on
earnings from U.S. metric vessels deposited into a capital construction fund and amounts
earned thereon, which can be used for the construction or acquisition of or retirement of debt on
qualified U.S. metric vessels (primarily those limited to foreign, Great Lakes, and noncontiguous
domestic trades).

Overseas Shipholding was using funds in its capital construction fund for business acqui-
sitions (which included ships covered under the act), as well as the original construction of new
vessels.

In another such maneuver, during the 1980s, Harold Simmons, a well-known corporate
raider, made an unsolicited takeover offer for Sea-Land Corporation, with the motivating factor
the cash in Sea-Land’s large capital construction fund. Mr. Simmons believed that he would be
able to use the cash in the fund for purposes other than that specified in the Merchant Marine
Act, presumably to make other corporate acquisitions outside the industry. Eventually, CSX
Corp. purchased Sea-Land and in the process paid a healthy premium to its shareholders,
including Mr. Simmons.

The following is from the Overseas Shipholding’s 2008 10K.

2008 2007 2006

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of marketable securities (15,112) — —
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities 7,208 — —
Expenditures for vessels, including $313,045 in

2008, $260,716 in 2007, and $48,100 in 2006

related to vessels under construction (608,271)  (545,078) (55,793)
Withdrawals from Capital Construction Fund 105,700 175,950 —
Proceeds from disposal of vessels 461,872 224,019 258,877
Acquisition of Heidmar Lightering, net of cash

acquired of $2,600 — (38,471) —
Acquisition of Maritrans, Inc., net of cash

acquired of $24,536 — —  (444,550)
Expenditures for other property (10,809) (15,864) (11,591)
Investments in and advances to affiliated

companies (37,871) (31,083) (8,613)
Proceeds from disposal of investments in

affiliated companies — 194,706 —
Distributions from affiliated companies 20,148 — 4,772
Other, net 113 926 196

Net cash used in investing activities (77,022) (34,895)  (256,702)
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Example:

Toll Brothers, Inc., is in the business of designing, building, and marketing homes and rental
apartments. Toll has investments in and makes advances to a number of joint ventures with unre-
lated parties to develop land, either for sale or on which to build. It accounts for these investments
under the equity method at $152 million on its balance sheet.

Toll also guarantees the debt of several of its unconsolidated subsidiaries, which as of
October, 31, 2009, amounted to $63.3 million. These subsidiaries, according to Toll's 2009 10K,
had net borrowings of $850 million that are not consolidated on Toll's balance sheet. Toll also
shows $54 million of accrued expenses on its balance sheet to the unconsolidated entities.

These investments and guarantees represent an integral part of the security analysis, given the
size of the liabilities and Toll’s higher-than-average cost of capital. Although a small percentage of the
unconsolidated subsidiaries’ total liabilities are guaranteed, there may be some moral commitments
involved, especially if Toll has dealings outside the unconsolidated subsidiaries with their creditors.

2008 2007 2006

Cash flow (used in) provided by investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment, net (2,712) (8,158) (14,975)
Proceeds from sale of ancillary businesses 32,299
Purchase of marketable securities (101,324) (1,468,440) (5,769,805)
Sale of marketable securities 1,463,487 5,769,805
Investment in and advances to unconsolidated

entities (31,342) (54,787) (34,530)
Return of investments in unconsolidated entities 3,205 3,268 42,790
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (132,173) (64,630) 25,584

Source: Toll Brother’s 2009 10K.

Example:

Central lowa Energy, LLC, is in the business of developing and constructing biodiesel plants. The
company recorded, in its 2009 10K, a sales tax refund as an investment activity because the
transaction that gave rise to that cash inflow was an investment activity, the purchase of equip-
ment. The cost of the asset was depreciated at the net amount and is classified properly. A tax
refund due to an operating loss would be classified as an operating activity.

2009 2008
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (43,190) (76,688)
Sales tax refund from equipment purchases — 461,517

Increase in restricted cash (460,188) —

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (5083,378) 384,829
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Example:

As an insurance firm, the Travelers Corp. makes investments in financial assets, out of which it
pays its claims. The financial assets include securities with fixed maturities, mortgage loans, equity
securities, and investments in real estate. The items on the portion of the cash-flow statement that
relate to investing activities usually describe these financial investments or the collections of prin-
cipal on these investments. However, one of the items in the list is securities transactions in course
of settlement, which represents additional investments in securities where cash was used to pur-
chase certain financial instruments but where the financial instruments were not yet the property
of the firm on the balance-sheet date. It also represents financial instruments that were lent to
other business entities and were not available for use by the Travelers as of the balance-sheet
date. Thus it properly represents a cash flow from an investing activity and not a cash flow result-
ing from operating activity. The following is from Traveler's 2008 10K:

2008 2007 2006

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from maturities of fixed maturities 4,869 5,305 5,810
Proceeds from sales of investments:

Fixed maturities 6,932 7,323 4,401

Equity securities 53 106 285

Real estate 25 11 —

Other investments 655 1,460 1,111
Purchases of investments:

Fixed maturities (11,127) (14,719) (13,845)

Equity securities (95) (135) (83)

Real estate (38) (74) (75)

Other investments (667) (740) (705)
Net (purchases) sales of short-term securities (406) (562) (85)
Securities transactions in course of settlement (318) (123) 447
Other (45) (378) (325)
Example:

W. R. Grace & Co. is engaged in the production and sale of specialty chemicals and specialty
materials on a global basis through its two operating segments. Grace, along with 61 of its U.S.
subsidiaries and affiliates, filed voluntary petitions for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code and, since 2001, has been subject to the jurisdiction of the U.S. Bankruptcy
Court for the District of Delaware.

Grace terminated (surrender value) life insurance policies of its executives to raise cash.
One might argue that this is better represented as a financing activity. The proceeds were used
to fund the potentially large liabilities and awards related to asbestos claims against the company.

As we will see in a later chapter, lawsuits and the potential for large damage awards have a
vitriolic effect on the cost of capital. Shareholders of Grace can understand why this is so. Seen
below is the investment activities section taken from the W. R. Grace 2009 10K.
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2009 2008
Investing activities:
Capital expenditures (36.5) (58.7)
Proceeds from sales of investment securities 8.3 46.7
Purchases of equity investments (1.0) (3.0)
Proceeds from termination of life insurance policies 68.8 8.1
Net investment in life insurance policies (0.4) 0.1
Proceeds from disposals of assets 5.4 2.6
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities 44.6 (4.2)

Example:

Martek Biosciences Corporation develops nutritional products using microbes such as algae and
fungi. In its 2009 10K, the company capitalized a variety of expenses, including significant legal costs
(amortized over 5 years) and patent and interest expenses related to projects under construction.

The cash-flow analyst should view the capitalization of interest expenses no differently than
interest expense paid on debt running through the income statement. As such, capitalized inter-
est on plant and legal should have been included as operating activities, and to the extent they
are listed as an investing activity, operating cash flows are artificially boosted.

The decision as to whether or not to capitalize certain cash outflows allows wide manage-
ment discretion, potentially distorting peer comparability.

2009 2008 2007

Investing activities:

Sales and maturities of investments 200 8,475 6,850

Purchases of investments — (16,925) (275)

Expenditures for property, plant, and equipment (8,932) (9,785) (8,279)

Repurchase from sale-leaseback transaction and other — — (3,010)

Capitalization of intangible and other assets (18,535) (3,895) (6,010)
Net cash used in investing activities (27,267) (22,130) (10,724)

Example:

Jackson Hewitt Tax Service, Inc., provides computerized preparation of federal, state, and local
individual income tax returns in the United States through a nationwide network of franchised and
company-owned offices operating under the brand name Jackson Hewitt Tax Service. While the
company has had a history of adequate cash-flow generation, a caveat is detected in the invest-
ment activity section of its 2009 10K, “Funding provided to franchisees.” While Jackson Hewitt
reports on its balance sheet less than 5 percent of its shareholders’ equity in the form of notes
receivable, many companies, such as Krispy Kreme, have failed to do so owing to their financing
the operations of franchisees. Many franchisors have had to take back the retail locations of its
failed franchises having deficit cash flows, resulting in the firm having greater total operating
leases (debt) while absorbing much management time. Such companies include Burger King,
Midas, Sharper Image, and Nathan’s Famous.

As to be discussed in Chapter 8, Jackson Hewitt relied on a single bank lending program for
much of its cash flows. Such reliance on a customer or supplier for an important part of business




Statement of Cash Flows

success will raise risk (cost of equity capital). When that program was ended by its bank, shares
in Jackson Hewitt stock fell rather dramatically.

2009 2008 2007
Investing activities:
Capital expenditures (7,603) (6,441) (8,949)
Funding provided to franchisees (6,550) (9,364) (6,489)
Proceeds from repayments by franchisees 2,271 2,426 2,133
Cash paid for acquisitions (14,504) (17,669) (3,828)
Net cash used in investing activities (26,386) (31,048) (17,133)
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Example:

Cree, Inc., develops and manufactures semiconductor materials and devices based primarily on sil-
icon carbide, gallium nitride, and related compounds. There are several items of interest in the
investment activity section of its 2008 10K. As reported, Cree has been an active acquirer both of
capital and of intangible assets. The largest items in the section represent the purchase and sale of
fixed-income investments, which is common for entities that have either raised funds, sold assets,
or are steady free-cash-flow generators. As seen below, fewer of these investments matured during
the most recent fiscal year, which, relative to the prior year, was the difference in the investments
being able to provide cash for the company’s acquisitions. You also can see a $60 million payment
related to the acquisition of COTCO 2 years earlier. Cree achieved certain EBITA targets related to
the acquisition and was obligated to make the payment to the former shareholder. The cash pay-
ment represents an addition to the purchase price and a commensurate addition to goodwill on its
balance sheet and is an event the analyst should have been aware of. Analysts will model for any
such payments in their projected statement of cash flows, having been aware of deal terms.

2008 2007 2006

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment (55,283) (55,741) (82,604)
Purchase of Intrinsic Semiconductor Corporation,

net of cash acquired — — (43,850)
Purchase of COTCO Luminant Devices, Ltd., net

of cash acquired — — (79,289)
Purchase of LED Lighting Fixtures, Inc., net of

cash acquired — (7,180) —
Payment of COTCO contingent consideration (60,000) — —
Payment of LLF contingent consideration (4,386) — —
Purchase of investments (217,059) (413,735) (167,608)
Proceeds from maturities of investments 134,561 507,091 254,840
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 169 1,465 550
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale investments 35,815 17,000 26,646
Purchase of patent and licensing rights (8,660) (7,647) (6,399)

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (174,843) 41,253 (97,714)
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Example:

ConAgra Foods, Inc., is a leading food distributor. ConAgra has a strong business-to-business
presence, supplying potato, other vegetable, spice, and grain products to a variety of well-known
restaurants, food-service operators, and commercial customers. ConAgra, in its 2009 10K, reports
that it purchased businesses totaling $84 million that was financed in part by the sale of businesses
for which it accounted using the equity method. For 2008 and 2007, ConAgra also reports both the
purchase of and sale of leased warehouses. ConAgra leases warehouses for its manufacturing,
storage, and distribution operations. While, from the investing activity section, we see ConAgra has
not been successful in buying and selling warehouses, one would need to know the rental (and
tax) savings, if any, ConAgra was able to effect by owning those properties. One may question
whether the buying and selling of warehouses more appropriately might be suited as an operating
activity because there were quite a few transactions relating to the ongoing nature of those trans-
actions. Placing these transactions into operating activities would have reduced operating cash
flow and, in any event, requires further insight from the company related to this business strategy.

2009 2008 2007

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of marketable securities — (1,351.0) (4,075.5)
Sales of marketable securities — 1,352.0 4,078.4
Additions to property, plant, and equipment (441.9) (449.6) (386.1)
Purchase of leased warehouses — (39.2) (93.6)
Sale of leased warehouses — 35.6 91.6
Sale of investment in Swift note receivable — — 117.4
Sale of businesses and equity-method investments 29.7 — 73.6
Sale of property, plant, and equipment 271 30.0 74.3
Purchase of businesses and intangible assets (84.2) (255.2) —
Other items 1.9 1.5 11.2
Net cash flows from investing activities—continuing

operations (467.4) (675.9) (108.7)
Net cash flows from investing activities—discontinued

operations 2,258.6 32.1 631.6
Net cash flows from investing activities 1,791.2 (643.8) 522.9

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The FASB defines financing activities broadly as follows:

Financing activities include obtaining resources from owners and
providing them with a return on, and a return of, their investment;
borrowing money and repaying amounts borrowed, or otherwise
settling the obligation; and obtaining and paying for other resources
obtained from creditors on long-term credit [SFAS 95, para. 18].
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The FASB further clarifies the nature of cash inflows or cash outflows from
financing activities in the following manner:

Cash inflows from financing activities are
a. Proceeds from issuing equity instruments.

b. Proceeds from issuing bonds, mortgages, notes, and other short- or
long-term borrowing.

Cash outflows for financing activities are
a. Payments of dividends or other distributions to owners, including
b. Outlays to reacquire the enterprise’s equity instruments.
¢. Repayments of amounts borrowed.

d. Other principal payments to creditors who have extended long-
term credit [SFAS 95, paras. 19-20].

Financing activities are cash transactions that involve liabilities or share-
holders’ equity. The logic underlying the definition of financing activities seems
very clear: All the events that represent increases of internal or external capital
are financing cash flows, whereas events that represent decreases of internal or
external capital are disfinancing cash flows. Loosely speaking, internal capital is
capital invested by shareholders in the firm, whereas external capital represents
lending to the firm by creditors.

Cash flows from financing activities first should be segregated into cash
inflows and cash outflows from financing activities. The net cash flows from
financing activities will be determined by the net cash generated from operat-
ing activities minus the net cash used for investing activities minus the increase
in the cash balance. Thus, once the cash-flow analyst examines the cash gener-
ated from operations and cash investments, net cash financing is of little rele-
vance. However, the composition of net cash from financing activities is of
great relevance.

The most significant source of financing for most firms is borrowing. The
academic literature is unclear about the implications of debt financing. Debt
financing generally is considered favorable because interest on debt is tax
deductible; that is, no tax is due on profits paid to creditors. The same argument is
extended for return on invested capital; that is, return on invested capital is
enhanced through borrowing. However, a firm that is overly leveraged increases
the risk of bankruptcy and thus the expected costs of bankruptcy to shareholders,
including total loss of their investment. Since debt payments and interest cannot
be met from an accounting concept, I rely on the ability of the entity to produce
cash. To the extent that cash from operations and disinvesting activities is insuffi-
cient to satisfy obligations, financial officers will turn to financial activities.
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Many potential business acquisitions are approved or disapproved by the
ease with which the free cash flow of the new asset can pay down the incremen-
tal debt. To the extent that it takes longer to repay debt from cash flows, the attrac-
tiveness of the company to potential acquirers is mitigated.

Most firms have some optimal level of debt; increases beyond this level are
undesirable for the firm, whereas increases up to that point could be favorable.
Some fortunate firms are such strong cash-flow producers that investment oppor-
tunities are easily financed through internal operations. The cash-flow analyst may
wish to consider whether the firm’s increase in debt financing is favorable or not
depending on the analyst’s assessment of the optimal level of debt in relation to
the firm’s pro forma ability to meet scheduled debt payments from a conservative
cash-flow forecast. The cost of debt will also be compared to the expected after-
tax cash return (its free cash flow) of a particular project.

Another implication of debt financing is that current owners/shareholders of
the firm indicate that they wish to retain full ownership in the firm, possibly
because they perceive a high probability that the value of the firm will grow or the
current market value does not fully recognize the entity’s real value. Thus,
increases in debt financing or, at least, increases in debt financing that are not
accompanied by increases in equity financing may be perceived as favorable sig-
nals about the future prospects of a firm. However, increases in debt financing
may cause conflicts of interest between stockholders and bondholders, which, in
turn, may lead management to invest in suboptimal projects. This arises when
equity holders are beholden to creditors, and are in fact fearful a mis-step of an
investment would place bondholders in control through bankruptcy. Such conflicts
may lead to undesirable consequences or to wasted resources that are dedicated to
reducing this conflict. Thus, issuance of debt sometimes may be viewed nega-
tively by the cash-flow analyst.

One important asymmetry in the treatment of internal and external capital
under SFAS 95 should be highlighted at this point: Dividends paid to sharehold-
ers are classified as financing cash outflows because they represent disfinancing
events. However, payments of interest on a loan do not represent cash outflows
from financing activities; instead, as we shall see in the next section, they repre-
sent an operating cash outflow. This is an asymmetric treatment because both rep-
resent a return on capital to providers, and there should not be any distinction
between a return to creditors and a return to shareholders. The inclusion of inter-
est payments among operating cash flows will bias the concept of cash flows gen-
erated from ongoing operations and the concept of free cash flow as it is generally
defined. Therefore, interest, dividends, and tax cash flows that have been reported
as financing or investing activities may be moved to operating activities to avoid
distortion and improve comparability. On adjustment, misclassifications do not
affect the free-cash-flow definition I propose in Chapter 4, with further clarifica-
tion in Chapter 8 as to the cost-of-capital effect.
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Let me provide now examples of financing cash flows from the statement of
cash flows.

Example:

The following is taken from US Precious Metal’s, 2009 10K. It is an exploration-stage company
engaged in the acquisition, exploration, and development of mineral properties. The company
raised about $5.3 million in equity capital between 1998 and 2009. Unfortunately, its balance
sheet reveals deficit shareholders’ equity of $1.8 million as of May 2009 because it has not yet
recorded operating revenue. The company has exhausted its cash resources.

Year Ended Exploration Stage

May May Jan 1988-

2009 2008 May 2009
Financing activities:
Proceeds from sales of common stock 400,000 1,417,500 3,492,500
Proceeds from exercises of warrants 184,998 80,000 267,498
Proceeds from convertible notes 730,000 — 730,000
Loan from affiliated company — — 70,000
Repayment of loan to the affiliated company — — (68,000)
Cash provided by financing activities 1,314,998 1,497,500 4,491,998

Example:

Harris Corporation, together with its subsidiaries, is an international communications and infor-
mation technology company serving government and commercial markets in more than 150
countries. From its 2009 10K, we see that Harris assumed borrowings (net of $450 million) that
were used to finance $745 million in businesses acquired and $98.7 million for property, plant,
and equipment.

Harris also recorded a $5.6 million inflow in connection with the proceeds of employee stock
options. One might question whether this entry is more properly allocated as an operating activity
because it is related to salaries needed for the production process.

The management of Harris feels confident in its future prospects, having bought back
$132.3 million of its stock in the same year as the acquisition, of which over half was financed
with debt. Normally, if debt financing is needed to fund an acquisition, share buybacks should
not be undertaken. An exception would be if the entity is underlevered, the cash yield is low, and
the free cash flow resulting from the investment is relatively certain to improve return on invested
capital (ROIC).

You also can see that Harris made a $100 million payment to Harris Stratex Networks as
part of the spin-off of this division to its shareholders. A spin-off is the distribution of shares of
a company owned by the parent to shareholders. Companies may undertake a spin-off if they
feel that the value of the division is not being properly reflected in its current market value. Of
course, the parent also may attempt to sell the division, and if that is not successful, a spin-off
may be pursued.
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2009 2008 2007

Investing activities:
Cash paid for acquired businesses (745.3) (19.4) (404.6)
Cash received in the combination with Stratex

Networks, Inc. — — 33.1
Additions of property, plant, and equipment (98.7) (112.9) (88.8)
Additions of capitalized software (23.1) (33.3) (40.3)
Cash paid for short-term investments available

for sale (1.2) (9.3) (356.0)
Proceeds from the sale of short-term investments

available for sale 3.7 26.6 473.7
Proceeds from the sale of securities available

for sale — 13.7 —
Net cash used in investing activities (864.6) (134.6) (382.9)
Financing activities:
Proceeds from borrowings 531.8 460.5 442.0
Repayment of borrowings (81.4) (599.4) (39.3)
Payment of treasury lock — (8.8) —
Proceeds from exercise of employee stock options 5.6 45.2 35.7
Repurchases of common stock (132.3) (234.6) (251.3)
Cash dividends (106.6) (81.5) (58.2)
Cash decrease related to spin-off of Harris Stratex

Networks, Inc. (100.0) — —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 117.1 (418.6) 128.9
Example:

Kaman Corporation is in the aerospace and industrial distribution markets under four reporting
segments: aerostructures, precision products, helicopters, and specialty bearings. The windfall
profit tax benefits seen in the 2007—2009 financing activity section of its 2009 10K relate to the
tax savings resulting from the exercise of nonqualified stock options and disqualifying disposi-
tions of stock acquired by exercise of incentive stock options and employee stock purchase plan
stock purchases in excess of the deferred tax asset originally recorded. A windfall tax benefit is
created if the deduction for tax purposes exceeds the compensation cost recognized in the
income statement. These benefits are reflected under financial activities under FAS 1239(R).
Since normally stock compensation is an operating activity, it may be preferable to adjust these
benefits to that section because the reporting under financing activity may understate cash flow
from operations.

You also will see a book overdraft increase of $5 million. Book overdraft positions occur when
total outstanding issued checks exceed available cash balances.
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2009 2008 2007

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net borrowings (repayments) under revolving

credit agreements 31,636 (45,286) 11,735
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 50,000 — —
Debt repayment — (1,722) (1,821)
Net change in book overdraft 5,003 (4,613) 4,872
Proceeds from exercise of employee stock plans 3,616 5,256 3,238
Dividends paid (14,181) (12,552) (12,002)
Debt issuance costs (645) (150) —
Windfall tax benefit 349 1,171 378
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Example:

Briggs & Stratton is the world’s largest producer of air-cooled gasoline engines for outdoor power
equipment. Reproduced below is the financial activity section from its 2009 10K. The section is
fairly straightforward, with cash outlays of approximately $137 million for dividends and repayment
of principal on debt. You also will see $991,000 in proceeds from stock options and their related
tax benefit. Companies receive an expense deduction on their tax returns that is equal to the mar-
ket price of the shares less the exercise price of the option. | will discuss this at greater length in
the following two examples.

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net (repayments) borrowings on loans,

notes payable, and long-term debt (92,883) 74,118 8,481 (8,778) (19,062)
Issuance cost of amended revolver (1,286) — — —  (1,286)
Cash dividends paid (43,560) — — — (43,560)
Capital contributions received — 383 5,638 (6,021) —
Stock option exercise proceeds and

tax benefits 991 — — — 991
Net cash provided (used) by financing

activities (136,738) 74,501 14,119 (14,799) (62,917)
Example:

The operating and financing activities sections from The Dress Barn’s 2009 10K illustrate the
reporting of excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation, which, as we have seen, is a
commonly used method of cash salary savings and motivation incentive. The basis for recogniz-
ing the issuance of stock options as an expense is the value attached to these instruments to both
employers and employees. Many employees accept a lower cash salary in return for stock
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options, perceiving future stock value in excess of forgone cash compensation. The employer also
benefits by preserving cash or using that capital in other areas.

Accounting rules require that excess tax benefits be reported as a financing cash flow rather
than a reduction of taxes paid. The income tax effect is related to the expense portion of the stock
option transaction and, accordingly, is classified as an operating activity.

Note that in The Dress Barn’s statement of cash flows, financing activities, excess tax benefit
is the same as found under operating activities but in a different direction (the excess tax benefit is
negative under operating activities and positive in financing activities). The cash tax benefit from
stock-based compensation typically will be split between operating cash flows and financing cash
flows. The “excess” is the difference between what the company estimated and the actual tax
benefit. For example, if the firm underbooked, the excess will be positive and is reported in cash flow
from financing activities. Hence, for The Dress Barn, the company is moving the excess benefit from
an operating activity to a financial activity while continuing to show stock-based compensation
expense as an operating activity.

The employer generally is eligible for a tax deduction equal to the full amount of the stock
when the employee vests in the restricted stock or the intrinsic value of the stock when the option
is exercised. Firms that trade at higher valuation multiples will be accorded a greater tax savings.
Under SFAS 123(R), for book purposes, a company generally measures the cost of employee
services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair
value of the award. Fair value normally is determined using a Black-Scholes option-valuation
model. That cost is amortized over the vesting period. When a restricted stock vests or a nonqual-
ified option is exercised, the amount of the employer’s corporate tax deduction is fixed. At that
time, it is evident whether the amount deductible on the tax return is greater or less than the
cumulative compensation cost amortized over the vesting period. Excess tax benefits, if any, are
credited to additional paid-in capital.

Does stock-based compensation artificially boost cash flow from operations? In almost
all cases, the answer is yes because although the stock represents real value, to the extent
that a peer pays its employees all cash-based compensation, it distorts comparability.
However, to deduct the amount ($6.577 million for The Dress Barn) would result in lower cash
flows than actually occurred, with no future cash outlay required, as would be the case of
underfunding a pension plan. The cost to existing and future shareholders is that the value of
their equity investment is potentially diluted; thus we would not subtract stock-based compen-
sation from the stated cash flow from operations. Creditors, on the other hand, would welcome
share-based compensation because it leaves added cash that could be used to enhance
repayment prospects.

Reported under financing activities, The Dress Barn received cash from executives exercis-
ing stock options of $2.65 million. The company also shows the tax savings owing to the deductibil-
ity of value of its stock on its tax return. One might question whether the tax savings also should
be placed under operating activities owing to their relationship to salaries. You also will see under
financing activities the cash from employees to purchase company stock. Again, one might ques-
tion whether this is really compensation and should be placed as an operating activity, based on
its fair value. In my model, | do not make such an adjustment because, unlike an underfunded pen-
sion plan, the entity is under no obligation to change its method of compensation. If its stock price
fell so low that employees demanded cash in lieu of future stock benefits, the direct impact on cash
flow from operations could be substantial. Also, a potential acquirer would need to make a similar
analysis to adjust for realistic operating and free cash flow had cash compensation been required.

Getting back to the question of the two companies, one that pays its employees all cash
compensation and the other that pays partly in stock, the latter entity would reflect higher operat-
ing cash flows. This is why we need to look at cash-flow multiples because that added cost of
share-based compensation presumably will convert into additional shares, diluting the existing
shareholder population.

Firms normally will attempt to offset the dilution of stock issuance, and in those instances,
the economic cost is clear. The Dress Barn, in fact, has been an active acquirer of its shares.
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Amounts in Thousands

Fiscal Year Ended

July 25, July 26, July 28,
2009 2008 2007

Operating activities:
Net earnings

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Impairments and asset disposals

Deferred taxes

Deferred rent and other occupancy costs

Share-based compensation

Tax benefit on exercise of unqualified stock options

Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation

Amortization of debt issuance cost

Amortization of bond premium cost

Change in cash surrender value of life insurance

Realized loss on sales of securities

Gift card breakage

Other

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Merchandise inventories

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Other assets

Accounts payable

Accrued salaries, wages, and related expenses

Other accrued expenses

Customer credits

Income taxes payable

Deferred rent and lease incentives

Deferred compensation and other long-term liabilities

Total adjustments

Net cash provided by operating activities
Financing activities:

Payment of long-term debt

Purchase of treasury stock

Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan

Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation
Proceeds from stock options exercised

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

Source: The Dress Barn, 2009 10K.

$69,688 $74,088  $101,182

48,535 48,200 45,791
8,291 4,110 2,363
2,981 9,999 (1,533)
(4,120) (4,606) (4,520)
6,577 6,612 6,307
— — 5,863
(863) (383) (5,721)
353 366 372
624 415 108
907 732 (441)
153 304 215
(1,788) (2,184) (3,724)
18 1,307 (354)
(6,574) 10,160  (26,656)
1,782 (7,084) 2,171
(313) 378 450
17,856  (12,718) 12,604
4,182 (2,128) 4,358
227 (96) 7,313
965 1,865 2,605
13,785 1,642 (8,839)
9,901 13,157 10,028
(476) 1,319 5,290

103,003 71,367 54,050

172,691 145,455 155,232

(1,298) (1,211) (1,148)
(4,657)  (40,179) (8,090)
238 277 299
863 383 5,721
2,657 1,615 6,511
(2,197)  (39,115) 3,293
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Example:

The cost of stock-based compensation is clearly measurable for Oracle Corporation. Management
wrote in its 2009 10K, “We repurchased 225.6 million shares for $4.0 billion, 97.3 million shares for
$2.0 billion, and 233.5 million shares for $4.0 billion in fiscal 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively.”

From the cover page of its 10K, Oracle reports the following number of outstanding common
shares at the end of their past 4 fiscal years, as well as shares purchased:

Fiscal Year End Shares Outstanding Shares Purchased (million)
May 2009 5,007,230 225.6

May 2008 5,155,842 97.3

May 2007 5,113,035 233.5

May 2006 5,238,329

While Oracle was active acquiring other entities over the time period shown, the company
did so for cash. You can see, then, that Oracle paid $10 billion to acquire 556.6 million shares,
even though its total share count was reduced by just 231,000 shares. It is here that the primary
(exclusive of tax) cost of stock-based compensation is seen.

Figure 3-1 shows the marked gap of SGA/sales for Oracle and SAP, its chief rival, reflecting
the bias from the stock-based compensation costs. It is in the SG&A that most of the savings from
stock-based compensation would be captured. SAP reports a small fraction of stock-based com-
pensation compared with Oracle. The cost of the large stock-based compensation program is not
captured in Oracle’s income statement, distorting many of its GAAP-based metrics and allowing
it to report higher GAAP-based measures. The true effect is reflected after considering the cost
of the acquired shares. Of course, there is no requirement that Oracle do this, but given its his-
tory, it should be considered in cash-flow forecasts.

FIGURE 3-1

Oracle Corp. versus SAP Corp. SG&A/Sales, 2004-2009
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Example:

Trinity Industries, Inc., is a large manufacturer of heavy metal products such as railcars, marine
products, and containers; it also has a leasing subsidiary. In its statement of cash flows, Trinity
separates its capital spending from its leasing operation from that of its manufacturing operation.
It is imperative that an investor or creditor review and analyze the statement of cash flows for
Trinity’s leasing operation, which it files (with the Securities and Exchange Commission) sepa-
rately. For the operating company to receive cash flows from the leasing company, certain excess
cash flows and fixed-charge coverage ratios must be met. Otherwise, as we read next, the oper-
ating company is required to send cash to the subsidiary, which could well result in a cash strain
and an increase in leverage.

The investment activities sections for Trinity and its leasing division are closely intertwined.
For example, Trinity (the operating company) historically has entered into agreements (the “Fixed
charges coverage agreement”) with the leasing subsidiary whereby Trinity is obligated, as stated
in the agreement, to make such payments to the subsidiary as may be required to maintain “the
Registrant’s” (the leasing subsidiary) net earnings available for fixed charges (as defined) at an
amount equal to but not less than one and one-half times the fixed charges (as defined) of the
subsidiary. These fixed-charge coverage agreements terminate in accordance with their terms at
such time as all amounts payable by the subsidiary under the equipment trust certificates® have
been paid in full, and the subsidiary shall have delivered a certificate to its CPAs demonstrating
that net earnings available for fixed charges, without considering any payments by Trinity, have
not been less than one and one-half times the fixed charges in each of the five most recently com-
pleted fiscal years, provided that the subsidiary and Trinity agree in connection with “Future
financing agreements” to maintain the fixed-charges coverage agreement in force and in effect
during the term of such “Future financing agreements.”

Certain ratios and cash deposits must be maintained by the leasing group’s subsidiaries in
order for excess cash flow, as defined in the agreements, from the leasing group to third parties
to be available to Trinity.

TRINITY INDUSTRIES, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (IN MILLIONS)

Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Operating activities:
Net income $285.8 $293.1 $230.1
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by continuing operating activities:
Loss (gain) from discontinued operations,

including gain on sale 15 0.7 (14.6)
Depreciation and amortization 140.3 118.9 87.6
Stock-based compensation expense 18.7 18.6 14.0
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation (0.9) (4.0) (7.6)
Provision for deferred income taxes 251.3 59.3 75.5

(Continued)

5 An equipment trust certificate is used as a financing method by transportation companies. It is basi-
cally a bond, the proceeds of which are used to purchase the railcars, with the maturity reflecting
the useful life of the asset.
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Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Gain on disposition of property, plant, equipment,

and other assets (10.5) (17.0) (13.5)
Other (26.5) (45.7) (26.6)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in receivables 43.4 (45.7) (33.8)
(Increase) decrease in inventories (25.8) (50.9) (124.0)
(Increase) decrease in other assets (138.0) (53.2) (78.7)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and

accrued liabilities (128.3) 87.2 5.2
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities 6.9 (16.7) (0.2)
Net cash provided by operating

activities—continuing operations 417.9 344.6 113.4
Net cash (required) provided by operating

activities—discontinued operations 1.3 (0.1) 17.4
Net cash provided by operating activities 419.2 344.5 130.8
Investing activities:
Proceeds from sales of railcars from our leased fleet 2221 359.3 88.8
Proceeds from disposition of property, plant,

equipment, and other assets 20.8 51.0 20.0
Capital expenditures—lease subsidiary (1,110.8) (705.4) (543.6)
Capital expenditures—manufacturing and other (132.3) (188.7) (117.5)
Payment for purchase of acquisitions,

net of cash acquired — (51.0) (3.5)
Net cash required by investing

activities—continuing operations (1,000.2) (534.8) (555.8)
Net cash provided by investing

activities—discontinued operations — — 82.9
Net cash required by investing activities (1,000.2) (534.8) (472.9)
Financing activities:
Issuance of common stock, net 3.1 12.2 18.1
Excess tax benefits from

stock-based compensation 0.9 4.0 7.6
Payments to retire debt (390.8) (129.5) (410.2)
Proceeds from issuance of debt 922.5 304.8 920.1
Stock repurchases (58.3) (2.9) —
Dividends paid to common shareholders (24.2) (20.2) (16.3)
Dividends paid to preferred shareholders — — (1.7)
Net cash provided by financing activities 453.2 168.4 517.6
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (127.8) (21.9) 175.5
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 289.6 311.5 136.0
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $161.8 $289.6 $311.5




Statement of Cash Flows

77

Example:

Union Tank Corp. is engaged in the manufacture and leasing of railway tank cars. The company
engages in sale-leaseback transactions in which railcars are sold by the company to outside
investors and then leased back to customers under operating leases. There are several interest-
ing facets to Union Tank Corp. All the company’s stock is owned privately, with Berkshire
Hathaway the majority owner. The company files with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) because of debt that is publicly held.

A captive finance operation is meant to facilitate the firm’s marketing efforts. It does this by
providing the financing by issuing loans or leases to the dealers and customers. From an analytic
viewpoint, it is necessary to analyze both entities, the operating and financing companies sepa-
rately and together, as presented in the consolidated statements. The captive can be structured
as a legally separate subsidiary or as a distinct operating division. It can provide the operating, or
parent company with a valuable asset that could be monetized or, if liberal in its credit policy along
with a weak financial structure, an investment that can bring down the entire organization.

Changes in interest rates also could affect the operating company if they affect product
demand or client finances, loans are guaranteed, or variable-rate debt is not hedged. For these
reasons, the credit and cash flows of the financial subsidiary must be reviewed separately, includ-
ing loan covenants and cross-guarantees.

Viewed under financing activities for Union Tank are borrowings from the privately held par-
ent for the construction of railcars. Union Tank is well financed, having $1.3 billion in equity. The
majority of the debt owed to the parent is for the manufacture of railcars, which Union then places
under lease. The lessees have easily covered these fixed obligations, even under the strain of the
2007-2009 recession; the company’s clients have, according to Union Tank’s financial state-
ments, a very low default rate because the company’s credit standards are high, selling primarily
to investment-grade customers having stable cash flows. Equipment-leasing cash flows are also
shown in the table. As with all financial filings, a complete reading of the submission, including the
management discussion and analysis, is vital.

As seen for Trinity Industries and other entities with leasing divisions, it is necessary to ana-
lyze the leasing component separately from the operating company because the leasing entity
exhibits separate and distinct operating and free-cash-flow characteristics. Leasing affiliates are
dependent on the financial health of the parent for its success, as is Union Tank on its parent com-
pany, the financially strong Berkshire Hathaway. It is also important to understand who its clients are
for the products out on lease because, if they were to experience cash-flow strains, the ability of the
lessor to service its debt would be compromised. Additionally, the more costly the leased product,
such as railcars, the more important it is to understand the financial condition of the lessees. It is
essential, when analyzing the operating cash flows of an entity such as Union Tank, to understand
the current market values of its products. For instance, in the 2007—2009 period, Union Tank suf-
fered $60 million in asset write-downs from cars coming off lease. If, on the other hand, Union Tank
was in a period of strong demand for its equipment, the company would have the option of reselling
the equipment for large gains or putting the equipment back out on lease for higher lease payments.

2007 2006 2005
Cash flows from financing activities:
Increase in advances from parent and affiliates 526,924 465,083 —
Proceeds from issuance of debt — — 312,121
Principal payments of debt (216,058) (85,143) (40,583)
Cash dividends (165,000)  (137,000)  (140,000)

Net cash provided by financing activities 145,866 242,940 131,53
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The following table presents the scheduled cash inflows and outflows for the railcar
and intermodal tank container leasing businesses over the next 5 years based on leases and
equipment-related indebtedness outstanding as of December 31, 2007.

(Dollars in Millions)

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Equipment leasing cash inflows

Minimum future lease rentals $589.8  $479.1  $367.2  $248.7 $155.5
Equipment leasing cash outflows
Minimum future lease payments 40.7 37.6 39.9 42.8 56.0
Principal and interest amount of

obligations 173.2 259.9 216.1 108.0 103.5

Excess (deficit) of inflows over outflows  $375.9 $181.6  $111.2 $97.9 $(4.0)

Lease Commitments

Operating Leases

Sale-Leaseback Others Total

2008 $38,413 $7,485 $45,898
2009 35,412 6,449 41,861
2010 37,758 5,757 43,515
2011 40,753 4,859 45,612
2012 53,956 4,879 58,835
2013 and thereafter 88,231 14,244 102,475

$294,523 $43,673 $338,196

Source: Union Tank Corp. 2009 10K.

Example:

Beacon Enterprise Solutions Group, Inc. (and subsidiaries) is a provider of global, international,
and regional telecommunications and technology systems. Its 2009 10K illustrates a number of
transactions, culminating in the company’s $4.3 million preferred offering. As shown by the differ-
ence between proceeds and repayment amounts, the company’s investment bankers and
investors in the prefinancings did well. Beacon sold several issues via a private placement with
yields of 12 percent plus issuance of warrants. During the year, the company borrowed $400,000
and repaid $450,000 on its line of credit. The cost of capital is onerous for entities with a history
of operating losses and deficit net worth, such as Beacon, which paid very large fees to investors
to lure investor interest.
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2009 2008

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuances of convertible notes 500,000
Proceeds from issuances of bridge notes and other short-term notes 422,000 700,000
Proceeds from sale of preferred stock, net of offering costs 4,276,460 —
Proceeds from sale of common stock, net of offering costs 1,035,216 4,346,672
Proceeds from lines of credit 400,000 343,000
Proceeds from note payable 600,000 —
Payment of note offering costs (75,000)
Repayment of line of credit (450,000)  (393,000)
Repayment of convertible notes (202,001)
Payments of notes payable (985,514)  (534,389)
Payments of capital lease obligations (13,562) (11,928)
Net cash provided by financing activities 5,284,600 4,673,354
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Example:

Tucson Electric is an electric utility company owned by Unisource, Inc. The following example,
from its 2009 10K, illustrates the reporting of capital lease obligations in the statement of cash
flows. GAAP requires recording the reduction in the lease obligation as a financing activity,
whereas the interest portion must be reported as an operating activity. For operating lease obli-
gations, the payment is recorded in its entirety as an operating activity. Therefore, capital leases
for the identical asset and under similar monthly payment (term of lease may differ) will allow the
entity to report higher operating cash flows.

When a lessor enters into an operating lease, payments received are recorded as operating
activities, and if it enters into a capital lease, it classifies any cash paid to purchase that asset that
is subsequently leased out as an investment activity.

2009 2008 2007

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt — 220,745 —
Proceeds from borrowings under revolving credit facility 171,000 170,000 160,000
Repayments of borrowings under revolving credit facility (146,000) (170,000) (180,000)

Payments of capital lease obligations (24,091) (74,228) (71,464)
Repayments of long-term debt — (10,000) —
Dividends paid to UniSource Energy (60,000) (2,500) (53,000)
Equity investment from UniSource Energy 30,000 — 18,000
Other cash receipts 2,447 1,237 7,795
Payment of debt issue/retirement costs (1,329) (3,120) (451)
Other cash payments (1,347) (3,421) (968)

Net cash flows—financing activities (29,320) 128,713 (120,088)
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

The FASB defined cash flows from operating activities as “all transactions and
other events that are not defined as investing or financing activities.” It broadly
explained that “operating activities generally involve producing and delivering
goods and providing services. Cash flows from operating activities are generally
the cash effect of transactions and other events that enter into the determination of
net income” (SFAS 95, para. 21). The FASB provided a list of specific cash flows
from operations:

a. Cash receipts from sales of goods or services, including receipts
from collection or sale of accounts and both short- and long-term
notes receivable from customers arising from those sales.

b. Cash receipts from returns on loans, other debt instruments of other
entities, and equity securities—interest and dividends.

c. All other cash receipts that do not stem from transactions defined as
investing or financing activities, such as amounts received to settle
lawsuits; proceeds of insurance settlements except for those that are
directly related to investing or financing activities such as from
destruction of a building; and refunds from suppliers [SFAS 95, para 22].

It further described cash outflows for operating activities as

a. Cash payments to acquire materials for manufacture or goods for
resale, including principal payments on accounts and both short- and
long-term notes payable to suppliers for those materials or goods.

b. Cash payments to other suppliers and employees for other goods or
services.

c. Cash payments to governments for taxes, duties, fines, and other
frees or penalties.

d. Cash payments to lenders and other creditors for interest.

e. All other cash payments that do not stem from transactions defined
as investing or financing activities, such as payments to settle
lawsuits, cash contributions to charities, and cash refunds to
customers [SFAS 95, para 23].5

6 There are other cash outflows that should be noted here. For example, there is a 20 percent excise
tax when severance pay totals more than three times an executive’s average income —including all
forms of compensation-over the prior five years. Since outstanding options normally vest upon sev-
erance, the tax almost always kicks in. Also, so called “gross-ups,” whereby the firm pays the exec-
utives income taxes, whether due to severance, a bonus, or a merger, can be very costly.
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Clearly, the FASB treated cash flows from operations as the “residual” cash
flow; it consists of all events that are not classified as either investing or financing
activities. For many firms, the net cash flow from operating activities is likely to
contain special items that are not easily assignable to investing or financing cash
flows and that may not recur in the future, such as the settlement of a law suit. Thus
the analyst ideally should separate the nonrecurring and special items from other
operating cash flows. However, this is not easily done in practice because most firms
follow the indirect approach to disclosing the cash flows from operating activities.

As noted, repayments under capital leases are treated as a financing activity,
and the payment for interest under the same lease is estimated and is included as
an operating activity. It would be more appropriate if the entire payment were
placed under financing activities.

Assets that are sold at a gain can distort operating cash flows because the tax
implications are listed as an operating activity, whereas the gain related to the sale
is placed as an investing activity. A more proper placement would be to place both,
as separate items, under investing activities.

In reporting cash flows from operating activities, enterprises are encouraged
to report major classes of gross cash payments and their arithmetic sum—the net
cash flow from operating activities (the direct method). Enterprises that do so
should, at minimum, report the following classes of operating cash receipts and
payments separately:

Cash collected from customers, including lessees, licensees, and the like
Interest and dividends received
Other operating cash receipts, if any

EalR i S A

Cash paid to employees and other suppliers of goods or services,
including suppliers of insurance, advertising, and the like

4

Interest paid
6. Income taxes paid
7. Other operating cash payments, if any

Additionally, for some items, such as postretirement benefits and asset retire-
ment obligations, we include the (net) cost for the period rather than actual cash
outflows in order to separate what we view as financing of these obligations from
the operating-cost component. If the company is funding postretirement obliga-
tions at a level substantially below its net expense (service cost and net interest
cost), this is equivalent to borrowing, which bolsters reported cash flow from
operating activities.

Enterprises are encouraged to provide further breakdowns of operating cash
receipts and payments that they consider meaningful and feasible. For example,
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a retailer or manufacturer might decide to further divide cash paid to employees
and suppliers (category 4 above) into payments for costs of inventory and pay-
ments for selling, general, and administrative expenses (SFAS 95, para. 27).

Net cash flow from operating activities indicates the amount of cash that the
firm was able to generate from (or needed to spend on) its ongoing business activ-
ities. Ideally, a firm should be able to generate cash from its business activities in
every period because operating cash flows are prior to debt repayment and capital
spending. However, in reality, many financially healthy firms generate cash from
their business activities in most periods but spend more cash on their business
activities than they receive from customers in some periods. Also, a firm may be in
the development stage of its business. It may invest in developing its products or in
setting up production facilities and distribution channels (investment activities),
whereas larger cash receipts from customers are expected to occur only in the
future. Another example is a seasonal business that invests in setting up inventories
during one or two quarters, whereas most sales are made during other quarters
(such as during the holiday season). Operating cash flows are likely to be negative
during the quarters when inventories are built but positive in quarters when inven-
tories are sold.

For some periods, and for some firms, a negative net cash flow from opera-
tions is acceptable, such as a manufacturer that works on long-term contracts
(a shipbuilder) and must retool and build inventories during the initial stages of
production. However, in the majority of cases, a positive net cash flow from busi-
ness activities is expected. A business that spends more cash on its ongoing activ-
ities than it generates has to finance these activities somehow. It can just use up its
cash reserves, it can borrow additional cash, it can raise additional equity, or it can
liquidate investments or fixed assets. But none of these options can be sustained
for prolonged periods. For example, it is unlikely that creditors will keep lending
to a business that continuously does not generate an acceptable level of cash from
its operations, resulting in a low ROIC. Similarly, liquidation of necessary assets
may reduce the chances of generating cash flows from operations in the future.
Thus continuous negative cash flows from operating activities (which are unre-
lated to a seasonal business or the operating cycle of the business) should be
examined carefully by the cash-flow analyst.

In addition to net cash flows from operating activities, one should examine
the components of cash flows. Actual cash inflows begin with the collection of
cash from accounts receivable. The ease with which the entity collects its accounts
receivable is an important determinant of its financial flexibility. Improvements in
the collection period begin at the credit approval. For small, unknown, or startup
entities, a greater degree of due diligence by the credit analyst is needed to
enhance operating cash flows. We shortly discuss the credit process.
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Reductions in accounts receivable, next to planned reductions in inventory,
are the most sought-after ways to manage operating cash flow. Faster collection
periods, made possible by improved credit-analysis software that enables the
firm’s credit analyst to review prospective and existing accounts, has improved the
operating-cash-flow cycle. Additionally, the conservative use of customer credits
and discounts has helped to improve the flow of collections.

TABLE 3-1

Largest Producers of Operating Cash Flow, 2008 ($000)

Company Name Operating Cash Flow ($000)
AT&T, Inc. 33,656
BHP Billiton Group (AUS), ADR 18,159
BHP Billiton Group (GBR), ADR 18,159
BP PLC, ADR 38,095
Canadian Natural Resources 8,283
Chesapeake Energy Corp. 5,236
Chevron Corp. 29,632
China Mobile, Ltd., ADR 28,384
China Petroleum & Chem., ADR 9,925
China Telecom. Corp., Ltd., ADR 11,250
China Unicom (Hong Kong), ADR 8,403
ConocoPhillips 22,658
Daimler AG 4,461
Deutsche Telekom AG, ADR 21,391
Devon Energy Corp. 9,408
E.ON AG, ADR 9,400
Encana Corp. 8,855
ENEL Spa, ADR 14,629
ENI SPA -ADR 30,343
Exxon Mobil Corp. 59,725
Ford Motor Credit Co., LLC 9,128
France Telecom, ADR 20,877
Gazprom O A O, ADR 24,419
General Electric Cap. Corp. 31,262
General Electric Co. 48,601
GMAC, LLC 14,095
Hertz Global Holdings, Inc. 2,096
Honda Motor Co., Ltd., ADR 3,869
Lukoil Oil Co, ADR 14,312
Marathon Oil Corp. 6,782

(Continued)
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TA BLE 3-1 (Continued)

Largest Producers of Operating Cash Flow, 2008 ($000)

Company Name Operating Cash Flow ($000)
Nippon Telegraph & Telephone, ADR 25,357
Nissan Motor Co., Ltd., ADR 13,443
ORIX Corp., ADR 3,143
Petrobras Brasileiro, ADR 28,220
Petrochina Co., Ltd., ADR 24,992
Repsol YPF SA, ADR 8,341
Rio Tinto Group (AUS), ADR 14,883
Rio Tinto Group (GBR), ADR 14,883
Royal Dutch Shell, PLC, ADR 43,918
Statoilhydro ASA, ADR 14,699
Telefonica SA, ADR 22,780
Total SA, ADR 25,985
Toyota Motor Corp., ADR 15,035
Vale SA, ADR 14,137
Verizon Communications, Inc. 26,620
Vodafone Group, PLC, ADR 17,465
Volkswagen AG, ADR 22,925
Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. 23,147
XTO Energy, Inc. 5,235

DIRECT METHOD

The FASB has provided firms with the option of reporting cash flows from oper-
ations using the direct or the indirect method, although the accounting rule maker
has clearly advocated a preference for the clarity of the direct method. A joint task
force between FASB and the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
also has advocated a preference for the direct method and has urged companies
to switch to the direct method. The cost of preparing under the direct method
has resulted in very few companies preparing under the preferred method. Also,
perhaps, some entities do not want to reveal the information the direct method
provides, although the analyst can estimate such a report, as we will see.

Under the direct method, the main categories of operating cash flows
reported in the statement are very similar to how the small local business would
evaluate them: cash collections from customers minus payments to suppliers. The
basis for the direct method is the simple identity

Net income = revenues — expenses
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We can examine individual revenues and expenses and exclude those which
are noncash revenues or expenses, as well as those which are not due to operating
events. For example, a firm may record income from unconsolidated subsidiaries
that is carried on the balance sheet using the equity method. This income is
included in net income but is a noncash event if cash dividends are not paid by the
subsidiary. Similarly, suppose that the firm sold some old property, plant, and
equipment (PPE) at a gain. This gain is included in net income but reflects an
investing cash flow and not an operating cash flow. You also will see how entities
book hedging gains into net income, which are reversed in the operating cash flow
section because those too are noncash events.

Examples of noncash expenses include depreciation and deferred taxes. Thus
we can rewrite the accounting identity as

Net income = CR + NCR — (CE + NCE)

where

CR=cash revenues from operating activities
NCR=noncash revenues or nonoperating cash flows
CE=cash expenses from operating activities

NCE=noncash expenses or nonoperating expenses (which are included
among expenses)

Simple algebra yields
CR — CE = net income + NCE — NCR

By definition, CR — CE is identical to the cash from operating activities. It can be
derived by adjusting net income for revenues and expense events that are either non-
cash or nonoperating cash flows. In particular, we add noncash (or nonoperating)
expenses because they were subtracted from income to derive net income and
subtract noncash (or nonoperating) revenues because they were added to income in
deriving net income.

The FASB’s encouragement to use the direct approach in reporting operat-
ing cash flows has not met with success. This is unfortunate because a more
logical starting point is that of cash collections from customers rather than a rec-
onciliation beginning with net income. Perhaps the reluctance is because the
FASB requires firms that use the direct method to add a schedule that reconciles
net income with operating cash flow. Thus, when a firm adopts the direct method
for reporting operating cash flows from operating activities, it has to supply a/l
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the information that is required from a firm that uses the indirect method, but in
addition, it has to supply information about the major components of operating
cash flows. Obviously, reasonable managers will opt to minimize their exposure
to costly additional disclosure and mostly will use the indirect method for
reporting.

An analyst can create a direct-method worksheet by using the balance-sheet
changes and the income statement, if so desired. Creating a worksheet using the
direct method may not be precisely comparable with that of a company reporting
under the indirect format for several reasons. For example, the change in accounts
receivable may not match the statement of cash flows where the indirect method
is used if some of the company’s receivables are caused by the sale of fixed assets;
these receivables should not be considered as a change in operating cash flows
because these receivables are related to disinvesting cash flows. Accordingly,
a discrepancy in other balance-sheet items may not be due to operating activities
but rather to investing or financial activities. It is prudent for the analyst, nonethe-
less, to review changes in the balance-sheet items to see how those differences
compare with the changes as listed in the statement of cash flows under the indi-
rect method.

Next, I show a template for estimating cash flow from operations for
a company that reports under the direct method, Nu Horizons Electronics.” One
might ask why it is necessary to construct a direct-method approach if basic
cash-flow information is already given under the indirect method. To begin, it is
important to know how to do this because often, when an entity releases prelim-
inary financial results, it does not provide a statement of cash flows (merely an
income statement and balance sheet), so even if one is constructed based on
a lack of complete data, it will provide very useful information other investors
do not have; it will show how the company is collecting cash, where it is com-
ing from, its magnitude, and where it is being spent. The analyst will be able to
compute the approximate cash burn or free cash flow that took place during the
reporting period. Also, during interim periods, the entity often reports a limited
statement of cash flows. We see this for Berkshire Hathaway, which reported
cash flow from operating activities as a single-line entry. Additionally, a direct-
method approach is a more natural method —cash in and cash out. For instance,
isn’t a line entry for taxes paid as part of operating activities more reflective of
cash flows than deferred taxes? Compare the two formats using Nu Horizons
with others in this book.

7The 2009 10K for Nu Horizons Electronics Corp. may be found on Edgar at www.sec.gov/
Archives/edgar/data/718074/000114420409022970/v147330_10-k.htm.
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NU HORIZONS ELECTRONICS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended

February 28, February 29, February 28,
2009 2008 2007

(As restated)

Increase (decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents:

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash received from customers $789,991,000 $716,847,000 $722,922,000
Cash paid to suppliers

and employees (728,820,000) (732,359,000) (700,393,000)
Interest paid (3,035,000) (4,500,000) (4,129,000)
Interest received 100,000 241,000 580,000
Income taxes paid (2,148,000) (11,191,000) (2,701,000)
Net cash provided by (used in)

operating activities 56,088,000 (30,962,000) 16,279,000
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (2,186,000) (2,808,000) (1,069,000)
Acquisition payment DT Electronics (3,410,000) (1,744,000) (6,098,000)
Acquisition of Dacom-Sud

Electronic Vertriebs GmbH — (2,593,000) —
Acquisition payment C—88 (4,042,000) — —
Net cash (used in)

investing activities (9,638,000) (7,145,000) (7,167,000)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings under revolving credit line 298,720,000 317,605,000 214,933,000
Repayments under revolving

credit line (345,223,000) (280,029,000) (236,305,000)
Proceeds from exercise of

stock options 355,000 210,000 2,726,000
Realized tax benefit of

compensation expense (5,000) — 1,413,000
Proceeds from settlement of

subordinated note —_ — 2,000,000
Net cash (used in) provided

by financing activities (46,153,000) 37,786,000 (15,233,000)
Effect of exchange-rate changes 610,000 (540,000) (5,000)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and

cash equivalents 907,000 (861,000) (6,126,000)
Cash and cash equivalents,

beginning of year 3,886,000 4,747,000 10,873,000

Cash and cash equivalents,
end of year $4,793,000 $3,886,000 $4,747,00
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NU HORIZONS ELECTRONICS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Years Ended

February 28, February 29, February 28,
2009 2008 2007

(As restated)

Net sales $750,954,000 $747,170,000 $668,591,000
Costs and expenses:
Cost of sales 637,261,000 626,771,000 554,266,000
Selling, general and

administrative expenses 113,010,000 112,473,000 94,891,000
Goodwill impairment charge 7,443,000 — —

757,714,000 739,244,000 649,157,000

Operating income (loss) (6,760,000) 7,926,000 19,434,000

Other (income) expense:

Interest expense 3,141,000 4,570,000 3,850,000

Interest income (100,000) (241,000) (580,000)
3,041,000 4,329,000 3,270,000

Income (loss) before provision
(benefit) for income taxes and

minority interests: (9,801,000) 3,597,000 16,164,000
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (837,000) 766,000 7,991,000
Income (loss) before

minority interests (8,964,000) 2,831,000 8,173,000
Minority interest in earnings

of subsidiaries 271,000 312,000 456,000
Net (loss) income $(9,235,000) $2,519,000 $7,717,000

Net (loss) income per common share:
Basic $(0.51) $0.14 $0.43
Diluted $(0.51) $0.14 $0.41

Weighted average common
shares outstanding:

Basic 18,043,834 17,931,356 17,871,671
Diluted 18,043,834 18,582,130 18,641,475
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NU HORIZONS ELECTRONICS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

89

For the Years Ended

February 28, February 29,
2009 2008
(As restated)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash $4,793,000 $3,886,000
Accounts receivable—less allowances
of $3,438,000 and $4,269,000, respectively 111,572,000 150,270,000
Inventories 107,877,000 134,691,000
Deferred tax asset 3,323,000 3,135,000
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4,979,000 4,306,000
Total current assets 232,544,000 296,288,000
Property, plant, and equipment, net 4,827,000 4,529,000
Other assets:
Cost in excess of net assets acquired 5,020,000 9,925,000
Intangibles, net 3,742,000 2,500,000
Other assets 5,222,000 5,101,000
Total assets $251,355,000 $318,343,000
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $67,133,000 $79,236,000
Accrued expenses 8,202,000 8,615,000
Due to seller 296,000 3,245,000
Bank debt 8,450,000 603,000
Income taxes payable 1,322,000 133,000
Total current liabilities 85,403,000 91,832,000
Long-term liabilities:
Bank debt 14,950,000 69,300,000
Due to seller 190,000 —
Executive retirement plan 2,400,000 1,684,000
Deferred tax liability 1,903,000 2,072,000
Total long-term liabilities 19,443,000 73,056,000
Minority interest in subsidiaries 2,532,000 2,261,000

(Continued)
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NU HORIZONS ELECTRONICS CORP. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (Continued)

For the Years Ended
February 28, February 29,
2009 2008

Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $1 par value, 1 million shares

authorized; none issued or outstanding —_ —
Common stock, $0.0066 par value, 50 million shares

authorized; 18,578,946 and 18,392,457 shares

issued and outstanding as of February 28, 2009

and February 29, 2008, respectively 122,000 121,000
Additional paid-in capital 56,386,000 54,979,000
Retained earnings 87,386,000 96,621,000
Other accumulated comprehensive income (loss) 83,000 (527,000)
Total shareholders’ equity 143,977,000 151,194,000
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $251,355,000 $318,343,000

How to Estimate Cash Flow from Operations

1. To estimate cash collections from customers, we use the following template:

Item Source
Cash collections from customers:
+ Net sales $750,954,000 Income statement
+ Decrease in accounts receivable $38,698,000 Balance sheet
+ Increase in deferred revenue Balance sheet or footnote
Total $789,652,000

Entities account for revenue recognition under various FASB and SEC
guidelines. In the case of Nu Horizons, the company records revenues at the
time its products are shipped. Some firms, as seen in the template, receive cash
from customers as prepayments for future products or services, known as
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deferred revenue. This would be the case for prepayment of a magazine or soft-
ware subscription.

Nu Horizon does not show a line entry for deferred revenue, so the line is left
blank in the template. If the change in deferred revenues had increased, we would
have added it to cash collections. The $38,698,000 is derived from the changes in
the yearly balance sheets. Often, as stated, an entity will include in its receivables
cash not due to trade but rather, for instance, due to the sale of an asset. We would
exclude this from our estimate of cash flow from operations because such a trans-
action would be due to disinvesting cash flows. We see on the balance sheet that
there was a small change in the bad debt allowance for receivables. If it were large
(2 percent or more of sales), we would attempt to determine the amount of the
charge-off and the reasons behind it. As seen, the template is very close to the
$790 million reported under the direct method.

2. To estimate cash payments to suppliers, we use the following template,
which should be used in conjunction with cash collections from customers (shown
above). Cash payments to suppliers is equal to the cost of purchases (cost of goods
sold plus the increase in inventory) and the payments to suppliers (cost of pur-
chases plus the decrease in accounts payable).

Nu Horizons reports a single-line entry for cash paid to suppliers and
employees, whereas other firms using the direct method show a separate line entry
as cash paid to suppliers. To estimate this single entry for Nu Horizons, we would
need to complete steps 2 and 3 of this template. This estimated as $723 million, or
slightly below that actually reported. The estimation computation is shown. It rep-
resents the net cash outlay of goods used to sell to customers.

Item Source
Cash payments to suppliers:
+ Cost of goods sold Income statement
* Inventory increase/decrease Balance sheet
+ Accounts payable decrease/increase Balance sheet
Total

To accurately reconcile cash paid to suppliers and employees as appeared in
the statement of cash flows, I enlisted the aid of Nu Horizons’ CFO. However, the
estimation method most often—but not always—results in a fairly close approxi-
mation that is necessary for the evaluating cash flow from operations. Feel free to
copy the worksheets and complete them for Nu Horizons also using the actual rec-
onciliation as a guide.
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Cost of sales

Operating expenses
Adjustments:

Depreciation and amortization
Bad debt provision

Goodwill write-off

Deferred taxes

Loss on sale of fixed asset
Income tax benefit from stock options exercised
Stock-based compensation
Retirement plan

Changes in assets and liabilities—increase/(decrease):

Inventory

Prepaid expenses/other current assets

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Income taxes payable

Retirement plan

Other adjustments (taxes paid, reversals, interest accrual)
(Rounding adjustment)

Cash paid to suppliers

(637,261,000)
(120,453,000)

2,239,000
(341,000)
7,443,000
(431,000)
27,000
5,000
1,127,000
716,000

26,813,000
(673,000)
(8,675,000)
(2,148,000)

0

2,878,000
2,000
(728,820,000)

3. Cash paid for other operating expenses may be estimated using the follow-

ing template:

Item

Source

Cash paid for other operating expenses:
+ Sales and marketing

+ Other general and administrative

— Depreciation and amortization

+ Other working capital

Total

Income statement
Income statement
Income statement
Balance sheet

4. If available, the analyst should use the actual cash taxes taken directly

from the statement of cash flows or footnote. Alternatively, the analyst can use the
following template to estimate taxes:

Item

Source

Cash paid for other operating expenses:
*+ Provision for income taxes

+ Increase in deferred taxes

+ Increase in accrued income taxes

Total

Income statement
Balance sheet
Balance sheet
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Here is one of the big advantages of SFAS 95: the reporting of the actual tax
payment, which at $2.148 million is a bit greater than the $1.015 million that
would have been estimated prior to the pronouncement, given the $837,000 pro-
vision and $188,000 increase in the deferred tax asset. For Nu Horizons, the
$2.148 million is deducted because it is included as part of other adjustments
($2,878) as taxes paid, and the company needs to show it as a separate line item.

5. Other cash flows. For Nu Horizons, this would consist of cash interest
paid and received.

Item Source
Other cash flows:
+ Other income Income statement
Total

The analyst constructing his or her own statement of cash flows might find a
large variation between reported and estimated taxes. Normally, differences occur
when not all tax-related balance-sheet accounts are disclosed separately. For exam-
ple, some prepaid or deferred taxes that represent an asset may be included with
prepaid and other assets on the balance sheet. Some deferred tax liabilities may be
included with other liabilities. In these cases, it is difficult to estimate the cash
taxes paid during a period in a reasonable manner. Again, the actual cash paid for
taxes is disclosed separately in the statement of cash flows (or in a footnote) for
firms that use the indirect method to derive cash-flow operating activities. Also,
during interim periods, the effective tax rate is an estimate of the year-end rate.

Finally, regarding the estimation template, very little information might be
available to approximate the “other operating cash flows.” Often it will be a
“plug” figure and is likely to contain an estimation error. If it is of consequence,
the analyst would need to speak to a financial officer at the company to determine
the source(s) of any discrepancy, and in any event, if the number is significant, one
would want to understand how the company is being managed. Normally, the esti-
mation error is small because the taxes paid can be reasonably estimated, and other
sources of income and expense are reported.

CREDIT, COLLECTIONS, AND TREASURY
DEPARTMENT SOFTWARE

A discussion of cash flow from operations would be incomplete without review-
ing credit and collection. Good credit decisions enhance cash flows, permitting the
addition of value-adding opportunities. Related are asset sales and a rebalancing
of the corporate portfolio that are designed to aid operating cash flows.
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With advances in software, credit department analysts today have at their fin-
gertips real-time information needed to make quick, informed decisions. This infor-
mation includes cash held in banks worldwide, investment schedules, invoices,
inventory, payables, customer credit limits, delivery schedules, and an aging sched-
ule of the entity’s accounts receivable. Credit managers claim that accounts receiv-
able software, including electronic invoicing, has helped them to reduce their days
of sales outstanding by as much as 20 days and has reduced the number of disputed
bills and dealings with sales representatives. The software quickly shows if a client
is late on payment, with a decision if shipping additional product is warranted.
The credit department also may be responsible for monitoring current and forward
credit exposure related to financial instruments, as well as providing for letters of
credit or other necessary such financings to aid sales and the firms’ clients.

While “involuntary” increases in receivables and inventories do occur,
advances in computer software monitor all phases of the firms’ production to min-
imize and capture their occurrence so that they are less frequent than they once
were. When large bad credits do arise, their effects are felt throughout the enter-
prise, with possible ramifications on planned outlays. Such software improve-
ments are part of the explanation for the longevity of business expansions after the
1980s. Even the recession that started during 2007 did not find most businesses
with severe excess inventory.

The collection process is where the cash inflows begin, and collections is the
department within treasury that receives much attention. Although some credit
analysts measure the success of such departments by the average collection
period.? such a metric does not provide them with the more important timely col-
lection and credit information, such as (1) which clients pay their bills on time and
might be accorded credit, and (2) which clients have run into such severe payment
problems that further delivery of goods is unjustified—and whose accounts prob-
ably should be classified as a bad debt.

Computer software has made this function of the credit manager much easier.
With the push of a button, most credit managers can check the payment history of
their clients over many years, thereby making the credit-approval process quicker,
simpler, and more accurate. Software prioritizes daily collection calls and facili-
tates collaboration between departments. Credit managers still use time-honored
techniques to reduce their bad debt expense and aid the accounts receivable process
(i.e., minimize the nominal amount of receivables outstanding). Credit service
agency reports, such as Dun & Bradstreet (D&B) credit reports, are still used
widely, although many credit managers feel that the data in such reports are to a

8 The average collection period is defined as 360/average accounts receivable turnover. In turn, the
accounts receivable turnover is defined as net sales/average accounts receivable.
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great extent outdated. D&B reports can be helpful if they show lawsuits against the
company, show the company’s financial statement, or show the employment and
educational backgrounds of key employees.

Trade references, which also help the credit analyst gather information about
potential clients, come in a variety of sources. The new-account customer applica-
tion designates areas for both trade and bank referrals. Sales professionals, who
visit the prospective new account’s offices and facilities, are likely to spot the
products of companies that can be called for references, even though those firms
might not be listed on the credit application. The credit application itself usually
provides useful information to the credit analyst.

Good credit analysis is vitally important in helping an enterprise’s cash flow
because errors by credit department analysts can be very costly. Trade shows
(friends in the industry) and reference checks of the client’s competitors are also
very useful. So are telephone leads resulting from the questioning of competitors.
Analyzing financial statements for trends in operating free cash flow, free cash flow,
and leverage are essential to the credit analyst because cash-flow trend is a leading
indicator of financial failure. Newspapers, magazines, and the Internet are also likely
to bring a flow of financial information into the credit department, especially for
larger customers. Some credit managers take a very careful approach to rumored
takeover candidates because direct credit downgrades often result after a takeover.

A pattern of declining receipts from customers may indicate a maturing
product, softening of demand, a more stringent credit policy toward customers, or
some other problem, such as the loss of a key employee. The cash-flow analyst
would be interested in ascertaining the reasons for any such development and may
do so by examining and speaking with other firms in the industry along with client
discussions of client contact.

A simple ratio that can illustrate the credit-granting policy of the firm or its abil-
ity to collect its accounts receivable is the ratio of collections to sales. Collections
from customers can be estimated as sales minus the change in accounts receivable,
similar to computation of the direct method of cash flow from operations. One then
can divide collections during a period by sales in the same period. When operations
are relatively stable, this ratio is likely to hover around 1; that is, most sales are
collected within the year. However, if the ratio reveals a declining trend, the quality
of a firm’s receivables should be questioned by the cash-flow analyst. For firms using
the direct method, cash collections is already given.

Similarly, if one observes a significant increase in cash payments to employ-
ees and suppliers that is beyond the proportionate increase in cash receipts from
customers, the cash-flow analyst should examine whether the firm is experiencing
an alteration in demand for its products or perhaps a prior “push” on collections
that is currently being reversed or normalized. For example, the firm may have
problems marketing its products and therefore is caught with unwanted buildup of
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FIGURE 3-2

Norfolk Southern Corp.: Sales and Collections
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inventories, inability to compete, or a downswing in the economy. It may spend
more cash on selling, general, and administrative expenses than is warranted by
the level of customer demand. Sometimes a firm may incur greater administrative
costs in one period because it may make substantial changes in its operations (such
as computerizing its operations). However, one should not observe continuous
increases in cash payments to suppliers and employees beyond those called for by
increases in demand for the company’s products and services.

In Figure 3-2, notice that sales for Norfolk Southern, a large transportation
firm, showed a consistent increase during the 6 years ending December 2008. The
ratio of collections to payables is very stable at around 1.This is to be expected
given the relatively stable business of railroads, as well as the consistent payment
record of its clients.

ASSET SALES

For entities needing to raise cash, asset sales are always considered in addition to
external financing. The least costly capital raise always will be considered first,
especially if the financial turbulence is expected to be short term and the cost of
debt and equity is high.
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The continual sale of inventory for below-market prices or accounts receiv-
able factoring normally provides an unmistakable warning that should raise a flag
for students of cash flow and risk because the realization price reflects a cost that
would not normally be acceptable to a well-financed organization. Asset sales are
often a de facto partial liquidation. Continuing asset sales that take place for
lower-than-balance-sheet values are indeed telltale signs.

To improve operating cash flows, companies often sell operating divisions as
they rebalance their portfolio of companies in search of the highest return oppor-
tunities. Small asset sales and balance-sheet management typically constitute good
business practice and add to free cash flow and reduced cost of capital. Managers
committed to weeding out poorly performing business units can enhance their
company’s market valuation significantly.

Significance, in accounting parlance, relates to size and whether the failure
to report an event as a separate line item would mask a change in earnings or trend.
The analyst should determine if the company under analysis has indeed sold assets
during any particular reporting period owing to weakness in its borrowing capac-
ity or an attempt to bolster disappointing operation cash flow. Both Enron and
Delphi Corp., prior to their bankruptcies, were selling inventory with the under-
standing that it would be repurchased at a later period, a clever way to raise cash
but a telling sign of liquidity shortfall.

The securitization of assets for sale into a special-purpose entity, as was
invoked by Enron, may not, by itself, represent a reason to sell a security or dis-
miss the purchase of one, especially in light of otherwise undervaluation by the
marketplace. In fact, many companies have raised cash via the securitization of
accounts receivable, redeploying those funds back into a business that resulted in
high rates of growth in cash flows. When viewed under the light of other metrics,
asset sales could form part of a mosaic indicative of a financial risk urging avoid-
ance of the particular security or to place a higher discount rate on its free cash
flow, accounting for the new, higher level of uncertainty.

Entities that have substantial accounts receivables, such as retailers, often
discount these future cash receipts for immediate cash, as Macy’s did during 2006.
Figure 3-3 reveals the impact on its average collection period resulting from that
sale. Of course, average collection period and similar credit metrics, such as cash
conversion cycle, will be distorted by the sale of receivables.

Selling receivables boosts current-period operating cash flow and thus must
be normalized by the analyst in evaluating historical and prospective cash flows.
To do so, one would compute the past 4 years’ average accounts receivable to sales
and apply that to the current year as if the financing did not occur. At this point,
the analyst can evaluate the operating and power cash flows for that year, includ-
ing the sales of receivables.

More important, since the upcoming year’s cash collections will be lower, an
updated cash-flow projection must reflect the new expected collections, with
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emphasis on the ability of the entity to retire or recast upcoming debt and other
obligations coming due. Macy’s has, according to its “Financing” footnote,
$2.6 billion in principal payments due over the coming 3 years. Since prospective
cash flows will be diminished by the present value of the change in future collec-
tions, fair value could shift, depending on how the cash from the sale is deployed.
In its statement of cash flows, the drop in cash flows from operations is apparent,
with management reacting by cutting budgets company-wide.

MACY’S, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In Millions)

2008 2007 2006

Cash flows from continuing operating activities:
Net income (loss) $(4,803) $893 $995

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to
net cash provided by continuing operating activities:

(Income) loss from discontinued operations — 16 (7)
Gains on the sale of accounts receivable — — (191)
Stock-based compensation expense 43 60 91
Division consolidation costs and store closing—-related costs 187 — —
Asset impairment charges 211 — —
Goodwill impairment charges 5,382 — —
May integration costs — 219 628
Depreciation and amortization 1,278 1,304 1,265
Amortization of financing costs and premium on acquired debt (27) (31) (49)
Gain on early debt extinguishment — — (54)

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Proceeds from sale of proprietary accounts receivable — — 1,860
Decrease in receivables 12 28 207
(Increase) decrease in merchandise inventories 291 256 (51)
(Increase) decrease in supplies and prepaid expenses (7) 33 (41)
Decrease in other assets not separately identified 1 3 25
Decrease in merchandise accounts payable (90) (132) (462)
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities

not separately identified (227) (396) (410)
Increase (decrease) in current income taxes (146) 14 (139)
Decrease in deferred income taxes (291) (2) (18)
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities not separately identified 65 (34) 43

Net cash provided by continuing operating activities 1,879 2,231 3,692
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2008 2007 2006

Cash flows from continuing investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment (761) (994) (1,317)
Capitalized software (136) (111) (75)
Proceeds from hurricane insurance claims 68 23 17
Disposition of property and equipment 38 227 679
Proceeds from the disposition of After Hours Formalwear — 66 —
Proceeds from the disposition of Lord & Taylor — — 1,047
Proceeds from the disposition of David’s Bridal

and Priscilla of Boston — — 740
Repurchase of accounts receivable — — (1,141)
Proceeds from the sale of repurchased accounts receivable — — 1,323
Net cash provided (used) by continuing investing activities (791) (789) 1,273

In many cases it is less expensive to borrow funds with the creditor taking a
security interest in accounts receivables and inventory. This would be a loan, not
a factoring agreement where the accounts receivable are sold. In a factoring
arrangement, the cost to the firm is typically higher.

When receivables are financed through borrowings, it is shown as a finance
activity, even though the actions are basically identical to their sale. Also, by fac-
toring, the firm keeps the loan off its balance sheet. Another issue to consider is
whether the receivables being sold were done so on a nonrecourse basis so that if
they are ultimately uncollectable, Macy’s has no further legal obligation. A moral
obligation may exist, however, and must be considered.

Figure 3-3 shows Macy’s average collection and payables period for the
2003-2009 fiscal years. When Macy’s sold about $ 4.1 billion of its in-house
receivables during 2005-2006, it dropped its collection period, but of course, the
company paid a price for the immediate cash. It did reduce total debt by about
$1.5 billion, but unfortunately, the company also succumbed to shareholder pres-
sure and expended $2.5 billion on the repurchase of shares, hopeful the buyback
would boost the stock price, which it did not because the company’s cash flows
were weak.

To Macy’s, which had substantially increased its leverage resulting from its
$5.2 billion purchase of May Department Stores the year earlier, the cash result-
ing from the sale of receivables ultimately might have staved off bankruptcy
2 years later when its business fell owing to the recession and loss of market share
to competitors, the latter not an atypical by-product of a large business combina-
tion. For sure, management wished the $2.5 billion stock buyback never took
place. The $2.5 billion outflow robbed Macy’s of needed financial flexibility by
eliminating a large cushion when its business turned down.
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FIGURE 33

Macy’s Disclosures: Cash Flow from Operating Activities
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While the sale of receivables does indeed provide immediate cash, it is impor-
tant to consider why the action was taken, especially for companies that operate on
tight margins. For such entities, the sale may eliminate the profits those sales ini-
tially produced. For them, if the cash is not used to pay down trade payables or other
business-related obligations, the analyst must question where such cash eventually
will come from. Because Macy’s wasted funds from the sale on share buybacks, it
cut its purchases of PPE in half over the next 2 years. It is difficult to imagine that
a large sale of accounts receivable to buy back shares is ever a good idea.

Example:

CPI Corp. is a leader in professional portrait photography of young children and families, operating
3,108 studios throughout the United States, Canada, Mexico, and Puerto Rico, principally under
license agreements with Sears and Wal-Mart. CPI's operating activities show the cash effect and
accounting of their pension contribution. CPI expensed approximately $505,000 million on its income
statement during 2008 and $2 million during 2007 related to the plan, which is reversed under oper-
ating cash flows. The company did, however, make an actual cash contribution of $3,157,000 for fis-
cal 2009 and approximately $5 million during 2008, which is reflected under operating activities.
Revealed is a supplemental cash payment into the pension plan of $1,283,000, which was financed
through the sale of investments in a rabbi trust, which was recorded as an investment activity. The
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rabbi trust was established for company executives.® Also reported under operating activities is the
reversal of the noncash income statement expense for stock-based compensation.

For tax-reporting purposes, the exercise or the point of vesting (not granting) of certain
stock-based awards often generates a tax-deductible expense regardless of whether the com-
pany has been expensing stock-option grants for financial reporting purposes. As specified ear-
lier, tax credits are shown as an operating item on the cash-flow statement under U.S. GAAP only
to the extent that they relate to the accounting expense; if the tax deduction exceeds the amount
attributable to the accounting expense, such excess is a financing item.

CPI CORP.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Fifty-Three Weeks Ended February 7, 2009, and Fifty-Two Weeks Ended
February 2, 2008, and February 3, 2007

(In Thousands)

2008 2007 2006

Reconciliation of net (loss) income to cash flows

provided by (used in) operating activities:
Net (loss) income $(7,685) $3,576 $16,327
Adjustments for items not requiring

(providing) cash:

Depreciation and amortization 29,432 27,291 16,861
Loss from discontinued operations 961 441 103
Stock-based compensation expense 1,037 2,724 776
Issuance of common stock to Sears 865 — —
Loss on impairment of property and equipment 739 — —
Loss on disposition of property and equipment 1,387 319 220
Deferred income tax provision (2,550) 1,455 9,357
Pension, supplemental retirement plan, and

profit-sharing expense 505 2,009 2,337
Lease guarantee reserve reduction — — (887)
Other 678 683 401

(Continued)

9 The rabbi trust had its origin in a determination by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) that an
irrevocable trust established for a rabbi by the rabbi’s congregation was not subject to current
income taxation of the assets because the assets remained subject to the claims of the congrega-
tion’s general creditors. This ruling was important because, in effect, it permitted a trust to accu-
mulate assets that ultimately would be distributed to a designated person—the participant, in this
case the rabbi—without the necessity of the trust or the participant currently paying income taxes
on the funds contributed. Further, the assets of the trust are protected from any claims other than
those of the employer’s general creditors and are otherwise outside the reach of the employer
where the trust is irrevocable. The concept was popular as an approach to executive compensation
issues, and the IRS was inundated with requests for rulings approving a variety of these so-called
rabbi trusts. The IRS responded with the issuance, in 1992, of a Revenue Procedurel5 laying down
the requirements of a model rabbi trust, thereby providing detailed guidance for employers who
wished to make use of an unfunded deferred compensation arrangement (the rabbi trust technique).
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2008 2007 2006
Increase (decrease) in cash flow from
operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 4,523 (1,987) 436
Inventories 5,448 2,000 81
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (1,255) 550 (636)
Accounts payable (5,153) 6,020 (555)
Contribution to pension plan (3,157) (5,050) —
Supplemental retirement plan payments (1,283) (249) (283)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities (4,365) (5,833) (2,003)
Income taxes payable (708) (1,001) (373)
Deferred revenues and related costs (7,720) 2,655 (3,118)
Other 964 4,269 (1,051)
Cash flows provided by continuing operations 12,663 39,872 37,993
Cash flows used in discontinued operations (816) (406) (43)
Cash flows provided by operating activities 11,847 39,466 37,950

Next shown are CPI's cash flow provided by investment activities for the years 2006—2008.
These transaction into and out of the rabbi trust are reported as investment activities because the
assets in the trust are investable assets, as defined under SFAS 95. The $1.295 million in invest-
ments was sold to finance the $1.283 million supplemental payment listed under operating activ-
ities. The reason the amounts do not match is that there were some expenses related to sale of
the assets, such as administrative and other fees.

We also see another sale of assets from the rabbi trust of $1.311 million recorded under
investment activities. These funds were not used to pay supplemental or other benefits, but (since
we see no other entry related to it) we can assume that those funds were used by the company
perhaps as working capital or to fund the underfunded pension plan. Underfunded pension plans,
as we will see, can be a significant drain on cash because additional contributions need to take
place. Companies making catchup contributions into plans to reduce unfunded obligations that
are placed as an operating activity more appropriately should book those payments under financ-
ing cash flows because the payment is similar to debt retirement. Originally, the payments should
have been considered an operating activity, but once the payments became in arrears, in
essence, they became debt financed.

Cash flows (used in) provided by investing activities:

Acquisition of certain net assets of
Portrait Corporation of America, Inc.,

net of cash and cash equivalents acquired (52) (83,010) —
Additions to property and equipment (36,074) (14,884) (2,760)
Proceeds from rabbi trust used for supplemental

retirement plan payments 1,295 262 295
Distribution of rabbi trust funds in excess of

related obligations 1,311 — —

Other 32 (21) 107
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Example:

is from the Company’s 2009 10K.

PALM, INC.

(In Thousands)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Palm, Inc., is a manufacturer and marketer of mobile products, primarily cell phones. The following

Years Ended May 31,

2009 2008 2007

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $(732,188) $(105,419) $56,383
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss)

to net cash flows from operating activities:
Depreciation 19,677 19,699 13,316
Stock-based compensation 23,853 32,181 24,255
Amortization of intangible assets 12,134 16,510 8,315
Amortization of debt issuance costs 3,139 1,834 —
In-process research and development — — 3,700
Deferred income taxes 401,670 (58,227) 11,313
Realized (gain) loss on short-term investments 3,594 (68) (110)
Excess tax benefit related to stock-based compensation (142) (40) (5,241)
Realized loss (gain) on disposition of property

and equipment and sale of land 619 (4,446) —
Impairment of noncurrent auction-rate securities 35,885 32,175 —
Loss on Series C derivative 2,515 — —
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 48,425 89,312 2
Inventories 47,571 (28,147) 18,842
Prepaids and other 4,542 736 1,790
Accounts payable (54,883) (35,840) 11,654
Income taxes payable (346) 3,033 16,421
Accrued restructuring (361) 6,303 (1,803)
Deferred revenues/costs, net 12,530 — —
Other accrued liabilities (16,746) 12,866 9,354
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (188,512) (17,538) 168,191

In 2009, after 2 years of losses, Palm, Inc., management decided to take the full deferred
income tax valuation allowance against its deferred tax asset. While this had no effect on current
operating cash flow, it reduced shareholders’ equity on the balance sheet. The $401,670 deferred
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income taxes under operating cash flows is a reversal of the income-statement entry. Also, while
Palm has a large tax loss carryover for federal purposes, its income tax footnote reveals that it is
paying both state and foreign income taxes.

Palm also recognized a loss on its investment in auction-rate securities owing to the issuer’s
failure to pay interest in a timely manner. The cash effect was reversed under operating activities
because there is no cash impact. There is a valuation and equity impact because those assets
have become of questionable value.

Example:

QAD, Inc., is a global software company. In its July 2006 10Q, QAD reported slightly lower cash
flow from operations owing to a decline in deferred revenues and other liabilities ($1.2 million
from the prior year) that, according to the company’s 10K, represented a change in severance
pay accruals. The company stepped up its collection efforts, as manifested by the cash provided
by accounts receivables. Also reported is an increase in stock compensation expense, which
preserved cash.

Six Months Ended
July 31 ($000)

2006 2005

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $2,529 $6,350

Adjustments to reconcile net income to
net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 3,598 3,802
Provision for doubtful accounts and sales adjustments 189 (168)
(Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment 9 (20)
Tax benefit from reversal of tax allowances and reserves — (373)
Exit costs 355 940
Stock compensation expense 2,596 55
Other, net (39) (107)

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects
from acquisitions:

Accounts receivable 20,024 17,680
Other assets 517 1,973
Accounts payable (2,657) (2,633)
Deferred revenue (12,788) (11,934)
Other liabilities (4,098) (2,884)
Net cash provided by operating activities 10,235 12,681

Source: QAD 10Q, July 31, 2006.




Statement of Cash Flows 105

Example:

Phelps Dodge made a large contribution to its Voluntary Employee Benefit Association (VEBA)'©
and pension plans in 2005. Also seen is the effect of its copper protection programs, or copper
“collars,” under which the company uses both put and calls options to lock in price guarantees for
its output. During 2006, a large run-up in the price of copper resulted in a large loss on these
hedges, which was made up, and more, from higher price realization for the metal. Phelps Dodge
also points out, in their 2006 10K, that it hedged 486 million pounds, its expected output for the
following year.

Given the loss on the collar, was Phelps Dodge happy that it had hedged? Probably. Look
at it this way: If you were happy to sell your house for $500,000 and someone was willing to pay
you $50,000 for the right to buy it for $750,000 over the next year, you might do it. And if the option
were taken advantage of, you would both be happy. Of course, if the price of the house dropped
to $300,000, you might not be so happy, even though you got to keep the $50,000.

Also of note is the large increase in minority interests. Phelps Dodge owns minority interests
in companies located around the world, accounted for on an equity basis. In some geographic
areas, the governments do not permit ownership above a fixed percentage. During 2006, minor-
ity interest benefited from higher commaodity prices, and the value of those assets reflected the
rise. The amounts included under operating activities merely reverse those entries on the income
statement because it is noncash, and the amount was already debited on the income statement.

Phelps Dodge also recorded $54 million in “early debt extinguishment costs” the prior year
as a gain on its income statement, so it was reversed under operating activities. The entry
resulted from the company completing a tender offer for debt having a book value of approxi-
mately $280 million. That purchase ($280 million plus the $54 million) would be seen as a financ-
ing activity (section not shown). Phelps Dodge, in its 10K, estimated that the prepayment of this
debt would reduce its pretax annual interest expense by about $24 million.

Operating activities:
Net income $3,017.8 1,556.4 1,046.3
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Losses on copper collars and copper put options

(realized but unpaid and unrealized) 1,008.9 410.5 —
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization 449.0 490.9 507.1
Deferred income tax provision (benefit) (147.0) 16.4 (17.8)
Equity in net earnings (losses) of affiliated companies,

net of dividends received (1.9) (0.1) 2.2
Gain on sale of cost-basis investment, net of expenses — (438.4) —
Change in interest gains, net of expenses — (168.3) —
Special items and provisions, net 93.6 612.1 59.9
Early debt extinguishment costs — 54.0 43.2

(Continued)

A VEBA is a specialized tax-free health care trust fund that will pay for the future benefit costs of
a company’s current or retired workers. VEBAs were created in the 1920s after many large
employers defaulted on promised benefits. In a VEBA, the employer makes a tax-free contribu-
tion to a trust fund, which also grows tax-free. Since these funds are outside the control of the com-
pany, they release the firm from such liabilities.
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Minority interests in consolidated subsidiaries 792.7 190.6 201.8
Loss on disposition of discontinued operations 30.3 5.8 —
Cumulative effect of accounting changes — 13.5 —
Changes in current assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (236.1) (399.0) (276.2)
Repayment of securitized accounts receivable — (85.0) —
Mill and leach stockpiles (50.1) (10.5) 1.0
Inventories (0.7) (46.5) (0.4)
Supplies (48.8) (33.8) (23.6)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (36.4) (35.2) (6.7)
Interest payable 1.1 (3.8) (8.2)
Other accounts payable 21.7 159.6 2121
Accrued income taxes 401.9 (0.9) 17.5
Realized losses on 2005 copper collars (187.2) — —
Other accrued expenses (9.9) (97.9) (42.8)
Master trust pension plan contributions — (250.0) (85.4)
VEBA trust contributions — (200.0) —
Other operating, net (19.7) 29.3 70.1
Net cash provided by operating activities 5,079.2 1,769.7 1,700.1

Source: Phelps Dodge 2006 10K.

Example:

When a firm acquires or disposes of a significant business asset, the analyst should be careful inter-
preting the relevant items on the statement of cash flows because the amounts shown might repre-
sent only a portion of the transaction that involved cash payments or receipts. The entire transaction
may have involved a much larger amount because many business combinations include stock,
deferred payments, or other expenses as part of the transaction. For example, the merger agreement
may indemnify the acquirer against certain risks by providing for backstop payments.

In 2008, Finisar Corp., a leading provider of optical subsystems, completed a business com-
bination with Optimum, a designer of high-performance optical subsystems for the cable industry,
in an all-stock transaction in exchange for 160,808,659 shares of its stock, which (valued at
closing) was worth approximately $242.8 million. The transaction consisted of $150 million
of goodwill. Because Finisar management decided to eliminate all goodwill from its balance sheet,
the $88 million, along with the goodwill of a previous business acquisition, totaling ($238.5 million),
was reversed under operating activities from the income-statement expense. Because it was a
stock deal, no cash outlay is reflected in the statement of cash flows.

In a business combination, vested stock options or awards issued by an acquirer in
exchange for outstanding awards held by the target's employees are considered to be part of the
purchase price and accounted for under SFAS 141R. Accordingly, the fair value of the new
replacement awards is included in the purchase price. Unvested stock options or awards granted
by an acquirer in exchange for stock options or awards held by the target’'s employees are also
considered part of the purchase price, with the fair value of the new replacement awards included
in the purchase price. Unearned compensation is recorded as an asset on the balance sheet and
is amortized over the remaining future service (vesting) period.
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Under operating activities, Finisar points out in its 10K, deferred income taxes decreased
mainly because of a reversal of previously recorded deferred tax liabilities as a result of the
impairment of goodwill. Stock-based compensation is added to operating activities because it rep-
resents stock compensation (grants not yet exercised) to employees expensed at fair value but is
noncash. Cash will not change hands until the options are exercised. It should be expected that
pressure from shareholders and Congress and the associated liquidity savings of noncash com-
pensation will align the owners of capital and firms’ employees such that stock-based compensa-
tion will continue to grow over the coming years.!

FINISAR CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Fiscal Years Ended April 30
(In Thousands)

2009 2008 2007

Operating activities:
Net loss $(254,808)  $(74,558)  $(48,908)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 30,490 25,377 25,047
Stock-based compensation expense 14,978 11,564 11,822
Acquired in-process research and development 10,500 — 5,770
Amortization of beneficial conversion feature of

convertible notes 1,817 4,943 4,791
Amortization of purchased technology and

finite-lived intangibles 2,687 1,749 1,814
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 238,507 40,106 —
Impairment of acquired developed technology 1,248 — —
Amortization of acquired developed technology 6,038 6,501 6,002
Amortization of discount on restricted securities — (11) (92)
Loss (gain) on sales of equipment 996 (516) 1,214
Other than temporary decline in fair market value

of equity security 1,920 — —
Gain on sale of minority investment — — (1,198)
Loss on convertible debt exchange — 238 31,606
Gain on repurchase of convertible debt (3,838) — —
Loss on sale of product line 919 — —
Loss (gain) on remeasurement of derivative liability (1,135) 1,135 —
Share of losses of equity investee — — 237
Loss on sale of equity investment 12 15 —

(Continued)

Succumbing to such pressure, Goldman Sachs, a recipient of TARP funds, announced that its top
executives would receive stock in lieu of cash bonus compensation for 2009.
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Fiscal Years Ended April 30
(In Thousands)

2009 2008 2007

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (33,399) 8,891 2,449
Inventories 459 (1,159) (17,364)
Other assets 922 (5,496) (333)
Deferred income taxes (7,277) 1,756 2,176
Accounts payable 4,396 1,432 3,227
Accrued compensation (4,611) 3,847 (737)
Other accrued liabilities (9,759) 9,021 113
Deferred revenue (680) (214) 1,375
Net cash provided by operating activities 382 34,621 29,011

Investing activities:

Purchases of property, equipment, and improvements
Purchases of short- and long-term investments
Sale/maturity of short- and long-term investments
Maturity of restricted securities

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of minority investment

Proceeds from sale of equity investment

Purchases of minority investments

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Financing activities:

Repurchase of convertible notes

Repayment of convertible notes related to acquisition
Proceeds from term loan and revolving line of credit

Repayments of liability related to sale-leaseback
of building

Repayments of borrowings under notes
Proceeds from exercise of stock options, warrants,

and stock purchase plan, net of repurchase of
unvested shares
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental disclosure of cash-flow information:

Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for taxes

(23,918)  (27,198)  (22,340)
(4,125)  (84,236)  (164,796)
42567 115,051 153,141

— 625 4,951
30,137 521 (10,708)
229 643 512

— — 1,198

90 1,569 —

— (2,000) —
44,980 4975 (38,042
(95,956) (8,224) —
(11,918) (5,959) —
20,000 — —
(101) (359) (296)

(4,225) (1,897) (2,036)

4,525 179 4,108
(87,675)  (16,260) 1,776
(42,313) 23,336 (7,255)

79,442 56,106 63,361

$37,129 $79,442 $56,106

$6,776 $9,190 $9,514
$1,100 $182 $659
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Fiscal Years Ended April 30
(In Thousands)

2009 2008 2007

Supplemental schedule of noncash investing
and financing activities:
Issuance of convertible promissory note on
acquisition of subsidiary $— $— $16,950
Issuance of common stock in connection
with acquisitions $242,821 $— $—

Example:

Unifi, Inc., is a diversified producer and processor of multifilament polyester and nylon yarns. The
operating activity section is taken from their 2009 10K. As seen, Unifi reports under the direct
method of reporting cash flow from operations along with the indirect method as is required.
Several observations are worth noting. Receipts from customers fell considerably (owing to
lower sales). Concurrently, we see lower payments to suppliers. The ratio of payments to suppliers
and other operating costs as a percentage of cash receipts fell to 75.5 percent from 77.5 percent in
2008, indicating that management was “working” the balance sheet and controlling expenditures as
busness softened. We indeed see that this is the case, as shown by the indirect approach because
the company collected accounts receivable at a quicker pace, which, together with a significant
reduction in inventories of $27.7 million, added about $46.5 million to operating activities. This was
offset in part by a slight increase in other assets and a $27.3 million reduction in accounts payable.
We also see in the indirect approach an $18.6 million noncash effect of goodwill impairment that
would not appear under the direct model. Noncash items are not included in the direct approach.

UNIFIL, INC.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS USING THE DIRECT APPROACH

Fiscal Years Ended (In Millions)

June 28, June 29, June 24,

2009 2008 2007
Cash provided by continuing operations:
Cash receipts:
Receipts from customers $572.6 $708.7 $691.8
Dividends from unconsolidated affiliates 3.7 4.5 2.7
Other receipts 2.7 6.5 4.3
Cash payments:
Payments to suppliers and other operating cost 432.3 549.4 530.5
Payments for salaries, wages, and benefits 99.9 117.2 130.3
Payments for restructuring and severance 4.0 11.2 1.6
Payments for interest 22.6 25.3 23.1
Payments for taxes 3.2 2.9 2.7
Cash provided by continuing operations $17.0 $13.7 $10.6

(Continued)
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UNIFI, INC.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS USING THE INDIRECT APPROACH
Fiscal Years Ended (In Thousands)
June 28, June 29, June 24,
2009 2008 2007

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year $20,248 $40,031 $35,317
Operating activities:
Net loss (48,996) (16,151)  (115,792)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash

provided by continuing operating activities:
Income from discontinued operations (65) (3,226) (1,465)
Net (earnings) loss of unconsolidated affiliates,

net of distributions 437 3,060 7,029
Depreciation 28,043 36,931 41,594
Amortization 4,430 4,643 3,264
Stock-based compensation expense 1,425 1,015 1,691
Deferred compensation expense, net 165 — 1,619
Net gain on asset sales (5,856) (4,003) (1,225)
Noncash portion of (gain) loss on extinguishment

of debt (251) — 25
Noncash portion of restructuring charges

(recoveries), net 91 4,027 (157)
Noncash write-down of long-lived assets 350 2,780 16,731
Noncash effect of goodwill impairment 18,580 — —
Noncash write-down of investment in unconsolidated

affiliates 1,483 10,998 84,742
Deferred income tax 360 (15,066) (23,776)
Provision for bad debts 2,414 214 7,174
Other 400 (8) (866)
Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding

effects of acquisitions and foreign currency

adjustments:
Receivables 18,781 (5,163) (2,522)
Inventories 27,681 14,144 5,619
Other current assets (5,329) 1,641 187
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (27,283) (22,525) (12,158)
Income taxes payable 100 362 (1,094)
Net cash provided by continuing operating activities 16,960 13,673 10,620
Source: Unifi Corp. 2009 10K.
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Example:
Standex International is a manufacturer of a variety of products and services for diverse indus-
trial market segments. The company has 12 operating segments, aggregated and organized for
reporting purposes into 5 segments: Food Service Equipment Group, Air Distribution Products
Group (ADP), Engraving Group, Engineering Technologies Group, and Electronics and
Hydraulics Group. The company reports its cash flow from operating activities as follows:
STANDEX INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended June 30
(In Thousands)
2009 2008 2007

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) ($5,405) $18,510 $21,242
Income (loss) from discontinued operations (3,515) (774) 5,317
Income (loss) from continuing operations (1,890) 19,284 15,925
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss)

to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 15,541 17,113 15,198
Stock-based compensation 2,398 2,437 385
Deferred income taxes (3,563) (467) (1,133)
Impairment charges 21,339 — —
Noncash portion of restructuring charge 3,730 94 —
(Gain) loss on sale of investments, real estate and

equipment, and debt extinguishment 375 (344) (1,023)
Increase (decrease) in cash from changes in assets

and liabilities, net of effects from discontinued

operations and business acquisitions:
Accounts receivables, net 18,360 4,738 (1,591)
Inventories 11,605 4,299 (4,261)
Contributions to defined benefit plans — (620) (3,862)
Prepaid expenses and other 1,001 471 1,277
Accounts payable (6,034) (912) 8,378
Accrued payroll, employee benefits, and other liabilities  (18,039) 836 1,151
Income taxes payable (1,550) (1,746) 2,053
Net cash provided by operating

activities—continuing operations 43,273 45,183 32,497
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating

activities—discontinued operations (3,829) (477) (7,002)
Net cash provided by operating activities 39,444 44,706 25,495
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Standex reports a large impairment charge under the section. The test for impairment is a
two-step process. The first step compares the carrying amount of the reporting unit with its esti-
mated fair value. To the extent that the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its estimated
fair value, a second step is performed, wherein the reporting unit’s carrying value is compared
with the implied fair value. To the extent that the carrying value exceeds the implied fair value,
impairment exists and must be recognized. If the book value of assets falls below the discounted
present value of cash flows, a charge may be necessary.

Since the $21.3 million is already expensed in the income statement, the entry needs to be
reversed because it represents a write-off of cash that previously flowed through the statement of
cash flows when the asset was acquired—there is no current direct cash-flow impact. While this
represents a noncash restructuring charge, to the extent that investors believed the asset would
return free cash flow, the charge-off represents a diminishment in expectations as well as a
change in the stability of prospective business results.

Example:

99¢ Only Stores is a low-price retailer of consumable general merchandise with an emphasis on
name-brand products selling primarily at 99 cents or less. 99¢ Only Stores has (1) been profitable
in each of the past 10 years, (2) has no meaningful debt outside normal trade and operating
leases, and (3) has had higher operating cash flows than net income in each year. The purpose
of the example is a representation of the substantial number of entities that report the ratio of
operating activities to net income, representing the quotient as a quasi-cash conversion cycle
metric. As a matter of fact, it is not unusual to find such a table in 10Ks and company investor pre-
sentations with an implicit representation that the ability to show greater operating cash flows than
net income indicates that net income is not capturing the real value of the enterprise or even per-
haps that it is a superior free-cash-flow-producing entity.

As seen in this example, despite 99¢ Only Stores’ large plowback of earnings into capital
spending, resulting in high depreciation expense, the company has not, for the decade under
inspection, been able to turn this into growth in free cash flow, and hence its market value has fallen.
We see in Table 3-2 its 3-year average free cash flow, which includes overspending on discretionary
areas (explained in Chapter 4), lower for 2007—2009 than the 3-year average of 1998—2000.

Regarding the tax credits related to share based compensation, as mentioned earlier, they
are shown as an operating item only to the extent that they relate to the accounting expense; such
excess is a financing item. When a company grants share-based awards, generally no cash is
paid or received. Cash-flow consequences, if any, only arise when the options are exercised
(e.g., as a result of payment of the exercise price and from associated tax benefits). For some
other grants such as stock appreciation rights (SARs) payable in shares and restricted share
grants, no cash changes hands at all.

99¢ ONLY STORES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (In Thousands)

Years Ended

March 28, March 29, March 31,
2009 2008 2007

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $8,481 $2,893 $9,762
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Years Ended
March 28, March 29, March 31,
2009 2008 2007

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net

cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 34,266 33,321 32,675
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 791 124 171
Gain on sale of partnerships (706) — —
Fixed assets impairment 10,355 531 —
Fixed investments impairment 1,677 — —
Minority interest in partnership 1,357 — —
Excess tax deficiency (benefit) from share-based

payment arrangements 10 (130) (645)
Deferred income taxes (11,419) (11,024) (5,934)
Stock-based compensation expense 3,136 4,184 5,224
Tax benefit from exercise of nonqualified employee

stock options — 263 1,032
Changes in assets and liabilities associated

with operating activities:
Accounts receivable (346) 543 506
Inventories (11,617) 13,750 (11,887)
Deposits and other assets (435) 3,031 (3,533)
Accounts payable 10,619 (5,676) (9,398)
Accrued expenses 11,678 1,644 4,672
Accrued workers’ compensation 1,550 (673) (738)
Income taxes 1,551 72 6,013
Deferred rent (345) 2,343 586
Other long-term assets 2,339 — —
Net cash provided by operating activities 62,942 45,196 28,506
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (34,222) (54,388) (47,007)

TABLE 3-2

99¢ Only Stores Comparison of Fundamental Data
December NetlIncome Operating Free Capital Market
Year End (Loss) Cash Flow Cash Flow Expenditures Depreciation Value
1998 27 27 21 13 5 —
1999 22 26 10 18 6 958
2000 38 50 31 27 9 937
2001 48 67 38 47 12 1,983
2002 59 72 38 42 18 1,883
2003 57 80 11 99 24 1,942
2004 28 94 54 57 28 1,123

(Continued)
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TABLE 3-2 (Continued)

99¢ Only Stores Comparison of Fundamental Data
December NetIncome Operating Free Capital Market
Year End (Loss) Cash Flow Cash Flow Expenditures Depreciation Value
2005 11 83 57 48 31 943
2006 10 29 (1) 47 33 1,030
2007 3 45 5 54 33 693
2008 8 63 32 34 34 646
Total 311 636 295 485 233 —
Example:

Berkshire Hathaway, in its 10Qs, shows its net cash flows from operating activities as a single-line
entry.'? It therefore would behoove the analyst to prepare a more detailed presentation, working
through the changes in the balance sheet and other operating items affecting operating activities.
The largest item, as reported on the company’s balance sheet, is the $2.3 billion gain on deriva-
tive contracts, which is merely an adjustment to the liability section and a reflection of the large
rise in the equity market on which the underlying contracts are based (over the prior period). This
would not be shown in the direct-method presentation but would if an indirect worksheet were
constructed. Loss and loss adjustment expenses, depreciation, and changes in other assets and
liabilities typically would be the largest items on the worksheet, aside from investment gains and
losses and changes in derivative contract assets and liabilities.

Berkshire sold a large number of long-term put contracts, collected the cash premium, and
now must report the quarterly net changes in the income and cash-flow statements and reflected
in the balance sheet as part of other assets and liabilities. These entries represent an adjustment
to the value of the derivative contracts—if no cash changes hands, that amount would be
reversed under operating activities. To the extent that Berkshire either sold additional put con-
tracts or changed the maturity date or strike price of the options, it would, and actually did, col-
lect cash during the quarter that would be reflected under operating activities.

It is necessary to thoroughly review the footnote related to derivative positions to grasp the
potential risks to cash flow and leverage ratios, especially a worst-case scenario whereby the
contract prices went against the holder. In this analysis, one should determine what various sce-
narios (sensitivity analysis) would mean to shareholders’ equity and related loan covenants.

In Berkshire’s case, we see that this increased the company’s exposure throughout 2008
and 2009. Berkshire’s derivatives do not meet the criteria of hedging contracts, so changes flow
through the income statement.

12Regulation S-X, Rule 10-01: Interim Financial Statements:

(a) Condensed statements. Interim financial statements shall follow the general form and content
of presentation prescribed by the other sections of this Regulation with the following exceptions:
(4) The statement of cash flows may be abbreviated starting with a single figure of net cash flows
from operating activities and showing cash changes from investing and financing activities
individually only when they exceed 10 percent of the average of net cash flows from operating
activities for the most recent three years. Notwithstanding this test, Rule 4-02 applies, and de
minimis amounts therefore need not be shown separately.
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Unlike the June 2009 10Q filing, Berkshire, in its 2008 10K, delineates cash flows from oper-
ating activities, and as reported, the largest contributor affecting operating cash flows is derivative
contract assets and liabilities. The amount in the statement of cash flows almost fully offsets the
gain in the “P&L,” but not fully, indicating that Berkshire realized cash of approximately $1 billion,
reflecting premiums received for selling these additional derivative contracts and changes in the
(maturity) terms on existing contracts. However, this cash didn’t come without additional risk, as
the company indicated in its derivatives footnote, which shows a large increase in liabilities and
notational value (see 2008 balance sheet and footnote). This unrealized loss caused a drop in
shareholders’ (book value) equity; no cash impact would be felt until the contracts were settled.

BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In Millions)
First 6 Months (Unaudited)
2009 2008

Net cash flows from operating activities: $7,497 $4,991
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of fixed maturity securities (7,450) (26,754)
Purchases of equity securities (974) (5,513)
Purchases of other investments (6,068) —
Sales of fixed-maturity securities 2,282 11,950
Redemptions and maturities of fixed-maturity securities 2,716 6,807
Sales of equity securities 1,343 1,764
Purchases of loans and finance receivables (148) (1,045)
Principal collections on loans and finance receivables 356 370
Acquisitions of businesses (221) (5,424)
Purchases of property, plant, and equipment (2,633) (2,538)
Other 1,156 959
Net cash flows from investing activities (9,641) (19,424)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from borrowings of finance businesses 1,504 4,118
Proceeds from borrowings of utilities and energy businesses 992 1,047
Proceeds from other borrowings 58 84

Repayments of borrowings of finance businesses 216) (2,602)

(
Repayments of borrowings of utilities and energy businesses (230) (1,120)
Repayments of other borrowings (306) (133)
Change in short-term borrowings (339) (107)
Acquisitions of noncontrolling interests and other (387) (31)
Net cash flows from financing activities 1,076 1,256
Effects of foreign currency exchange-rate changes 40 7
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,028) (13,170)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 25,539 44,329
Cash and cash equivalents at end of first 6 months $24,511 $31,159

(Continued)
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BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In Millions, Unaudited)

June 30, 2009 December 31, 2008

Assets:
Insurance and other:
Cash and cash equivalents $21,439 $24,302
Investments:
Fixed maturity securities 32,018 27,115
Equity securities 45,794 49,073
Other 30,365 21,535
Receivables 15,778 14,925
Inventories 6,387 7,500
Property, plant, and equipment 17,016 16,703
Goodwill 27,535 27,477
Other 13,306 13,257
209,638 201,887
Utilities and energy:
Cash and cash equivalents 875 280
Property, plant, and equipment 29,087 28,454
Goodwill 5,363 5,280
Other 5,597 7,556
41,822 41,570
Finance and financial products:
Cash and cash equivalents 2,197 957
Investments in fixed-maturity securities 4,150 4,517
Loans and finance receivables 13,631 13,942
Goodwill 1,024 1,024
Other 3,184 3,502
24,186 23,942
$275,646 $267,399
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity:
Insurance and other:
Losses and loss adjustment expenses $58,867 $56,620
Unearned premiums 8,831 7,861
Life and health insurance benefits 3,898 3,619
Accounts payable, accruals, and other liabilities 14,676 14,987
Notes payable and other borrowings 4,379 4,349

90,651 87,436
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June 30, 2009 December 31, 2008

Utilities and energy:

Accounts payable, accruals, and other liabilities 5,800
Notes payable and other borrowings 19,708
25,508
Finance and financial products:
Accounts payable, accruals, and other liabilities 2,580
Derivative contract liabilities 12,299
Notes payable and other borrowings 14,697
29,576
Income taxes, principally deferred 11,074
Total liabilities 156,809

Shareholders’ equity:

Common stock and capital in excess of par value 27,089
Accumulated other comprehensive income 7,505
Retained earnings 79,933
Berkshire Hathaway shareholders’ equity 114,527
Noncontrolling interests 4,310
Total shareholders’ equity 118,837

$275,646

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In Millions Except Per-Share Amounts)

BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES

6,175
19,145

25,320

2,656
14,612
13,388

30,656
10,280

153,692

27,141
3,954
78,172

109,267
4,440
113,707
$267,399

December 31,

2008 2007
Assets:
Insurance and other:
Cash and cash equivalents $24,302 $37,703
Investments:
Fixed-maturity securities 27,115 28,515
Equity securities 49,073 74,999
Other 21,535 —

(Continued)
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December 31,
2008 2007
Loans and receivables 14,925 13,157
Inventories 7,500 5,793
Property, plant, equipment, and assets held for lease 16,703 9,969
Goodwill 27,477 26,306
Deferred charges, reinsurance assumed 3,923 3,987
Other 9,334 7,797
201,887 208,226
Utilities and energy:
Cash and cash equivalents 280 1,178
Property, plant, and equipment 28,454 26,221
Goodwill 5,280 5,543
Other 7,556 6,246
41,570 39,188
Finance and financial products:
Cash and cash equivalents 957 5,448
Investments in fixed-maturity securities 4,517 3,056
Loans and finance receivables 13,942 12,359
Goodwill 1,024 1,013
Other 3,502 3,870
23,942 25,746
$267,399 $273,160
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity:
Insurance and other:
Losses and loss adjustment expenses $56,620 $56,002
Unearned premiums 7,861 6,680
Life and health insurance benefits 3,619 3,804
Other policyholder liabilities 3,243 4,089
Accounts payable, accruals, and other liabilities 11,744 10,672
Notes payable and other borrowings 4,349 2,680
87,436 83,927
Utilities and energy:
Accounts payable, accruals, and other liabilities 6,303 6,043
Notes payable and other borrowings 19,145 19,002
25,448 25,045
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December 31,

2008 2007
Finance and financial products:
Accounts payable, accruals, and other liabilities 2,656 2,931
Derivative contract liabilities 14,612 6,887
Notes payable and other borrowings 13,388 12,144
30,656 21,962
Income taxes, principally deferred 10,280 18,825
Total liabilities 153,820 149,759
Minority shareholders’ interests 4,312 2,668
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock: Class A, $5 par value; Class B,
$0.1667 par value 8 8
Capital in excess of par value 27,133 26,952
Accumulated other comprehensive income 3,954 21,620
Retained earnings 78,172 72,153
Total shareholders’ equity 109,267 120,733
$267,399 $273,160

BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
(In Millions Except Per-Share Amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
Revenues:
Insurance and other:
Insurance premiums earned $25,525 $31,783 $23,964
Sales and service revenues 65,854 58,243 51,803
Interest, dividend, and other investment income 4,966 4,979 4,382
Investment gains/losses (647) 5,405 1,697
95,698 100,410 81,846

(Continued)



120 Security Valuation and Risk Analysis

Year Ended December 31,
2008 2007 2006
Utilities and energy:
Operating revenues 12,668 12,376 10,301
Other 1,303 252 343
13,971 12,628 10,644
Finance and financial products:
Interest income 1,790 1,717 1,610
Investment gains/losses 7 193 114
Derivative gains/losses (6,821) (89) 824
Other 3,141 3,386 3,501
(1,883) 5,207 6,049
107,786 118,245 98,539
Costs and expenses:
Insurance and other:
Insurance losses and loss adjustment expenses 16,259 21,010 13,068
Life and health insurance benefits 1,840 1,786 1,618
Insurance underwriting expenses 4,634 5,613 5,440
Cost of sales and services 54,103 47,477 42,416
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 8,052 7,098 5,932
Interest expense 156 164 195
85,044 83,148 68,669
Utilities and energy:
Cost of sales and operating expenses 9,840 9,696 8,189
Interest expense 1,168 1,158 979
11,008 10,854 9,168
Finance and financial products:
Interest expense 639 588 550
Other 3,521 3,494 3,374
4,160 4,082 3,924
100,212 98,084 81,761
Earnings before income taxes and minority
interests: 7,574 20,161 16,778
Income taxes 1,978 6,594 5,505
Minority shareholders’ interests 602 354 258
Net earnings: $4,994 $13,213 $11,015
Average common shares outstanding 1,548,960 1,545,751 1,541,807
Net earnings per common share: $3,224 $8,548 $7,144
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BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY, INC.,AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In Millions)
Year Ended December 31,
2008 2007 2006

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings $4,994 $13,213 $11,015
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to operating

cash flows:
Investment (gains) losses 640 (5,598) (1,811)
Depreciation 2,810 2,407 2,066
Minority interests 602 354 258
Other (1,248) (268) (627)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities before

business acquisitions:
Losses and loss adjustment expenses 1,466 (1,164) (2,704)
Deferred charges reinsurance assumed 64 196 424
Unearned premiums 1,311 (713) 637
Receivables and originated loans (2,222) (977) (59)
Derivative contract assets and liabilities 7,827 2,938 (563)
Income taxes (2,057) 553 303
Other assets and liabilities (2,935) 1,609 1,256
Net cash flows from operating activities 11,252 12,550 10,195
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of fixed-maturity securities (35,615) (13,394) (7,747)
Purchases of equity securities (10,140) (19,111) (9,173)
Purchases of other investments (14,452) — —
Sales of fixed-maturity securities 14,796 7,821 1,818
Redemptions and maturities of fixed-maturity

securities 18,550 9,158 10,313
Sales of equity securities 6,840 8,054 3,778
Purchases of loans and finance receivables (1,446) (1,008) (365)
Principal collections on loans and finance receivables 740 1,229 985
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired (6,050) (1,602) (10,132)
Purchases of property, plant, and equipment and

assets held for lease (6,138) (5,373) (4,571)
Other 849 798 1,017
Net cash flows from investing activities (32,066) (13,428) (14,077)

(Continued)
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Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from borrowings of finance businesses 5,195 1,153 1,280
Proceeds from borrowings of utilities and energy

businesses 2,147 3,538 2,417
Proceeds from other borrowings 134 121 215
Repayments of borrowings of finance businesses (3,861) (1,093) (244)
Repayments of borrowings of utilities and energy

businesses (2,147) (1,149) (516)
Repayments of other borrowings (233) (995) (991)
Changes in short-term borrowings 1,183 (596) 245
Other (132) 387 84
Net cash flows from financing activities 2,286 1,366 2,490
Effects of foreign currency exchange-rate changes (262) 98 117
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (18,790) 586 (1,275)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 44,329 43,743 45,018
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year* $25,539 $44,329 $43,743
*Cash and cash equivalents at end of year are

comprised of the following:
Insurance and other $24,302 $37,703 $37,977
Utilities and energy 280 1,178 343
Finance and financial products 957 5,448 5,423

$25,539 $44,329 $43,743

Derivatives

Derivative contracts of Berkshire’s finance and financial products businesses, with limited excep-
tions, are not designated as hedges for financial reporting purposes. Changes in the fair value of
such contracts that do not qualify as hedges are reported in the consolidated statements of earn-
ings as derivative gains/losses. A summary of these contracts as of December 31, 2008 and 2007

follows (in millions).

2008 2007
Notional Notional
Assets Liabilities Value Assets Liabilities Value
Equity index put options $— $10,022 $37,1342 $— $4,610 $35,043
Credit default obligations:
High-yield indexes — 3,031 7,892 — 1,838 4,660

Individual corporate — 105

3,900 — — —
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2008 2007
Notional Notional
Assets Liabilities Value Assets Liabilities Value
States/municipalities — 958 18,364 —_ — —
Other 503 528 749 489
Counterparty netting and
funds held as collateral (295) (32) (50) (50)
$208 $14,612 $699 $6,887
Sources: Berkshire Hathaway financial statements from its June 30, 2009, 10Q and 2008 10K.

Example:

SWS Group is a diversified financial services company. The firm’s operating activities section is
shown to highlight dividends received as an operating activity because SWS is a member bank
of the Federal Home Loan Banking system and is required to own its stock.

Joint-venture dividends would be shown under investing activities. Entities that own invest-
ments in other firms may receive dividends, which are presented under operations. If dividends
are from a foreign entity, the risk to payment should be assessed. There have been instances
where foreign nations have put pressure on companies to pay out dividends, so such cash
receipts may not be certain because they may reflect cash flows that impair the entity’s future
prospects. Exchange controls also may alter a U.S. firm’s ability to collect dividends.

2009 2008 2007

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $23,631 $31,932 $37,609
Income from discontinued operations — (17) (102)
Extraordinary gain — (1,061) —
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

(used in) provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 6,036 4,955 4,790
Amortization of premiums on loans purchased (487) (725) (1,278)
Amortization of premiums municipal bonds (6) — —
Provision for doubtful accounts and write-downs

on REO properties 15,419 4,659 1,538
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense (6,115) 1,471 632
Deferred compensation 330 1,812 3,139
Gain on sale of loans (628) (951) (999)
Loss on sale of fixed assets 2 196 146

(Continued)
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2009 2008 2007

Loss (gain) on sale of real estate 1,346 (396) (668)
Gain on sale of factored receivables (260) (666) —
Loss on investment in marketable equity securities

available for sale 4,971 — _
Equity in losses (earnings) of unconsolidated ventures 1,375 (235) 861
Dividend received on investment in Federal Home

Loan Bank stock (79) (179) (163)
Windfall tax benefits (67) (218) (225)
Net change in minority interest in consolidated

subsidiaries — (50) (234)
Cash flow from operating activities of discontinued

operations — 4 298
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in assets segregated for regulatory

purposes 9,422 (3,310) 25,763
Net change in broker, dealer, and clearing

organization accounts 16,410 8,923 (19,862)
Net change in client accounts (1,776) 41,480 (8,245)
Net change in loans held for sale 97,165 (211,932) (23,139)
Decrease (increase) in securities owned 23,543 (66,432) 39,383
(Increase) decrease in securities purchased under

agreements to resell (11,760) 32,624 21,150
Decrease (increase) in other assets 5,695 5,274 (7,383)
Increase (decrease) in drafts payable 7,800 (6,061) (3,426)
Increase (decrease) in securities sold, not yet

purchased 26,725 (36,959) (33,439)
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities 7,997 (1,828) 780
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 226,689 (197,690) 36,9
Example:

A. Schulman, Inc., supplies plastic compounds and resins to consumer products, industrial, auto-
motive, and packaging markets. The downturn in the markets forced the company to restructure
its business, including employee layoffs, and to withdraw from its multiemployer pension plan. The
costs of these actions were reflected in a restructuring charge in the income statement, with the
noncash portion reversed under operating activities. We see in the operating activity section how
management aggressively stepped up collection of accounts receivable and drew down invento-
ries to provide cash. This would be adjusted when using power operating cash flow.
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A. SCHULMAN, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In Thousands)

Year Ended August 31,

2009 2008 2007

Provided from (used in) operating activities:
Net income (loss) $(2,776) $18,049 $22,069
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net

cash provided from (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 23,632 27,721 25,802
Deferred tax provision (2,974) (2,597) (1,865)
Pension and other deferred compensation 3,955 3,259 11,347
Postretirement benefit obligation 773 2,839 (2,837)
Net losses on asset sales 740 318 68
Minority interest in net income of subsidiaries 349 872 1,027

Restructuring charges, including accelerated
depreciation of $1,326, $0, and $1,071 in 2009,

2008, and 2007, respectively 10,011 6,817 2,669

Goodwill impairment — 964 —
Asset impairment 12,925 11,699 —
Curtailment gains (2,805) (4,009) —
Proceeds of insurance settlements — — 750
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 91,218 16,614 (29,088)
Inventories 78,756 54,682 37,942
Accounts payable (17,856) 25,838 (3,018)
Restructuring payments (6,684) (6,384) (974)
Income taxes 3,720 (5,247) (2,006)
Accrued payrolls and other accrued liabilities (1,582) 1,704 789
Changes in other assets and other long-term

liabilities (9,905) 2,646 2,222
Net cash provided from operating activities 181,497 155,785 64,897

CASH CONVERSION CYCLE

The cash conversion cycle is an important operating cash-flow credit metric
because it measures the duration, in days, between a company purchasing goods
for sale and the ultimate collection of cash for the product. It is an important indi-
cator because entities that can reduce the cash conversion cycle resulting from
more optimal and efficient supply management, production, accounting, and col-
lection procedures are also able to increase their free cash flow.
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The cash conversion cycle is more appropriately defined as days of inventory
and trade receivables outstanding less days of trade payables outstanding.
Increases in the cash conversion cycle indicate that additional cash is consumed in
the sales and manufacturing process that requires additional working capital.

Industries that, by their nature, have long cash collection cycles, as in the man-
ufacturing of products that take a long time to produce, will need to more carefully
manage their cash requirements over the cycle because there can be a negative gap
between receipt of payments and cash disbursements. Such companies normally
require progress payments, but even with such interim cash inflows, it would not be
unusual for profits and a positive investment return to be deferred until delivery.
These retainage payments could be held up if the quality of the product is in dis-
pute, leading to further cash-flow funding gaps that would need to be financed.

Startup projects and newer companies are often required to finance develop-
ment of products that might take years to come to market, requiring large outlays
for labor and materials. For these entities, the cash conversion cycle, as typically
defined, is not appropriate. For such entities, the analyst would evaluate the required
funding, including cash on hand, cash flow from operations, and outside financing.

For industrial companies that manufacture new-generation products with
long lead times, such as Lockheed, the initial number of deliveries often results in
poor cash flows. However, as they move up the production learning curve, their
efficiency and cash flows are greatly improved.

Example:

Textron, Inc., during a February 2010 conference call, credited its being able to achieve an 80 per-
cent cash conversion ratio in helping bring down its targeted debt ratio, improve its liquidity ratio,
and push up a projected return to profit growth.

Example:

Waste Management, during its third-quarter 2009 quarterly conference call, attributed its step up
in free cash flow to “a good conversion ratio and being tight on working capital and capex.” The
company had been converting 120 percent of net income into cash over the prior 3 years, accord-
ing to its chief financial officer.

Example:

The Kellogg Company and its subsidiaries are engaged in the manufacture and marketing of
ready-to-eat cereal and convenience foods. The cash conversion cycle, even for a strong cash-

flow generator such as Kellogg, is an important credit and cash-flow metric, and its components
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are essential to analyze for their impact on the final result. For instance, a lengthening of the
collection period could mean that one (or more) of the company’s customers is experiencing
business difficulties or a problem with supply or delivery. Shortening of the cycle would allow the
company to invest additional funds short term, thus earning cash.

Companies with a short conversion cycle (that more quickly turns sales into cash), such as
Kellogg, see a closer matching between net income and operating cash flows, although specific
results for any particular year may be significantly affected by the level of benefit plan contribu-
tions, working capital movements (operating assets and liabilities), and other factors.

KELLOGG COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Millions)
2007 2006 2005

Operating activities:

Net earnings $1,103  $1,004 $980
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to operating cash flows:

Depreciation and amortization 372 353 392
Deferred income taxes (69) (44) (59)
Other (a) 183 235 199
Pension and other postretirement benefit contributions (96) (99) (397)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 10 (39) 28
Net cash provided by operating activities $1,503 $1,410 $1,143

Calculating the Cash Conversion Cycle

Most companies do not calculate the cash conversion cycle for investors despite
its importance. I have found that most companies that do discuss this metric tend
to have greater focus on and run their business with all decisions based on its cash-
flow impact.

One of the more interesting companies that does report the benchmark is
Dell Computer, which, historically, has been so adept in its manufacturing process,
along with excellent credit collection while extending payables, that it has a neg-
ative conversion cycle, indicating that it uses its suppliers’ cash (not its own) to
manufacture the products it sells. As explained in its 2009 10K:

We ended the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2009 with a negative cash
conversion cycle of 25 days, which is a contraction of 11 days from the
fourth quarter of Fiscal 2008. The contraction is due to a decrease in our
accounts payable balance, which is primarily driven by a reduction in
purchases related to declining unit volumes. A negative cash conversion
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cycle combined with a slowdown in revenue growth could result in cash
use in excess of cash generated. Generally, as our growth stabilizes, our
cash generation from operating activities will improve.

In a footnote in its 10K addressing its cash conversion measurement, Dell
explains:

Key Performance Metrics— Although our cash conversion cycle
deteriorated from February 1, 2008, and February 2, 2007, our direct
business model allows us to maintain an efficient cash conversion cycle,
which compares favorably with that of others in our industry. As our
growth stabilizes, more typical cash generation and a resulting cash
conversion cycle are expected to resume.

The following table presents the components of our cash conversion
cycle for the fourth quarter of each of the past three fiscal years:

January 30, 2009 February 1, 2008 February 2, 2007
Days of sales outstanding? 35 36 31
Days of supply in inventory® 7 8 5
Days in accounts payable® (67) (80) (78)
Cash conversion cycle (25) (36) (42)

aDays of sales outstanding (“DSO”) calculates the average collection period of our receivables. DSO is based on the ending net
trade receivables and the most recent quarterly revenue for each period. DSO also includes the effect of product costs related
to customer shipments not yet recognized as revenue that are classified in other current assets. DSO is calculated by adding
accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts, and customer shipments in transit and dividing that sum by
average net revenue per day for the current quarter (90 days). At January 30, 2009, February 1, 2008, and February 2, 2007,
DSO and days of customer shipments not yet recognized were 31 and 4 days, 33 and 3 days, and 28 and 3 days, respectively.

Days of supply in inventory (“DSI”) measures the average number of days from procurement to sale of our product. DSI is
based on ending inventory and most recent quarterly cost of sales for each period. DSI is calculated by dividing inventory by
average cost of goods sold per day for the current quarter (90 days).

°Days in accounts payable (“DPQO”) calculates the average number of days our payables remain outstanding before payment.
DPO is based on ending accounts payable and most recent quarterly cost of sales for each period. DPO is calculated by
dividing accounts payable by average cost of goods sold per day for the current quarter (90 days).

Our cash conversion cycle contracted by eleven days at January 30,
2009, from February 1, 2008, driven by a thirteen day decrease in DPO
offset by a one day decrease in DSO and a one day decrease in DSI. The
decrease in DPO from February 1, 2008, is attributable to procurement
throughput declines as a result of declining demand, reduction in inventory
levels, and a decrease in non-production supplier payables as we continue
to control our operating expense spending and the timing of purchases
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from and payments to suppliers during the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2009 as
compared to the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2008. The decrease in DSO from
February 1, 2008, is attributable to the timing of revenue due to seasonal
impact, partially offset by a shift to customers with longer payment terms.

Our cash conversion cycle contracted by six days at February 1, 2008
compared to February 2, 2007. This deterioration was driven by a five
day increase in DSO largely attributed to timing of payments from
customers, a continued shift in sales mix from domestic to international,
and an increased presence in the retail channel. In addition, DSI
increased by three days, which was primarily due to strategic materials
purchases. The DSO and DSI declines were offset by a two-day increase
in DPO largely attributed to an increase in the amount of strategic
material purchases in inventory at the end of Fiscal 2008 and the number
of suppliers with extended payment terms as compared to Fiscal 2007.

We defer the cost of revenue associated with customer shipments
not yet recognized as revenue until they are delivered. These deferred
costs are included in our reported DSO because we believe it presents a
more accurate presentation of our DSO and cash conversion cycle.
These deferred costs are recorded in other current assets in our
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position and totaled $556 million,
$519 million, and $424 million at January 30, 2009, February 1, 2008,
and February 2, 2007, respectively.

Source: Dell Computer 2009 10K.

Example:

A simple technique for a close approximation of the cash conversion cycle is based on the formula:
Days of supply in inventory + days of sales outstanding — days in accounts payable
Looking back at Kellogg we see’® that

days in year
cost of goods sold / average inventory
365
7,455 / average inventory

Days of supply in inventory =

13 All data are in thousands except where noted. Also, for seasonal concerns, the firm may wish to
weight the daily average toward those seasonal periods when most of its collections are received.
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To calculate average inventory, we used the average of the year-end inventory for
the past 2 fiscal years. A closer approximation would be the average of the four
quarters, whereas the reporting entity would have the precise daily average inven-
tory. That is why this formula results in an approximation. For year-end 2009 and
2008, reported inventory was $897 million and $924 million, or $910.5 million
average. So days in inventory for Kellogg are approximately

365 _ 365
(7,455/910.5) 8.187

= 44.57 days

days in year

Days of sales outstanding = -
sales / average accounts receivable

365
B 12,822 / average accounts receivable

Again, a more precise reading would result from an average of the entity’s
four fiscal quarters and even more so with the daily data in possession of the entity
itself because its cash management software would have such information. We see
from Kellogg’s last two fiscal years that its accounts receivable at the end of the
fiscal year was $1,143 and $1,001, or a $1,072 average, so that

DSO = 365 =30 30.51 days
(12,822/1,072) 11.96
days in year

Days in accounts payable =

cost of goods sold / accounts payable
365 ~ 365
(7,455/1,145) 6.57

= 55.57 days

Kellogg had its cash tied up an average of 44.57 days in inventory and waited
30.51 days to be paid. During the period, the company took, on average, 55.57
days to pay its trade payables.

Summary of Kellogg’s Cash Conversion Cycle

Cash conversion cycle = days of supply in inventory + days receivable — days to pay
= 45.57 + 30.51 — 55.57
= 20.51 days

In its 2008 10K, Kellogg reported that its cash conversion cycle was actually
22 days. The reason the estimation was fairly close was that Kellogg’s working-
capital items and cost of sales remained in a relatively tight range. If quarterly
data were used, the difference would have been less than 1 day compared with my
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estimation. In any event, Kellogg reports in its 10K that it was able to reduce its
cash conversion cycle during the year owing to a decrease in days of inventory
outstanding. This is additional cash the entity has on its balance sheet that can be
invested and represents an improvement to operating cash flows and metrics
based on operating cash flow.

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

SFAS No. 95 required firms to disclose additional information about their impor-
tant economic events during the period beyond the direct cash-flow implications
of these events. For example, when a firm engages in a transaction that is, in
effect, a financing or an investing event, but where the entire consideration is not
in cash, the firm should report the transaction in a separate schedule, usually at the
bottom of the statement of cash flows. Supplemental disclosure is necessary
because financing and investing events are significant economic events, they
affect the long-run viability of the firm, and they should be disclosed to investors
and creditors regardless of whether they involve cash alone or combine cash and
other considerations. For this reason, it is important to scrutinize the supplemen-
tal information. Contained here can be very significant information, such as the
consideration for acquisitions for which a majority of the payment was not in cash.
Some would argue that such events really should be contained under financing
activities. The important considerations are the cash effects, peer comparability,
and any changes to the capital structure.

The FASB also required firms that report net operating cash flows using the
indirect approach to report the tax payments and interest payments during the
period. Prior to SFAS 95, an analyst could only guess at the cash taxes paid —and
more often than not, it remained a guess.

The biggest shortcoming under SFAS 95 is the failure under the statement to
reveal the actual cash tax rate as implied in the firm’s federal tax return. Cash taxes
paid, as given under supplemental information, represented a big step forward, but
in order to see how the effective tax rate really compared with the statutory rate,
the analyst would need to calculate an implied rate. As I show in the section
“Income Taxes” below, companies are required to state how the effective tax rate
differs from the statutory rate. In my cost-of-capital model I estimate the cash tax
rate by dividing cash taxes paid by pretax income, plus, where applicable, certain
permanent timing differences, such as amortization, where that represents a per-
manent difference.

Let us examine several disclosures of these supplementary items. Because an
entity is required to reveal significant items as a supplemental activity, reporting
practices vary.
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Example:

Baldor Electric Company is a leading marketer, designer, and manufacturer of industrial electric
motors, mechanical power transmission products, drives, and generators. In 2007, Baldor
purchased Reliance Electric for cash and stock. At the time of closing, Baldor estimated the stock
value at $50.9 million, which, because it was a partial noncash event, was listed as supplemen-
tal information. We do see the cash part of the transaction (which excludes the cash held by
Reliance at closing) under investing activities, with the borrowing to finance the cash-payment
portion of the deal under financing activities.

We also see, presumably to save cash needed as working capital, that Baldor contributed
stock from treasury into its employee profit-sharing plan. Doing this artificially boosts cash flow
from operations versus firms that contribute cash. Firms investing their own stock into profit-
sharing or pension plans add additional risk to their employees because the employees are
already dependent on the firm; their pension security should be diversified away from this.

Supplemental cash-flow disclosure revealed important information regarding this business
acquisition, including its financing.

2009 2008 2007

Investing activities:

Purchases of property, plant, and equipment (42,877) (39,490) (26,649)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment 69 3,493 45
Marketable securities purchased — — (470)
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities — 23,034 10,286
Acquisitions net of cash acquired (41,285) (1,779,837) —
Divestitures — 49,886 —
Proceeds from sale of equity investment 1,373 — —
Net proceeds from real estate transaction 23,310 — —
Net cash used in investing activities (59,410)  (1,742,914)  (16,788)
Financing activities:

Proceeds from long-term obligations 137,535 1,550,000 30,000
Principal payments of long-term obligations (177,960) (283,000 (28,000
Proceeds from note payable — 12,321 —
Debt issuance costs — (30,519 —
Principal payments on note payable (11,586) — —
Proceeds from common stock issued — 379,857 —
Dividends paid (31,392) (31,184)  (21,891)
Common stock repurchased — —  (38,464)
Stock option exercises 11,133 11,397 13,995
Excess tax benefits on share-based payments 399 668 2,149
Net increase (decrease) in bank overdrafts 7,500 (4,624) 4,624
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (64,371) 1,604,916  (37,587)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (24,659) 25,020 1,263
Beginning cash and cash equivalents 37,757 12,737 11,474
Ending cash and cash equivalents $13,098 $37,757 $12,73
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Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Noncash Items

* Additional paid-in capital resulting from shares traded for option exercises amounted to
$1,411 in 2008, $3,040 in 2007, and $2,763 in 2006.

e Common stock valued at $50,932 was issued January 31, 2007, in conjunction with the
acquisition of Reliance Electric (see Note B).

e Treasury shares issued in March 2008 in the amount of $3,284 to fund 2007 accrued profit-
sharing contribution.

Note B—Acquisitions

On January 31, 2007, Baldor completed the acquisition of all the equity of Reliance Electric
(“Reliance”) from Rockwell Automation, Inc., and certain of its affiliates (“Rockwell”). Reliance was
a leading manufacturer of industrial electric motors and other mechanical power transmission
products. The acquisition extended Baldor’s product offerings, provided a manufacturing base in
China for the Asian markets, increased the company’s manufacturing capabilities and flexibility,
strengthened the management team, and provided strong opportunities for synergies and cost
savings. The purchase price was $1.83 billion, consisting of $1.78 billion in cash and 1.58 million
shares of Baldor common stock valued at $50.93 million, based on the average closing price per
share of Baldor's common stock on the New York Stock Exchange for the 3 days preceding and
the 3 days subsequent to November 6, 2006, the date of the definitive purchase agreement. The
cash portion of the purchase price was funded with proceeds from the issuance of 10,294,118
shares of Baldor common stock at a price of $34.00 per common share, proceeds from the
issuance of $550.0 million of 8.625 percent senior notes due 2017, and borrowings of $1.00 bil-
lion under a new $1.20 billion senior secured credit facility. In conjunction with an overallotment
option in the common stock offering, 1,430,882 additional common shares were issued at a price
of $34 per share. Proceeds from the overallotment offering of approximately $46.5 million were
utilized to reduce borrowings under the senior secured credit facility. Reliance’s results of opera-
tions are included in the consolidated financial statements beginning February 1, 2007.

Example:

Arch Chemicals, a biochemical concern, reports in its September 2009 10Q as supplemental
cash flow information the final working capital adjustments of a business acquisition. Of the
$8.7 million in intangible assets, $4.2 million represented trademarks, which are not subject to
amortization, thus representing a permanent tax timing difference.

($ in Millions)
Working capital (including cash): $11.7
Property, plant, and equipment, net 41
Intangible assets 8.7
Goodwill 4.6
Noncurrent assets and liabilities (including debt) (8.0)
Investment a advances—affiliated companies at equity (5.6)

Cash paid $15.5
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Example:

American Home Food Products is engaged in the manufacturing and marketing of private-label
and specialty food products. The company lacked liquidity to pay its cash dividends to common
and preferred stockholders and so made the payments in kind by issuing additional shares. We
also see that the company satisfied trade payables with equity as well. Since these stock contri-
butions represent a noncash payment, they are included as supplemental cash-flow information.
Also seen are the liabilities assumed that are related to an acquisition. | would reduce cash flow
from operations by the $137,036 and the $530,000 to arrive at adjusted operating cash flow
because these are expenses normally paid with cash.

Payments in kind (issuing shares in exchange for assets) are one example of a supplemen-
tal activity. Another example would be converting debt to equity and exchanges, for instance,
exchanging noncash assets or liabilities for other noncash assets or liabilities.

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

2009 2008

Cash paid during the period for:

Interest $— $—
Income taxes — —
Noncash financing activities:

Preferred and common shares issued for services $— 137,036
Common shares issued for registration penalty 104,300 —
Preferred shares issued for dividend 680,246 449,850
Seller financing for the purchase of Artisanal — 1,200,000
Payables paid with issuance of equity — 530,000
Artisanal liabilities assumed $— $688,72

Source: American Home Food Products 2009 10K.

Example:

Tandy Leather Factory is a retailer and wholesale distributor of a broad line of leather and related
products, including working tools, buckles, and adornments for belts, leather dyes and finishes,
saddle and tack hardware, and do-it-yourself kits. The top of its supplemental schedule is quite
typical. The company next shows equipment that was acquired under capital lease and property
acquired with debt. The reason land and buildings acquired with long-term debt is shown as a non-
cash activity is that the property was acquired without using cash. | would adjust this transaction
to show the asset purchase and the borrowing as investment and financing activities The property
was acquired under a line of credit that was to be converted to a term loan at a later period. Since
these are noncash-based investing activities, Tandy reports the transactions in its 2008 10K as
supplemental cash-flow disclosures. While entering a capital lease is regarded as a supplemental
activity, repayment of principal on capital leases would be reported as a financing activity.
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SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Interest paid during the period $332,107 $122,209 $—
Income tax paid during the period, net of (refunds) 878,110 1,830,688 2,282,113
Noncash investing activities:

Equipment acquired under capital lease
financing arrangements $803,713 — —

Land and building acquired with long-term debt —  $4,050,000

Example:

lllustrated next is the supplemental disclosure section for Schlumberger, Ltd., a large oil services
company. Above its supplemental information from its 2008 10K, the company provides a sepa-
rate line entry for cash flow from discontinued operations, allowing the analyst better comparabil-
ity and forecasting of future cash flows.

The supplemental disclosure section reflects the currency translation effect of balance-sheet
cash. Currency translation, a noncash activity, being a change in foreign currencies relative to the
host currency (U.S. dollars), is also shown as part of other comprehensive income (loss) on the
balance sheet and statement of shareholders’ equity. These gains or losses also could include
the effects of derivative contracts related to changes in currency movements. Foreign currency
is sensitive to both exchange-rate and interest-rate risk. To the extent that a foreign currency
relative to the U.S. dollar (host currency) changes, it would have an impact on the value on trans-
lation back to the host. As SFAS 95 states: “A statement of cash flows of an enterprise with
foreign currency transactions or foreign operations shall report the reporting currency equivalent
of foreign currency cash flows using the exchange rates in effect at the time of the cash flows.”
An appropriately weighted average exchange rate for the period may be used for translation if the
result is substantially the same as if the rates at the dates of the cash flows were used.

Translation of foreign currency can affect working-capital analysis. To the extent that it
reflects volatility in the exchange rate and not cash generated, such swings should be ignored,
especially if the parent has not shown a desire to or for any reason cannot remit cash back to the
United States. Other effects, such as a change in the value of a foreign entity that could be mon-
etized, would enter the cost of capital model.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Year Ended December 31
(In Millions)

2009 2008 2007

Cash flows from operating activities:

Cash flow from discontinued operations—operating activities (45) 63 —
Net increase (decrease) in cash before translation effect 54 (6) 28
Translation effect on cash — @) 3
Cash, beginning of year 189 197 166

Cash, end of year 243 $189 $197
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Example:

Thor Industries manufactures and sells a wide range of recreation vehicles and small and mid-
sized buses in the United States and Canada. Capital expenditures that have not used cash
(an accrued item shown in accounts payable) are reflected as a supplemental item. If a cash out-
lay was associated with the event, the transaction would be listed as an investing activity. You also
can see the cancellation of restricted stock that had been issued previously. At the time of
issuance, it also was recorded as a noncash event.

Noncash transactions:

Capital expenditures in accounts payable $53 $543 $203
Cancellation of restricted stock $— $— $35
Deferred taxes, net $— $562 $—
Example:

Abercrombie and Fitch, the large clothing retailer, capitalizes construction work in progress, which
appears in the property, plant, and equipment account on its balance sheet. This is a common
practice for the utility and extractive industries, where the outflow of cash is also capitalized in the
drilling process. For Abercrombie, when the accrual declined (a noncash item), it was reported as
a supplemental activity.

Significant noncash investing activities:
Change in accrual for construction in progress $(27,913) $8,791 $28,455

Source: Abercrombie and Fitch 2009 10K.

Example:

Palatin Technologies, a biopharmaceutical company, recognized the value of tenant allowances
(rent otherwise due) for leasehold improvements as supplemental cash flow because no cash
was exchanged in return for occupancy. Palatin also paid for license fees (to other firms holding
the patents) with stock. The firm sold $37 million in stock and warrants the subsequent year, pay-
ing cash for the licensing fees.

Supplemental cash flow information:

Cash paid for interest $30,522 $14,171 $22,649
Assets acquired by capital lease 326,214 — —
Tenant allowances recognized in deferred rent — 210,924 —
Common stock issued for license fees — 317,900 —

Source: Palatin Technologies 2006 10K.
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Example:

Monsanto, a large provider of agricultural products, reports supplemental cash flow information as
a footnote, and the company then redirected analysts to other footnotes. The most significant entry
relates to Monsanto’s restructuring involving various divisions, shown as its Note 5. Presumably,
the restructuring will lead to greater increases in prospective cash flows, and the analyst should
determine why the restructuring was undertaken. Monsanto booked a $361 million restructuring
expense on its P&L during 2009, which, since it was noncash, was reversed under operating activ-
ities. The company also realized a tax benefit from the book loss owing to the restructuring, for
which the company showed a lower effective tax rate; however, as reported, actual tax payments
rose, primarily resulting from foreign tax payments, as reported in the tax footnote.

Cash payments for interest and taxes during fiscal years 2009, 2008, and 2007 were

as follows:
Year Ended August 31, (In Millions)
2009 2008 2007
Interest $136 $105 $111
Taxes 657 596 482

During fiscal years 2009, 2008, and 2007, the company recorded the following noncash
investing and financing transactions:

* During fiscal year 2009, the company recognized noncash transactions related to
restructuring. See Note 5—Restructuring.

* In 2009, the company recognized noncash transactions related to a new capital lease.
Long-term debt, short-term debt, and assets of $18 million, $2 million, and $20 million,
respectively, were recorded as a result of payment provisions under the lease agreement.

* During fiscal years 2009, 2008, and 2007, the company recognized noncash
transactions related to restricted stock units and acquisitions. See Note 20—Stock-
Based Compensation Plans—for further discussion of restricted stock units and Note
4—Business Combinations—for details of adjustments to goodwill.

* In fourth quarter 2009, 2008, and 2007, the board of directors declared a dividend
payable in first quarter 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively. As of August 31, 2009,
2008, and 2007, a dividend payable of $145 million, $132 million, and $96 million,
respectively, was recorded.

¢ In 2008, intangible assets in the amount of $20 million and a liability in the amount of
$10 million were recorded as a result of payment provisions under a joint venture
agreement. See Note 11—Investments and Equity Affiliates—for further discussion of
the agreement.

¢ In 2009 and 2008, intangible assets of $4 million and $16 million, long-term
investments of $2 million and $7 million, and liabilities of $6 million and $23 million,
respectively, were recorded as a result of payment provisions under collaboration and
license agreements. See Note 11—Investments and Equity Affiliates—for further
discussion of the investments.

¢ In 2007, intangible assets and a liability in the amount of $15 million were recorded as
a result of minimum payment provisions under a license agreement. See Note 10—
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets—for further discussion of the agreement.
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Note 5: Restructuring
Restructuring charges were recorded in the Statement of Consolidated Operations as follows:

Year Ended Aug. 31, 2009

(In Millions)
Cost of goods sold' $(45)
Restructuring charges'’ (361)
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes (406)
Income tax benefit 116
Net loss $(290)

The $45 million of restructuring charges recorded in cost of goods sold were split by segment as follows: $1 million in Agricultural
Productivity and $44 million in Seeds and Genomics. The $361 million of restructuring charges were split by segment as follows:
$113 million in Agricultural Productivity and $248 million in Seeds and Genomics.

POWER OPERATING CASH FLOW

Cash flow from operations adjusted for balance-sheet items is referred to as power
operating cash flow (power OCF) because it includes a normalized adjustment for
inventory, accounts receivable, accounts payables, and other important working-
capital items, thereby creating a less managed version of the FASB definition of
GAAP-defined operating cash flows. For example, during business slowdowns,
reported cash flow from operations typically exhibits strength, while reported
earnings and power operating cash flows more accurately reflect the underlying
weakness. During other periods, GAAP measured cash flow from operating activ-
ities may show the entity as not being a good cash generator, when in fact, that is
not the case, as normalization or unusual activities are accounted for.

Power operating cash flow is a “normalized” cash flow if the company
would have maintained these working-capital accounts at average levels (in pro-
portion to sales) that the company experienced in the previous 5 years. Because
working-capital items are normally subject to period volatility and are easily man-
aged, power operating cash flow is often more useful and can result in a better
assessment of comparability among companies—it is often a more powerful
marker owing to the elimination of distortions that would relate to any manage-
ment bias. It is thus a better indication of normalized period liquidly generation,
including if used as a beginning value from which to estimate free cash flow
instead of cash flow from operations. The actual free cash flow would require
beginning with reported cash flow from operations because it would represent the
actual distributable cash during the period. For this reason, I begin my estimation
of free cash flow with cash flow from operations, not power OCF, although in my
cost-of-capital model, power OCF is an important metric.
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Aside from the working-capital items included in my definition of power
OCEF, it is also important to consider other significant company-specific current
assets or liabilities that are subject to rapid management discretion and need to be
normalized such that power OCF could provide a more accurate indication of and
clearer visibility into the current financial picture, including where the near-term
direction of the business lies. When an entity shows relative stability and similar
growth of both cash flow from operations and power OCF, management typically
is conducting business under a normal state of affairs, balance-sheet levels are in
equilibrium relative to revenues, and cash collections are at acceptable levels.
However, when there is a large deviation in a working-capital item or items, there
is commonly some event that is associated with it or an expectation of a change in
business conditions. The definition of what constitutes a large deviation would be
decided by the analyst and could vary in time and magnitude. It is conceivable that
a single quarter could be significant if the information relayed from the working-
capital change is sufficiently large.

Sometimes the event causing a break between power OCF and OCF simply
may be a desire for better asset utilization, with the intended effect of improving
free cash flow. For this reason, I look at the 5-year average when normalizing bal-
ance-sheet ratios, assuming that there have been no major changes to the business
composition; a deviation may be the result of a significant divestiture, acquisition,
or change in the manufacturing process or expected level of business. Whatever
the event, there is always a reason working-capital items have made a telling
swing relative to reported operating cash flow, and they can provide an important
clue as to current or impending changes in the risk profile. If there has been a sig-
nificant change to the business, I would shorten the 5-year period or include that
information from the combined entity.

As seen in Figure 3-4, there is a fairly consistent and smooth relationship
between the Standard and Poor’s (S&P) 500 Index and the average power OCF,
with power OCFs topping out in 2003, several years ahead of the large bear market.
The power OCFs in the figure are weighted using S&P divisors,'* identical to the
index. Between 1999 and 2004, power OCF declined, with a large fall in 2000, pre-
ceding the 2001 recession, which began in March and lasted a brief 8 months. While
power OCEF fell in 2004 and stocks rallied, the increase in the S&P was 9 percent.

During 2007, power OCF declined, in contradiction to the S&P 500, which
rose. For 2008, power OCF turned decidedly negative, consistent with the steep
recession and in contradiction with reported operating cash flows (not shown)
for the S&P 500 group of companies, which were positive by $137 million, its

14 The companies in the figure are weighted using official S&P divisors, which is not the weighted
average. For example, to calculate the power OCFs, I calculated the sum for all companies in the
index and then divided by the S&P divisor for the index, which is not released publicly.
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FIGURE 34

S&P 500 Composite Power Operating Cash Flows versus
S&P 500 Index
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highest of the decade, because managers were extremely aggressive in their man-
agement of working capital. During 2009, power OCF rose, coming out of the
recession, followed by a large rise in equity prices.

Example:

Starwood, one of world’s largest hotel companies, significantly enhanced its operating cash flows
through large tax benefits related to asset sales. When backing these benefits out, the result is a
normalized view of the health of the operating companies that make up Starwood. Starwood’s
management, by taking advantage of tax benefits related to these sales, was able to provide a
very large boost in operating cash flows, illustrating the importance of normalizing the balance
sheet to gain a longer-term perspective. Figure 3-5 shows the smooth relationship between
OCF(exclusive of the tax benefit) and market value for Starwood.

Security analysts who follow the hotel and lodging industry have, as a primary focus,
RevPar, defined as revenues per available room. They believe that greater revenues per room
will result in greater earnings and cash flows, bringing a higher stock price. However, this is not
always the case. During business slowdowns, as was observed during the recession that began
in 2007, many hotel executives lowered their room pricing, resulting in total revenues showing
only minor declines, yet their stock prices had very meaningful falls owing to the drop in free
cash flow.
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Figure 3-5 shows for Starwood Hotels the stronger relationship between power OCF and
market capitalization than with revenues, the primary driver of RevPar, which, for instance, fell by
just 1.2 percent for Starwood for their fiscal year ending 2008, according to the company’s 10K.
On the other hand, power OCFs tumbled.

Except for 2008, the relationship is extremely strong, when power OCFs rose despite the fall
in GAAP-reported cash flow from operating activities. During the first 6 months of 2009, however,
Starwood stock rose by 24 percent, again following power OCF.

On a related note, Starwood has been reporting a very inconsistent tax rate, normally a neg-
ative indicator. We will discuss this in Chapter 6.

FIGURE 35

Starwood Power OCF after Adjustment for Tax Benefits of
2006-2008
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CHAPTER 4

Free Cash Flow

It should come as no surprise there is no better predictor of stock prices than free
cash flow. It is, after all, the reason for-profit entities are started in the first place.
As the saying goes, “Cash pays the rent.” The free cash flow of the corporation is
the shareholder’s income.

Yet somewhere along the line came accrual accounting and the matching
principle, and investors became further and further alienated from free cash flow
and pushed toward financial reporting under generally accepted accounting rules,
more formerly known as generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

Free cash flow is a very intuitive concept; it focuses on the amount of cash
that owners of a business can consume without reducing the value of the business.
It recognizes that a business needs to invest in current and long-term assets in
order to continue and grow its operations. Thus free cash flow focuses on the abil-
ity of a business to generate cash flows beyond those needed to invest in such
assets as inventories, plant and equipment, advertising, labor, other cost of sales,
research and development, and the like. When a firm is able to generate more cash
flows from its ongoing operations than are needed to remain in business, the firm
has free cash flow. Such a firm can distribute the free cash flow to its owners
through dividends immediately or retain the free cash flow within the firm for
future growth and hope to generate more free cash flow in the future. Thus a firm
with growing free cash flow may be a good candidate for investment because ris-
ing free cash flow eventually will lead to higher security prices. Absent those
investors who became wealthy on the greater fool theory, all great investors
attained their status because their companies were strong and growing producers
of free cash flow.

Despite free cash flow being a primary objective of management and analyt-
ical measurements, net income must too be studied as it can emit signals which
cash flow overlooks—but its usefulness is more of short-term significance. For
example, if a firm is in distress, management will take measures to maximize cash,
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the result of which would provide high levels of cash flow from operating activi-
ties, and hence free cash flow, while GAAP reported net income portrays a weak-
ened condition. This sort of stepped-up cash management could only take place for
several reporting periods, and, to the extent it did occur, would be picked up
through the balance sheet changes reflected in power operating cash flows.
Additionally, as stock-based compensation grows in importance, and to the extent
net income influences short-term stock price movements, the GAAP net income
measure has cash flow relevance, particularly in terms of the cost of any stock buy-
backs put in place to offset dilution of issued shares. For the longer-term, however,
it is free cash flow and metrics based off of free cash flow that determines the secu-
rity price and its associated valuation.

Firms that generate free cash flow and have financial flexibility are able to
use their credit strength (low cost of capital) to finance customer’s purchases.

Example:

Boeing Co. reports in its 2008 10K customer financing slightly above $5.8 billion out of total
assets of $53.8 billion. In order to compete with Airbus, Boeing must make attractive financing
available to its customers, with the majority of such financing given to commercial airlines having
a low credit rating.

Firms that do not produce free cash flow and do not have other assets available
to satisfy their fixed charges will default on their obligations, with bankruptcy the
likely outcome. My credit model in Chapter 8 evaluates such a financial possibility.

The ability of the firm to grow free cash flow is better understood through the
use of various sensitivity models. These models show how important economic and
market events, resulting from changes to either input costs or pricing, affect rev-
enues, net income, or cash flows or the financial structure. In the following example,
JM Smucker reports the impact of a 10 percent change in market prices for its raw
materials. Since most firms do not report sensitivity analysis on their important
inputs, it is the analyst’s responsibility to do so, as I will show throughout this text,
including a sensitivity analysis in this chapter for Clorox that shows the effects of
various scenarios on the company’s free cash flow, leverage, and cost of capital.
Normally, analysts formulate their sensitivity models using best estimates from many
sources, including the company, trade associations, and traded exchange pricing. It
is, however, just as important to consider a wide range of sensitivity scenarios, not
just the ones related to the biggest numbers on the financial statements.

The following sensitivity analysis presents the company’s potential loss of fair
value of its hedged commodity portfolio resulting from a hypothetical 10 percent
change in market prices (in thousands of dollars).
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October 31, 2009 April 30, 2009
Raw material commodities:
High $20,620 $16,374
Low 1,459 3,949
Average 10,699 9,785

Source: JM Smucker, November 20, 2009, 10Q.

Fair value was determined using quoted market prices and was based on the
company’s net derivative position by commodity for the previous four quarters.
The calculations are not intended to represent actual losses in fair value that the
company expects to incur. In practice, as markets move, the company actively
manages its risk and adjusts hedging, derivative, and purchasing strategies as
appropriate. The commodities hedged have a high inverse correlation with price
changes of the derivative commodity instrument; thus the company would expect
that any gain or loss in the fair value of its derivatives generally would be offset
by an increase or decrease in the fair value of the underlying exposures.

When BP, which previously was assigned a cost of equity of 6 percent, suffered
a tragic explosion in the Gulf of Mexico, we created a sensitivity analysis which both
reduced free cash flow and raised cost of capital. By doing so, even using rough
estimates for free cash flows, we concluded it was better to avoid commitment to its
shares until a better understanding of the ramifications was apparent.

An integral part of my methodology in the estimatation of free cash flow is the
overspending on behalf of the firm. When such unnecessary spending is curtailed,
additional cash is released, often leading to higher stock prices. For example, during
a third-quarter 2009 conference call, Waste Management, Inc., executives attributed
its $30 million reduction in selling, general, and administrative (SG&A) expenses to
lower labor costs associated with an earlier restructuring. “Been running $10 million
a month—looking for ways to drive out additional costs,” their CFO stated during
the conference call, and investors reacted positively to the news, bidding up the
stock despite the company having reported lower profits.

Accounting for overspending can result in very significant free-cash-flow
recapture (as is evident in Table 4-2). This is not surprising because the tradi-
tional measure of free cash flow—net cash flow from operating activities minus
capital expenditure and cash dividends—does not capture the wasteful spending
on everything from overstaffing to acquisitions to capital expenditures as well as
it should because we are striving to gain a clear understanding of the maximum
distributable cash. The more appropriate method, as we will see, is to determine
the amount of the discretionary pie that can be considered wasteful. This is
reflected as the “Free Cash Flow Adjusted for Corporate ‘Fat’” in Table 4-2, and
as is apparent, the gap is often quite substantial.
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BP Sensitivity Analysis Resulting from Rig Explosion

Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3  Scenario 4
Free Discount Present Discount Present Free Present Present
Cash Flow  Factor  Value Using  Factor  Value Using Cash Flow Value Using Value Using
Year Per Share @ 11% 11% COE @ 10% 10% COE  Per Share 10% COE 11% COE
2010 $4.00 0.90 $3.60 0.91 $3.64 $4.00 $3.64 $3.60
2011 $1.00 0.81 $0.81 0.83 $0.83 $2.00 $1.65 $1.62
2012 $0.00 0.73 $0.00 0.75 $0.00 $3.00 $2.25 $2.19
2013 $1.00 0.66 $0.66 0.68 $0.68 $3.00 $2.05 $1.98
2014 $2.00 0.59 $1.19 0.62 $1.24 $3.00 $1.86 $1.78
2015 $2.00 0.53 $1.07 0.56 $1.13 $3.00 $1.69 $1.60
2016 $4.00 0.48 $1.93 0.51 $2.05 $4.00 $2.05 $1.93
2017 $4.00 0.43 $1.74 0.47 $1.87 $4.00 $1.87 $1.74
2018 $4.00 0.39 $1.56 0.42 $1.70 $5.00 $2.12 $1.95
2019 $4.00 0.35 $1.41 0.39 $1.54 $5.00 $1.93 $1.76
2020 $4.00 0.32 $1.27 0.35 $1.40 $5.00 $1.75 $1.59
2021 $4.00 0.29 $1.14 0.32 $1.27 $6.00 $1.91 $1.72
2022 $4.00 0.26 $1.03 0.29 $1.16 $6.00 $1.74 $1.55
2023 $4.00 0.23 $0.93 0.26 $1.05 $6.00 $1.58 $1.39
2024 $4.00 0.21 $0.84 0.24 $0.96 $6.00 $1.44 $1.25
2025 $5.00 0.19 $0.94 0.22 $1.09 $6.00 $1.31 $1.13
2026 $6.00 0.17 $1.02 0.20 $1.19 $6.00 $1.19 $1.02
2027 $6.00 0.15 $0.92 0.18 $1.08 $6.00 $1.08 $0.92
2028 $6.00 0.14 $0.83 0.16 $0.98 $6.00 $0.98 $0.83
2029 $6.00 0.12 $0.74 0.15 $0.89 $6.00 $0.89 $0.74
2030 $7.00 0.11 $0.78 0.14 $0.95 $7.00 $0.95 $0.78
2031 $7.00 0.10 $0.70 0.12 $0.86 $7.00 $0.86 $0.70
2032 $7.00 0.09 $0.63 0.11 $0.78 $7.00 $0.78 $0.63
2033 $7.00 0.08 $0.57 0.10 $0.71 $7.00 $0.71 $0.57
2034* $30.00 0.07 $2.21 0.09 $2.77 $30.00 $2.77 $2.21
FV $28.52 $31.81 $41.05 $37.19
Probability 15% 15% 30% 40%
Weighted Average $36.24

*terminal value

Source: Research Insight, CT Capital LLC.

Some of the companies in the table are known to be greater producers of
excess cash than is determined using a GAAP approach. For instance, Altria,
according to the commonly used definition, produced a paltry $86 million in free
cash flow for its fiscal year ending 2008. That magnitude of free cash certainly
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would not support the company’s $36 billion market value. Thus there must
be another factor at work. Altria, according to its statement of cash flows, paid
$4 4 billion in dividends, which, along with stock repurchases of $1.2 billion and
subtracting the net debt increase of $2.7 billion, all else equal, would have
resulted in generation of $2.9 billion in free cash flow. During the year, Altria
also paid a large $3 billion dividend to Phillip Morris International, which is why
the company’s net debt increased.

Below I summarize Altria’s free cash flow of $5.098 billion (the amount in
Table 4-1), which represents the actual cash Altria normally could have distributed
to its shareholders without impairing its future growth opportunities. Net operating
cash flows may not match published financial statements owing to adjustments
(discussed in Chapter 8).

TABLE 4-1

Altria Corp.
Cash Flow Items-Discretionary
Most Previous
Recent Quarter  Quarter
Year Dec-04 Dec-05 Dec-06 Dec-07 Dec-08 Jun-09 Jun-08
Net Operating Cash Flow 10890.0 11060.0 13586.0 10304.0 4755.0 (1908.0) (2381.0)
Capital Expenditures 1913.0 2206.0 2454.0 1458.0 241.0 69.0 40.0
Sale of PPE NA NA NA NA 525.0 0.0 NA
Free Cash Flow — Including
Discretionary ltems 8977.0 8854.0 11132.0 8846.0 5039.0 (1977.0) (2421.0)
Free Cash Flow — Excluding
Discretionary Items 9463.3 9188.1 11298.2 9056.1  5098.4 — —
Discretionary Capital Expenditures 0.0 0.0 62.3 185.9 0.0 — —
Discretionary R&D 49.2 33.0 25.3 24.2 2.4 — —
Discretionary Cost of Goods
Sold 4371 301.0 25.1 0.0 57.1 — —
Discretionary SG&A 0.0 57.1 0.0 53.5 0.0 — —
Discretionary Advertising 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 —_ —
Large Buildup (Reduction) in
Accounts Receivable 0.0 7781  (277.8) 337.9 101.7 (1321.8) (1711.1)
Large Buildup (Reduction)
in Inventory (1805.2) 945.7 635.2 1822.9 45759 (1863.3) (2486.3)
Large Buildup (Reduction)
in Accounts Payable (3117.7)  2353.3 6509 1883.5 4576.1 2176.8 (659.6)

Source: CT Capital, LLC.
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ALTRIA CORP.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, 2008
(Millions of Dollars)

Year Ended December 31,
2008 2007 2006

Cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Earnings from continuing operations—consumer products $3,065 $2,910 $3,059
Earnings from continuing operations—financial services 25 221 123
Earnings from discontinued operations, net of income

taxes and minority interest 1,840 6,655 8,840
Net earnings 4,930 9,786 12,022
Impact of earnings from discontinued operations,

net of income taxes and minority interest (1,840) (6,655) (8,840)
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to operating cash flows:
Consumer products:
Depreciation and amortization 215 232 255
Deferred income tax provision (benefit) 121 101 (332)
Equity earnings in SABMiller (467) (510) (460)
Dividends from SABMiller 249 224 193
Escrow bond for the Engle tobacco case 1,300
Escrow bond for the Price tobacco case 1,850
Asset impairment and exit costs, net of cash paid 197 333 7
Gain on sale of corporate headquarters building (404)
Loss on early extinguishment of debt 393
Income tax reserve reversal (1,006)
Cash effects of changes, net of the effects from acquired and

divested companies:
Receivables, net (84) 162 150
Inventories 185 375 216
Accounts payable (162) (82) (105)
Income taxes (201) (900) (398)
Accrued liabilities and other current assets 27) (247) (45)
Accrued settlement charges 5 434 50
Pension plan contributions (45) (37) (288)
Pension provisions and postretirement, net 192 165 318
Other 139 302 299
Financial services:
Deferred income tax benefit (259) (320) (238)
Allowance for losses 100 103
Other (22) (83) (102)
Net cash provided by operating activities—continuing operations 3,215 4,580 3,649
Net cash provided by operating activities—discontinued operations 1,666 5,736 9,937
Net cash provided by operating activities 4,881 10,316 13,586

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006

Cash provided by (used in) investing activities:
Consumer products

Capital expenditures $(241)  $(386)  $(399)
Proceeds from sale of corporate headquarters building 525

Purchase of businesses, net of acquired cash (2,898)

Other 110 108 (6)
Financial services

Investments in finance assets (1) (5) (15)
Proceeds from finance assets 403 486 357
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities—continuing operations 796 (2,695) (63)
Net cash used in investing activities—discontinued operations (317) (2,560) (555)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 479  (5,255) (618)

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities:
Consumer products

Net issuance of short-term borrowings 2 1
Long-term debt proceeds 6,738
Long-term debt repaid (4,057) (500) (2,052)
Financial services
Long-term debt repaid (617) (1,015)
Repurchase of Altria Group, Inc., common stock (1,166)
Dividends paid on Altria Group, Inc., common stock (4,428) (6,652) (6,815)
Issuance of Altria Group, Inc., common stock 89 423 486
Kraft Foods, Inc., dividends paid to Altria Group, Inc. 728 1,369
Philip Morris International, Inc., dividends paid to Altria Group, Inc. 3,019 6,560 2,780
Debt issuance costs (46)
Tender and consent fees related to the early extinguishment of debt (371)
Changes in amounts due to/from discontinued operations (664) (370) (166)
Other (51) 278 164
Net cash used in financing activities—continuing operations (937) (148) (5,248)
Net cash used in financing activities—discontinued operations (1,648) (3,531) (9,118)
Net cash used in financing activities (2,585) (3,679) (14,366)
Effect of exchange-rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Continuing operations 34
Discontinued operations (126) 347 126
(126) 347 160
Cash and cash equivalents—continuing operations:
Increase (decrease) 3,074 1,737 (1,628)
Balance at beginning of year 4,842 3,105 4,733
Balance at end of year $7,916  $4,842 $3,105
Cash paid—continuing operations:
Interest—Consumer products $208 $348 $377
— Financial services $38 $62 $108
Income taxes $1,837 $2,241 $3,074

Source: Altria Corp 2008 10K.
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In the following section I discuss an improvement to commonly used free-cash-
flow definitions, one that enhances the widespread definition by including the discre-
tionary departments we see with Altria (Table 4-1). As affirmed during the
2007-2009 severe economic downturn, the vast number of entities reducing overhead
and discretionary expenses created significant additional free cash flow, leading, for
the year 2009, to a big run in equity valuations. For instance, during 2009, it was com-
mon for companies to report declines or disappointments in revenues with surpris-
ingly strong free cash flow; on this list were IBM, Coca-Cola, Quest, Hill-Rom, and
Waste Management. The potential improvements were picked up by the model.

My adjusted measure effectively captures such excess and adds it back as
free cash flow. By doing so, I am able to more correctly value the entity as a cash-
flow-maximizing enterprise, just as firms actually were being managed during the
recession and ensuing slow period of revenue growth.

Table 4-2 compares large free-cash-flow generators using the most prevalent
formula in security analyst models compared with my adjusted definition, which
includes corporate “fat.”

TABLE 42

Large Free-Cash-Flow Generators: Traditional versus Adjusted
Definition (Fiscal Year 2008)

Free Cash Flow
Adjusted for Traditional
Company Name Ticker Corporate “Fat” Free Cash Flow
Abbott Laboratories ABT 6,393 3,882
Allianz SE-ADR AZ 36,257 30,018
Altria Group, Inc. MO 5,098 86
Amgen, Inc. AMGN 5,568 5,316
Anglo American PLC-ADR AAUK 4,561 1,369
Apple, Inc. AAPL 8,810 8,505
Arcelormittal-ADR MT 10,506 6,545
Astrazeneca PLC-ADR AZN 7,996 4,908
AXA-ADR AXA 29,635 25,156
Berkshire Hathaway BRK.A 9,069 5114
BHP Billiton Group (GBR)-ADR BBL 10,103 6,116
BP PLC-ADR BP 19,933 5,095
British Amern TOB PLC-ADR BTI 4,610 2,482
Chevron Corp. CVX 18,777 4,804
China Life Insurance Co.-ADR LFC 12,532 10,272
China Telecom Corp., Ltd.-ADR CHA 5,183 3,509
CISCO Systems, Inc. CSCO 11,272 10,821
Coca-Cola Co. KO 6,077 2,082
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Free Cash Flow
Adjusted for

Traditional

Company Name Ticker Corporate “Fat” Free Cash Flow
COMCAST Corp. CMCSA 4,667 3,934
Discover Financial Services, Inc. DFS 4,557 4,294
Exxon Mobil Corp. XOM 41,630 32,349
Gazprom OAO-ADR OGZPY 6,357 (581)
Glaxosmithkline PLC-ADR GSK 8,786 4,168
Google, Inc. GOOG 5,817 5,494
Hewlett-Packard Co. HPQ 12,155 10,805
Imperial Tobacco Group-ADR ITYBY 5,670 1,779
ING Group NV-ADR ING 18,365 10,449
Intel Corp. INTC 5,920 2,629
International Business Machines Corp. IBM 15,237 12,056
Johnson & Johnson JNJ 12,202 6,882
Lilly (Eli) & Co. LLY 7,634 4,292
Lukoil Oil Co.-ADR LUKQOY 6,118 2,350
Merck & Co. MRK 5,453 1,995
Microsoft Corp. MSFT 16,959 11,450
Nestle SA-ADR 3NSRGY 6,101 1,251
Nippon Telegrph & Telephone-ADR NTT 12,146 9,751
Novartis AG-ADR NVS 8,121 4,081
NTT Docomo, Inc.-ADR DCM 6,636 4,559
Occidental Petroleum Corp. OXY 6,474 5,048
Oracle Corp. ORCL 7,773 7,476
Pepsico, Inc. PEP 4,848 2,012
Phelps Dodge Corp. PD 4,791 2,913
Philip Morris International PM 6,889 1,757
Prudential Financial, Inc. PRU 12,229 10,521
Rio Tinto Group (AUS)-ADR RTOLY 6,969 4,376
Roche Holding, Ltd.-ADR RHHBY 8,911 4,673
Royal Dutch Shell PLC-ADR RDS.A 17,043 (663)
Sanofi-Aventis-ADR SNY 10,762 5,867
Siemens AG-ADR S 7,464 4,845
Statoilhydro ASA-ADR STO 6,976 1,448
Taiwan Semiconductor-ADR TSM 5,069 2,610
Telecom ltalia SPA-ADR TI 8,284 5,399
Time Warner, Inc. TWX 6,746 5,054
Tokio Marine Holdings—ADR TKOMY 8,215 7,747
Total SA-ADR TOT 10,999 2,593
United Parcel Service, Inc. UPS 6,233 3,571
United Technologies Corp. UTX 4,965 3,735
Verizon Communications, Inc. \'V4 10,190 4,388
Vodafone Group PLC-ADR VOD 11,259 4,284
Volkswagen AG-ADR VLKAY 12,549 11,392
Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. WMT 13,085 7,902

151

Source: CT Capital LLC.
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Example:

In its 2009 10K filing, JCPenney used the expression free cash flow 15 times, writing that it is cen-
tral to maintaining a strong competitive position. They stated

To enhance our liquidity position and ensure we maintain a strong financial position, we
addressed these difficult operating conditions by focusing on those areas within our con-
trol, specifically by reducing inventory and tightly controlling operating expenses. As a
result of our efforts, we finished the year with approximately $2.4 billion of cash and cash
equivalents on our balance sheet. Our strong liquidity and solid financial position allow us
to focus our efforts on appropriately managing inventory levels, operating expenses, and
capital expenditures under our Bridge Plan without the need for substantial changes to our
business model. A significant accomplishment and indication of our solid financial position
is shown by our free cash flow (a non-GAAP financial measure defined and discussed on
page 28), which provided a positive $21 million despite the harsh economic conditions.

And Penney defines free cash flow as follows:

Free Cash Flow (Non-GAAP Financial Measure)

We define free cash flow as net cash provided by operating activities of continuing
operations less capital expenditures and dividends paid, plus proceeds from sale of
assets. Free cash flow is considered a non-GAAP financial measure under the rules of
the Securities and Exchange Commission. We believe that free cash flow is a relevant
indicator of our ability to repay maturing debt, revise our dividend policy, or fund other
uses of capital that we believe will enhance stockholder value. Free cash flow is limited
and does not represent remaining cash flows available for discretionary expenditures due
to the fact that the measure does not deduct the payments required for debt maturities
and other obligations or payments made for business acquisitions. Therefore, we believe
it is important to view free cash flow in addition to, rather than as a substitute for, our entire
statement of cash flows and those measures prepared in accordance with GAAP.

The following table reconciles net cash provided by operating activities of continuing
operations, the most directly comparable GAAP measure, to free cash flow, a non-GAAP
financial measure.

($ in millions)

2008 2007 2006

Net cash provided by operating activities of

continuing operations (GAAP measure) $1,155 $1,2492 $1,2582
Less:
Capital expenditures (969) (1,243) (772)
Dividends paid, common (178) (174) (153)
Plus:
Proceeds from sale of assets 13 26 20
Free cash flow (a non-GAAP financial measure) $21 $(142) $353

aIncludes a $300 million discretionary cash contribution to our qualified pension plan in 2006. The approximately
$110 million tax benefit related to the 2006 contribution was realized in 2007. No such contributions were made
in 2008 or 2007.

Notwithstanding the difficult operating conditions in 2008, we generated $21 million
of positive free cash flow, an improvement of $163 million over 2007.

Source: JCPenney 2009 10K.




Free Cash Flow

153

For Penney, beginning with Operating Cash Flow, adding asset sales and
subtracting capital expenditures would have endorsed the most commonly used
industry and analyst definition. Its subtraction of common stock dividends is
acceptable because free cash flow is meant to include distributable cash. A review
of financial filings reveals that a large number of company’s tailor-make their own
formula.

For example, U.S. Concrete includes properties acquired, including the
purchase of competitor’s assets, in its interpretation.

Example:

We define free cash flow as net cash provided by operating activities less purchases
of property, plant, and equipment (net of disposals). Free cash flow is a liquidity
measure not prepared in accordance with GAAP. Our management uses free cash
flow in managing our business because we consider it to be an important indicator of
our ability to service our debt and generate cash for acquisitions and other strategic
investments. We believe free cash flow may provide users of our financial information
additional meaningful comparisons between current results and results in prior oper-
ating periods. As a non-GAAP financial measure, free cash flow should be viewed in
addition to, and not as an alternative for, our reported operating results or cash flow
from operations or any other measure of performance prepared in accordance with
GAAP.

Our historical net cash provided by operating activities and free cash flow is as
follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006
Net cash provided by operating activities $29,678 $44,338 $39,537
Less: Purchases of properties and equipment, net
of disposals of $4,403, $2,574, and $3,699 (23,380) (27,145) (38,232)
Free cash flow $6,298 $17,193 $1,305

Source: U.S. Concrete 2008 10K.

Example:
Dun & Bradstreet

We define free cash flow as net cash provided by operating activities minus capital
expenditures and additions to computer software and other intangibles.
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Example:
Monsanto

We define free cash flow as the total of net cash provided or required by operating
activities and net cash provided or required by investing activities.

Monsanto’s definition leaves much to its own interpretation regarding cash required in its
investing activities. Is it purely capital expenditures? The answer is no, because the timing of
Monsanto’s short-term debt maturity schedule can influence its defined free cash flow. During
2008, capital expenditures from its statement of cash flows were $918 million and for 2007 they
were $507 million. Obviously, Monsanto’s definition can lead to easy manipulation. The timing and
classification of the investment items must be reviewed with a determination of whether they are
normal for Monsanto.

Cash Flow

Year Ended Aug. 31,

(Dollars in Millions) 2008 2007 2006
Net cash provided by operating activities $2,799 $1,854 $1,674
Net cash required by investing activities (2,027) (1,911) (625)
Free cash flow? 772 (57) 1,049
Net cash required by financing activities (102) (583) (117)
Effect of exchange-rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 77 46 3
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 747  (594) 935
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 866 1,460 525
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $1,613  $866 $1,460

aFree cash flow represents the total of net cash provided or required by operating activities and provided or required by
investing activities (see the “Overview—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” section of MD&A for a further discussion).

From Monsanto’s statement of cash flows:

Cash flows provided (required) by investing activities:

Purchases of short-term investments (132) 59) (171)
Maturities of short-term investments 59 22 300
Capital expenditures (918) (509) (370)
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired (1,007) (1,679) (258)
Purchases of long-term equity securities (78) — —
Technology and other investments 41) (54) (147)
Proceeds from sale of Stoneville and NexGen businesses

(see Note 27) — 317 —
Other investments and property disposal proceeds 90 51 21
Net Cash Required by Investing Activities (2,027) (1,911) (625)

Source: Monsanto 2008 10K.
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Example:

Century Aluminum excludes capital expenditures related to a certain plant expansion and
increase in that project’s short-term cash. As the company reports in its 2007 10K:

We define free cash flow as net cash (used in) provided by operating activities less
capital expenditures (other than capital expenditures related to the expansion of
Grundartangi) and including the net increase in short-term investments due to their
liquidity. Our calculation of free cash flow may not be comparable to similarly titled
measures reported by other companies due to differences in the components used

in its calculation.

Example:

Comfort Systems adds back taxes paid from the sale of businesses because it was subtracted from
net operating cash flows. Unlike JCPenney, Comfort Systems reports free cash flows exclusive of

its dividend payments. It deducts “customary” capital spending.

Year ended December 31

(in Thousands)

2005 2006 2007

Cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities $37,446 $17,734 $83,642

Investing activities $(6,769) $17,721 $(18,132)

Financing activities $(7,660) $(762) $(16,165)
Free cash flow:

Cash provided by operating activities $37,446 $17,734 $83,642

Taxes paid related to the sale of businesses — 7,020 —

Purchases of property and equipment (6,188) (8,113) (11,088)

Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 696 477 265
Free cash flow $31,954 $17,118 $72,819

Cash Flow—We define free cash flow as cash provided by operating activities exclud-
ing items related to sales of businesses, less customary capital expenditures, plus the
proceeds from asset sales. Positive free cash flow represents funds available to invest
in significant operating initiatives, to acquire other companies, or to reduce a company’s
outstanding debt or equity. If free cash flow is negative, additional debt or equity is gen-
erally required to fund the outflow of cash. Free cash flow may be defined differently by

other companies.
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Our business does not require significant amounts of investment in long-term fixed
assets. The substantial majority of the capital used in our business is working capital that
funds our costs of labor and installed equipment deployed in project work until our cus-
tomers pay us. Customary terms in our industry allow customers to withhold a small por-
tion of the contract price until after we have completed the work, typically for six months.
Amounts withheld under this practice are known as retention or retainage. Our average
project duration together with typical retention terms generally allow us to complete the real-
ization of revenue and earnings in cash within one year. Accordingly, we believe free cash
flow, by encompassing both profit margins and the use of working capital over our approx-
imately one year working capital cycle, is an effective measure of operating effectiveness
and efficiency. We have included free cash flow information here for this reason, and
because we are often asked about it by third parties evaluating us. However, free cash flow
is not considered under generally accepted accounting principles to be a primary measure
of an entity’s financial results, and accordingly free cash flow should not be considered an
alternative to operating income, net income, or amounts shown in our consolidated state-
ments of cash flows as determined under generally accepted accounting principles.

Free cash flow plays such a leading role in decision making and planning
that a few creditors have begun taking it into consideration when formulating debt
repayment schedules. This should help borrowers in their long-range planning and
allow for a healthier enterprise. One might wonder, though, if, by basing interest
payments on free cash flow, it might cause a borrower to manipulate its balance
sheet to lower upcoming obligations or perhaps assume greater risks, which could
negate free cash flow. As a term of some loans by private equity groups, free cash
flow is being used as a condition of an earn-out—if free cash flow exceeds a pre-
determined level, the acquirer or lender receives additional equity.

Example:
Debt

December December
31, 2005 31,2004

Debt consists of the following:
1. Revolving credit at lender prime rate (7.00 percent) at

December 31, 2005, plus 0.75 percent, interest payable

monthly. Secured by receivables and inventory. $6,193,000 $10,195,000
2. $900,000 mortgage note secured by Hope, AK, property.

Monthly principal payments of $13,687. Monthly interest

due at bank prime (7.00 percent) plus 2 percent on

unpaid principal balance. Term of note 7 years. 762,000 866,000
3. Promissory notes payable, non-interest-bearing. Payable
in 28 payments quarterly through 1st gtr. 2005. -0- 6,000

4. Earn-out notes payable, non-interest-bearing. Contingent
on the availability of defined free cash flow, payable
up to $500,000 annually in years 2005-2009. 1,793,000 1,793,000
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December December
31, 2005 31, 2004
5. Asset purchase promissory note payable. Payable monthly.

Contingent on attaining certain sales levels. 130,000 130,000
Total debt $8,878,000 $12,990,000
Less portion due within one year 109,000 110,000
Total long-term debt $8,769,000 $12,880,00
Source: Champion Parts 2007 10K.

Figure 4-1 illustrates, by industry, major Standard and Poor’s (S&P) indus-
try groups based on their 3-year average free cash flow.! Although the consumer

FIGURE 4-1

Free-Cash-Flow Multiples by S&P 500 Industries
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! 'The determination of the period on which to average cash flows is based on the company, industry,
and desire to include an economic cycle while incorporating the current and forward capital structure.
In this book I use both 3- and 4-year average free cash flow because both metrics currently include
economic expansion and contraction. Since the economic expansion began in 2009, in 2011, the
analyst would prefer the 4-year measure. In my cost-of-capital worksheet, I include periods as far
back as 10 years, although the older periods carry less weight.
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discretionary stocks shows the highest valuation multiple, it is a result of falling
cash flows; the consumer staple stocks actually turned in the best relative perform-
ance, not surprising given the period of economic weakness. Financial stocks are
excluded because many of the companies had negative free cash flow.

When accounting rules distort the relation between cash and reported income,
cash-flow analysis becomes increasingly important. Because entities typically define
free cash flow using a mix of GAAP and non-GAAP components, though, they fall
short of the measure’s purpose—that of providing the maximum return to the busi-
ness owners without impairing future growth in free cash flow.

Taxes are an important focal point of securities analysis owing to their scope, size,
and direct and measurable impact on cash flows. Taxes impair current and prospec-
tive operating cash flows because taxes are imposed on residual profits—the only
question is the degree. Investment projects are always considered on an after-tax basis
from both the income tax effect and the financing effect. Special tax incentives also
may affect the hurdle rate and project return in invested capital (ROIC). Because
taxes are not imposed on the income an enterprise pays as interest to creditors, the
income tax system creates a bias in favor of debt financing. This bias often results in
the overuse of leverage by some firms and a greater probability of bankruptcy.

A change in the marginal tax rate will influence the amount of capital firms
invest by changing the cost of debt capital. This is so because the tax shield will
become either larger or smaller, resulting in greater or diminished project free
cash flow.

Some industries are, by their nature (i.e., mature, stable, no non-U.S. income),
subject to heavier taxation, whereas others, owing to their jurisdiction, are subject
to tax benefits. Changes in tax rates can impair cash flows or allow for relief. Tax
holidays can provide a temporary salve and must be monitored for the holiday’s end.
For example, Stanley Works, Inc., stated in its 2008 10K: “Tax holidays resulted in
a reduction of tax expense amounting to $2.7 million in 2008, $4.3 million in 2007,
and $3.1 million in 2006. The tax holiday in Thailand is in place until 2010, while
the tax holiday in China expires between 2009 and 2015.”

Tax disputes leave shareholders in doubt as to the firm’s real cash flows,
whereas completion of a tax audit can provide relief in the form of certainty of
prospective free cash flow. The loss of a tax dispute can trigger a loan-covenant
violation if the payment reduces cash flows, or earnings, below that called for in
the loan agreement.

The tax status may affect the choice of financing alternatives. For instance,
a firm with loss carry-forwards, tax credits, or expected losses for tax purposes
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may wish to choose equity as a financing vehicle because it might not benefit from
the deductibility of interest expense.

Taxes provide an impetus for shifting income between countries, including
where to borrow. Entities that transact business in both high- and low-taxation
jurisdictions may shift income by borrowing in high-tax countries. They also may
shift income out of high-tax jurisdictions by financing a project in a high-tax coun-
try from loans from affiliates in a low-tax country. Some countries limit such a
practice, including the United States.

Taxes represent one of the highest costs of doing business. In 2007, total cor-
porate taxes amounted to $370 billion, according to the Congressional Budget
Office (CBO). Entire organizations are uprooted in search of low-tax territories,
often resulting in large cash savings. Certain industries, such as insurance and
pharmaceuticals, have found success in such jurisdictions, engaging in a form of
income tax “arbitrage,” where they hold cash and earn income in low-tax coun-
tries and incur other expenses in high-tax countries. ALICO, a large insurer, does
this between Japan and Eastern Europe. While this focus on tax minimization
often has its intended benefits, it is not always the case. Attracting new employees
is not always easy and can result in poor productivity as new hires ramp up the
learning curve. The Tonka Toy Company’s production shift from Minnesota to
Mexico was a failure owing, in part, to poor productivity at the new facility.

The statutory federal rates are up to 35 percent in the United States, 30 percent
in Japan, 33 percent in Europe, and 25 percent in China. When the federal statutory
corporate income tax rate of 35 percent is added to the weighted average of state cor-
porate income taxes, the resulting rate is 39.3 percent, as shown in Table 4-4.
Companies holding cash offshore also may be subject to a repatriation tax that

TABLE 4-3

U.S. Corporate Income Tax Rates

Taxable

Income Over Not Over Tax Rate
$0 $50,000 15 percent
50,000 75,000 25 percent
75,000 100,000 34 percent
100,000 335,000 39 percent
335,000 10,000,000 34 percent
10,000,000 15,000,000 35 percent
15,000,000 18,333,333 38 percent
18,333,333 35 percent

Source: Internal Revenue Code, Title 26, Subtitle A.
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TABLE 44

Comparing U.S. State Corporate Taxes to the OECD

Combined
OECD Federal Top State Federal and
Overall Rate Corporate State Rate
Rank Country/State Adjusted Tax Rate (Adjusted)?

lowa 35 12 41.6

Pennsylvania 35 9.99 415

Minnesota 35 9.8 414

Massachusetts 35 9.5 41.2

Alaska 35 9.4 411

New Jersey 35 9.36 411

Rhode Island 35 9 40.9

West Virginia 35 9 40.9

Maine 35 8.93 40.8

Vermont 35 8.9 40.8

California 35 8.84 40.7

Delaware 35 8.7 40.7

Indiana 35 8.5 40.5

New Hampshire 35 8.5 40.5

Wisconsin 35 7.9 40.1

Nebraska 35 7.81 40.1

Idaho 35 7.6 39.9

New Mexico 35 7.6 39.9

Connecticut 35 7.5 39.9

New York 35 7.5 39.9

Kansas 35 7.35 39.8

lllinois 35 7.3 39.7

Maryland 35 7 39.6

North Dakota 35 7 39.6

1 Japan 30 11.56 39.54

Arizona 35 6.968 39.5

North Carolina 35 6.9 39.5

Montana 35 6.75 39.4

Oregon 35 6.6 39.3

2 United States 35 6.57 39.27

Arkansas 35 6.5 39.2

Tennessee 35 6.5 39.2

Washington* 35 6.4 39.2

Hawaii 35 6.4 39.2

3 Germany 26.38 17.0 38.9

Michigan* 35 6 38.9

Georgia 35 6 38.9

Kentucky 35 6 38.9

Oklahoma 35 6 38.9

Virginia 35 6 38.9
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Combined
OECD Federal Top State Federal and
Overall Rate Corporate State Rate
Rank Country/State Adjusted Tax Rate (Adjusted)?
Florida 35 5.5 38.6
Louisiana 35 8 38.5
Missouri 35 6.25 38.4
Ohio 35 5.1 38.3
Mississippi 35 5 38.3
South Carolina 35 5 38.3
Utah 35 5 38.3
Colorado 35 4.63 38.0
Alabama 35 6.5 37.8
4 Canada 22.1 14 36.1
Texas™ 35 1.6 36.0
Nevada 35 0 35.0
South Dakota 35 0 35.0
Wyoming 35 0 35.0
5 France 34.43 0 34.4
6 Belgium 33.99 0 33.99
7 ltaly 33 0 33
8 New Zealand 33 0 33
9 Spain 325 0 325
10 Luxembourg 22.88 7.5 30.38
11 Australia 30 0 30
12 United Kingdom 30 0 30
13 Mexico 28 0 28
14 Norway 28 0 28
15 Sweden 28 0 28
16 Korea 25 2.5 27.5
17 Portugal 25 15 26.5
18 Finland 26 0 26
19 Netherlands 25.5 0 25.5
20 Austria 25 0 25
21 Denmark 25 0 25
22 Greece 25 0 25
23 Czech Republic 24 0 24
24 Switzerland 8.50 14.64 21.32
25 Hungary 20 0 20
26 Turkey 20 0 20
27 Poland 19 0 19
28 Slovak Republic 19 0 19
29 Iceland 18 0 18
30 Ireland 12.5 0 125
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*Michigan, Texas, and Washington have gross receipts taxes rather than traditional corporate income taxes. For comparison purposes,
we converted the gross receipts taxes into an effective CIT rate.

aCombined rate adjusted for federal deduction of state taxes paid.

Source: OECD, www.oecd.org/dataoecd/26/56/33717459.xIs.
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would need to be discounted by that rate. For example, Textron, during 2009,
reported lower earnings in part owing to the year-earlier temporary tax benefit asso-
ciated with repatriation of cash. Also seen in the table are the combined tax rates of
U.S. states and various leading countries where many U.S. entities conduct business.

No wonder Ireland, with its 12.5 percent tax rate, has been so successful in
attracting businesses from around the world. In general, small countries have lower
tax rates. Differences in corporate tax rates affect where businesses decide to invest.

Because the U.S. tax code offers preferential treatment to equity holders in
the form of capital gains, there is an incentive for corporations to invest in value-
enhancing projects rather than pay out dividends.

Many states tax the portion of income attributable to income within their
state. There are three states in the United States having a zero corporate tax rate,
whereas Texas has a 1.6 percent rate. As states become hard pressed to balance
their budgets, tax rates often increase, affecting corporate cash flows. Other times,
large employers may enter treaties with states, fixing their rate at a reduced level
for a specified period of time.

A low tax rate, defined as being below the statutory rate, raises a flag for an
apparently healthy company and, as such, might provide a boost to free cash flow
that might be unsustainable. For example, a company that enjoys the advantage of
a tax-haven jurisdiction, such as Bermuda-based companies, would receive a
severe jolt to their cash flows if that benefit were stripped away. If the tax benefit
were removed, its effect on their market values could be dramatic.

Last in, first out (LIFO) accounting can lower the cash tax rate as input prices
rise, but bear in mind, the entities adopting LIFO are required to use it for finan-
cial reporting purposes. If input prices fall, their taxes would rise. Shareholders’
equity also will rise by the LIFO reserve.

Stock-based compensation often yields a tax deduction to the issuer regard-
less of whether the issuer has been expensing the awards for financial reporting
purposes. It will be reported under operating activities only to the extent it relates
to the accounting expense. If the credit is larger, it is considered a financing activ-
ity. The tax deduction takes place on the exercise, the granting of the options. For
shareholder reporting, the issuer expenses the fair value of the options, determined
on the grant date. The tax benefit, for shareholder reporting, is shown as an
increase to shareholders equity because GAAP does not allow an entity to record
a tax deduction for excess tax benefits, as is illustrated in the following example,
of Globecomm, Inc., in its 2009 10K.

During the year ended June 30, 2008, based on positive evidence from
our earnings trends, we recognized a portion of our deferred tax assets
through a reduction in our deferred tax asset valuation allowance of
approximately $12.5 million. As of June 30, 2007, we maintained a full
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valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets due to our prior
history of pre-tax losses and uncertainty about the timing of and ability
to generate taxable income in the future and our assessment that the
realization of the deferred tax assets did not meet the “more likely than
not” criterion under FAS 109. At June 30, 2009 and 2008, we had a
deferred tax valuation allowance of approximately $6.6 million
primarily relating to $6.2 million from net operating losses related to
excess stock based compensation expense deductions. If the remaining
valuation allowance for the excess stock based compensation were to be
reversed, the amount would be recorded to additional paid-in capital as
it is attributable to the tax effects of excess compensation deductions
from exercises of employee stock options.

Federal income taxpayers that receive income (cash flows) from tax-exempt
securities would be placed into a higher tax bracket if that benefit somehow were
curbed or if those assets were replaced with productive assets. Also, compensation
for corporate officers greater than $1 million cannot be deducted from income
unless such compensation is paid pursuant to shareholders approval on attainment
of specified performance objectives. If this Internal Revenue Service (IRS) provi-
sion were to change, so too might the tax rate.

If there is settlement of a lawsuit, the amount of the payment should be
adjusted to taxes because the payments normally are tax deductable. In general,
deductibility depends on whether the expenditures stem from actions taken in the
ordinary conduct of business or, instead, have their origin in a capital transaction,
such as an acquisition. Expenditures of the latter are not deductible. For a settle-
ment, taxes would be due.

In a business combination where there is a recapitalization, in which the
assets are restructured and there is no step up with respect to purchase price and the
net assets acquired, there is no transactional goodwill. Generally, all goodwill is
nondeductible for tax purposes unless it arises from an asset sale or a deemed asset
sale under the tax code, where it is amortized over 15 years using the straight-line
method. Therefore, nondeductible goodwill has a tax basis of zero.

To the extent that an entity is able to enjoy a consistently low cash tax rate, the
advantage will accrue to both creditors and shareholders. When I studied the invest-
ment returns for companies having cash tax rates of 35 percent and above and those
having a tax rate of O to 20 percent, I found that the low-rate companies (having a
$250 million minimum market value) outperformed for the five-year period ending
October 2009, having a 9.1 percent median total return versus a median 6.6 percent
total return for the high taxpayers. It was only when I introduced the tax-stability
measures, as described in Chapter 8, that I found that stable payers outperformed the
unstable payers by 9.5 to 3.1 percent during the identical period.
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Consistent tax rate companies at any level normally also have cash flows
that are more predictable. This makes sense because the tax provision is mostly
a residual of the firm’s operating success. The stable rate allows executives to
plan better and accept projects more readily owing to a stable return on invest-
ment (ROI). It was not a surprise that when searching for clues of the impending
bankruptcy of Enron, an inconsistent tax rate was one that stood out, along with
its use of “mark-to-market” accounting to prop up values.

Oracle Corporation’s income in low-tax jurisdictions enables the company to
lower its cash tax rate significantly, the company claiming that those overseas
funds that generated the income were permanently invested in those countries.

Year Ended May 31 (in Millions)

2009 2008 2007
Tax provision at statutory rate $2,742 $2,742 $2,095
Foreign earnings at other than U.S. rates (673) (569) (580)
State tax expense, net of federal benefit 201 135 98
Settlement of audits and expiration of statutes, net (28) (20) (29)
Other (1) 25 128
Total provision for income taxes $2,241 $2,313 $1,712

Source: Oracle Corp. 2009 10K.

By permanently investing capital in low-tax-rate geographies, an enterprise is
able to enjoy lower foreign tax rates without being subject to the full U.S. rate. Should
entities that, for years, have low tax rates owing to non-U.S. operating profits be
penalized with a higher cost of capital? Yes, because it does present a potential risk,
although the “hit” to cost of equity capital could be only slight, depending on the indi-
vidual country risk in which such companies operate, as well as the percentage of
total free cash flow received from those countries. In certain foreign jurisdictions,
exchange controls make it difficult to repatriate cash back to the United States.

For the analyst, taxes represent more than a use or source (refund) of cash.
They can provide an important clue as to the stability of the cash flows and, at
times, provide a short-term forecast of year-end results.

As illustrated in an upcoming example, Airgas Corp. received a tax refund in
a year they reported $54.8 million in net income to shareholders. The Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows (SFAS 95),
classifies income tax payments as cash flow from operating activities, even though
some income tax payments relate to gains and losses on investing and financing
activities, such as gains and losses on plant asset disposals and early debt extin-
guishments. Table 4-5 provides a list of companies where there is a disparity
between the effective tax rate and cash income taxes paid given their reported net
income. The four columns at the right are the most revealing.
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TABLE 45

Taxes Disparity Between Taxes Paid and Effective Rate

Ticker Effective Effective Income Income Net Income Income
Company Name Symbol Rate[-1Y] Rate[0Y] Taxes Paid[-1Y] Taxes Paid[0Y] (Loss) (Loss)[0Y]
CAMERON INTERNATIONAL CORP CAM 31.917 26.027 159.680 231.171 593.726 475.519
CARDINAL HEALTH INC CAH 32.511 31.446 116.000 429.300 1,300.600 1,151.600
CHICAGO BRIDGE & IRON CO CBI 166.334 39.000 62.405 113.403 (21.146) 174.289
EASTMAN KODAK CO EK 16.819  (98.291) 145.000 225.000 (442.000) (210.000)
EVEREST RE GROUP LTD RE 77.564 14.088 10.955 111.831 (18.758) 806.989
FAIRFAX FINANCIAL HOLDINGS FRFHF 30.913 17.825 483.800 823.300 1,473.800 856.800
IDT CORP IDT (4.705) 4.126 13.090 113.552 (224.330) (155.449)
LUBRIZOL CORP Lz 446.471 29.154 88.100 180.300 (66.100) 500.800
NIPPON TELEGRPH & TELE -ADR NTT 38.482 33.545 2,376.675 4,073.122 6,361.102 5,432.970
PROGRESSIVE CORP-OHIO PGR 68.511 32.077 258.000 461.700 (70.000) 1,057.500
PROLOGIS PLD (55.043) (2.307) 67.300 234.600 (406.773) 22.773
SIMS METAL MANAGEMENT -ADR SMS 33.547  (23.030) 138.149 191.729 414.190 (121.063)
SUNCOR ENERGY INC SuU 31.769 11.094 521.242 833.572 1,745.915 1,095.498
SUPERVALU INC SVU 39.304 (2.735) 107.000 274.000 593.000  (2,855.000)
SYMANTEC CORP SYMC 34.900 (3.406) 181.089 321.039 463.850 (6,728.870)
TOSHIBA CORP -ADR TOSYY 44.366  (19.453) 1,074.310 1,437.990 1,274.130  (3,505.704)
WEATHERFORD INTL LTD WFT 17.090 6.528 271.418 389.652 1,353.903 253.766

Median 33.547 11.094 145.000 274.000 463.850 253.766
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DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Deferred tax assets are recorded any time a firm has a greater expense for financial
reporting purposes than for tax purposes. The asset reflects a likely reduction in
future taxes and can result from a number of circumstances outside a reported loss
from operations, including asset retirements, tax credits, and stock-based compensa-
tion. Companies must record a valuation allowance against the deferred asset to the
extent that they might not be able to use the asset. They will recognize deferred tax
assets and liabilities on their balance sheet based on the differences between the
financial statement carrying values and the tax basis of the assets and liabilities.

During periods of rising prices, there is a boost to cash flows for those enti-
ties using the LIFO method through tax savings, thereby reducing the deferred tax
asset (or creating or increasing a deferred liability).

When health care legislation was passed by the House of Representatives, many
firms announced that an end to the Medicare subsidy would raise their taxes substan-
tially. This was due to a 28 percent tax-free subsidy the federal government was pro-
viding to companies for reimbursement to their retired employees related to Part D
(prescription drug) payments. Since under the new health care legislation the govern-
ment subsidy will be taxed, Caterpillar and Deere announced that they would take
over $250 million in charges related to a reduction in their deferred tax asset, which
had been established based on the expectation that they would continue getting the
tax-free subsidy, as was provided for under the tax law. The charges announced by
Caterpillar and Deere were a current noncash impact but would affect cash if the firms
continued their retiree reimbursement plan. Since the federal subsidy still would be
received but no longer would be a deductable expense, future cash taxes would be
affected, and hence the need to eliminate that portion of the deferred tax asset.

A deferred tax liability is incurred whenever a firm uses accelerated deprecia-
tion for tax purposes. Over the life of an asset, if the present value of the tax deduc-
tions for depreciation exceeds the present value of those deductions for shareholder
purposes, the effective marginal corporate tax rate will be less than the statutory rate.
Only if they are equal will the effective marginal rate equal the statutory rate.

Owing to losses occurring during 2008, many entities were forced to estab-
lish or increase their valuation reserves based on their historical taxable income
and projected future taxable income, including the expected timing of the rever-
sals of existing temporary differences. If the entities operated at a loss for an
extended period of time, were unable to generate sufficient future taxable income,
or if there was a material change in the effective tax rates or time period within
which the underlying temporary differences become taxable or deductible, these
entities could be required to record a valuation allowance against all or a signifi-
cant portion of their deferred tax assets, which could increase their effective tax
rate for such a period substantially. This could affect cash flows for those firms
that used a simple definition of cash flow as net profit plus depreciation.
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Any significant changes in statutory tax rates or the amount of a valuation
allowance could have a material effect on the value of deferred tax assets and lia-
bilities and the entity’s reported financial results. For entities that record a foreign
tax credit as part of the deferred tax asset, any change in applicable U.S. standards
or governing tax rates overseas also would affect the tax asset or liability. If an
entity records a deferred tax asset that currently carries a valuation allowance, it
may record a reduction to income tax expense in the period of such realization.

Example:
Supplemental Cash-Flow Information
Airgas, Inc.

Cash Paid for Interest and Taxes

Three Months Ended June 30 (in Thousands)

2009 2008
Interest paid $24,773 $16,184
Discount on securitization 1,615 2,984
Income taxes (net of refunds)? (6,635) 1,965

During the three months ended June 30, 2009, the company applied for and
received a $10 million federal income tax refund. The refund related to an overpayment
of fiscal year 2009 estimated federal income taxes as a result of a difference between
actual and forecasted profitability, primarily in the fourth quarter.

aAIRGAS, INC., AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)
Three Months Three Months
Ended Ended
June 30, 2009 June 30, 2008

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings $54,816% $68,883
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash

provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 51,583 48,098
Amortization 4816 5,406
Deferred income taxes 15,641 23,455
(Gain) loss on sales of plant and equipment 252 (12)
Stock-based compensation expense 9,914 7,973

Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding effects
of business acquisitions:

Securitization of trade receivables (15,900) —
Trade receivables, net 16,986 (6,526)
Inventories, net 23,375 (9,874)

(Continued)
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Three Months Three Months
Ended Ended
June 30, 2009 June 30, 2008

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5,603 2,563
Accounts payable, trade (8,660) (7,451)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 6,039 (3,613)
Other noncurrent assets 1,190 (542)
Other noncurrent liabilities (3,396) 259
Net cash provided by operating activities 162,259 128,619
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (67,312) (85,564)
Proceeds from sales of plant and equipment 2,510 3,329
Business acquisitions and holdback settlements (2,863) (21,680)
Other, net (1,433) (1,518)
Net cash used in investing activities (69,098) (105,433)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from borrowings 88,553 594,109
Repayment of debt (163,977) (596,080)
Purchase of treasury stock — (4,613)
Financing costs — (5,000)
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 2,123 9,927
Stock issued for the employee stock purchase plan 3,888 3,934
Tax benefit realized from the exercise of stock options 1,334 7,280
Dividends paid to stockholders (14,701) (10,040)
Change in cash overdraft and other 2,163 (805)
Net cash used in financing activities (80,617) (1,288)
Change in cash $12,544 $21,898
Cash—Beginning of period 47,188 43,048
Cash—End of period $59,732 $64,946

Example:

Provision for Income Taxes

Year Ended June 30 (in Thousands)

2008 2009

$ Change Percent Change

Income before provision for income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Percent of income before provision for income taxes
Percent of net revenue

$48,788 $65,810
17,688 11,486
36.3% 17.5%
4.9% 2.4%

$17,022 34.9%
(6,202)  —35.1%
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The provision for income taxes for the year ended June 30, 2009, was approximately
$11.5 million compared with $17.7 million for the year ended June 30, 2008, reflecting
higher pre-tax profits in lower tax rate jurisdictions, partially offset by an increase of valu-
ation allowance related to impairment charges on certain investments. The income tax
provision represented estimated federal, foreign, and state taxes for the years ended
June 30, 2008, and 2009. The effective tax rate for the year ended June 30, 2008, was
approximately 36.3 percent and diverged from the combined federal and state statutory
rate primarily as a result of the incremental research credits associated with stock option
activity and tax-exempt interest income, partially offset by the impact of impairment
losses, foreign withholding taxes, and the accounting for share-based compensation. The
effective tax rate for the year ended June 30, 2009, was approximately 17.5 percent and
diverged from the combined federal and state statutory rate primarily as a result of an
increase in profits in lower tax rate jurisdictions, the incremental research credits associ-
ated with stock option activity, and the extension of the federal research credit, and tax-
exempt interest income, partially offset by the impact of accounting for share-based com-
pensation and foreign withholding taxes.

In accordance with SFAS 123R, we recognize tax benefit upon expensing nonquali-
fied stock options and deferred stock units issued under our share-based compensation
plans. However, under current accounting standards, we cannot recognize tax benefit con-
current with expensing incentive stock options and employee stock purchase plan shares
(qualified stock options) issued under our share-based compensation plans. For qualified
stock options that vested after our adoption of SFAS 123R, we recognize tax benefit only
in the period when disqualifying dispositions of the underlying stock occur, which histori-
cally has been up to several years after vesting and in periods when our stock price sub-
stantially increases. For qualified stock options that vested prior to our adoption of SFAS
123R, we record the tax benefit directly to additional paid-in capital. Tax benefit associated
with total share-based compensation was approximately $6.1 million and $8.0 million for
the years ended June 30, 2008 and 2009, respectively. Excluding the impact of share-
based compensation and the related tax benefit, the effective tax rate for the years ended
June 30, 2008 and 2009 would have been 35.9 percent and 21.6 percent, respectively.
Because we cannot recognize the tax benefit for share-based compensation expense
associated with qualified stock options until the occurrence of future disqualifying disposi-
tions of the underlying stock and such disqualified dispositions may happen in periods
when our stock price substantially increases, and because a portion of that tax benefit
may be recorded directly to additional paid-in capital, our future quarterly and annual effec-
tive tax rates will be subject to greater volatility and, consequently, our ability to reasonably
estimate our future quarterly and annual effective tax rates is greatly diminished.

Synaptics also lowered its investment in municipals:
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June 30, 2008

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Money market $70,756 $— $— $70,756
Commercial paper 28,319 — — 28,319
U.S. Treasury bills 2,998 — 1 2,997
Municipal securities 41,201 133 — 41,334
Auction rate securities 40,412 — 2,466 37,946
Total available-for-sale securities $183,686 $133 $2,467 $181,352
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June 30, 2009

Gross Gross

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

Money market $166,334 $— $— $166,334
Commercial paper 2,598 — — 2,598
U.S. Treasury bills 7,992 3 — 7,995
Municipal securities 12,898 43 — 12,941
Auction rate securities 28,715 52 — 28,767
Total available-for-sale securities $218,537 $98 $— $218,635

Example:

Resulting from its large loss (carry-foward) for federal tax purposes reported under supplemental
cash flow information,YRC Worldwide, Inc., received cash refunds its past two years despite positive
effective tax rates. The instability in its effective tax rate would serve to increase the cost of equity cap-
ital because such instability, as explained in Chapter 8, is associated with higher-risk enterprises.
Much of the tax-rate instability for YRC is caused by the impairment of tax-deductible goodwill, which
allowed for the speedup of the deduction, thereby lowering the effective and real rate. SFAS 142
requires annual and periodic tests relating to the impairment of goodwiill.
The following charts are taken from YRC’s 2008 10K:

Supplemental cash-flow information:

Income taxes paid (refund), net $(46,463) $(48,132)  $109,500
Interest paid 70,945 84,076 90,072
Employer 401(k) contributions settled in common stock 8,108 9,548 7,38

A reconciliation between income taxes at the federal statutory rate and the consolidated
effective tax rate follows:

2008 2007 2006
Federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net 0.5 0.2 2.7
Goodwill impairment (21.0) (34.3) —
Nondeductible business expenses (0.4) (0.7) 1.1
Foreign tax credit and rate differential (1.4) (0.1) 0.2
Alternative fuel tax credit 0.6 1.4 —
Other, net 1.5 0.5 0.3

Effective tax rate 14.8% 2.0% 39.3%
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Example:

Union Drilling, Inc., provides contract land drilling services primarily to natural gas producers in
the United States. In its footnoted table on income taxes, taken from its 2008 10K, the company
reported a higher than effective statutory 35 percent tax rate, even though, through “bonus”
depreciation legislation passed as part of the 2008 U.S. economic stimulus package, Union
Drilling used accelerated depreciation for taxes (temporary difference) and was entitled to a small
cash refund.

The higher than effective tax rate primarily results, in part, from meal allowances, for which
only 50 percent is permitted for tax purposes, but is totally expensed for shareholder reporting
and the write-off of goodwill for shareholder reporting, which was not deductible for tax report-
ing. These are two examples of permanent timing differences.

Total income tax expense differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. statu-
tory federal income tax rate to income before income taxes as a result of the following (in thou-

sands):
2008 2007 2006

U.S. statutory federal income tax rate 35% 35% 35%
Income tax expense at the statutory federal

tax rate $7,126 $18,498 $18,994
State, local, and provincial income taxes,

net of federal tax benefit 755 2,322 2,382
Meal allowances 1,962 1,924 1,559
Noncash compensation 130 96 235
Goodwill and intangibles impairment charge 3,062 — 350
Domestic production deduction — (549) (343)
Decrease in unrecognized tax benefits (276) — —
Deferred tax adjustment — (169) (693)
Other (148) (102) (66)
Income tax expense $12,611 $22,020 $22,418
Example:

In order to incentivize energy exploration, the U.S. Congress passed legislation potentially boost-
ing the cash flows of the industry through tax incentives. Hopeful companies would take advantage
by increasing exploration, resulting in the nation having less reliance on imported oil. The use of
accelerated depreciation for tax purposes relative to shareholder reporting also helps minimize
current cash taxes paid, resulting in a temporary timing difference.

In its 2008 fiscal year, Exxon Mobil reported a $16.062 billion net deferred tax liability on
its balance sheet. As long as Exxon continues to grow its exploration budget and Congress does
not change the tax law, an analyst can presume that this liability will continue to grow indefinitely.
The other item causing the large deferred tax liability relates to intangible development costs.
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Exploration companies can expense for tax purposes a large percentage of intangible items
related to the exploration process, which are expenditures having no salvageable value. For
instance, clearing land, repairs, fuel, and even mud placed on the rig fit into the category,
whereas piping would not. The items are capitalized for shareholder reporting purposes. We also
see that Exxon Mobil capitalized interest expense related to its exploration programs.

2008 2007
Tax Effects of Temporary Differences for (Millions of Dollars) (Millions of Dollars)
Depreciation $17,279 $18,810
Intangible development costs 5,578 4,890
Capitalized interest 2,751 2,575
Other liabilities 3,589 3,955
Total deferred tax liabilities $29,197 $30,230
Pension and other postretirement benefits $(6,275) $(3,837)
Tax loss carry-forwards (2,850) (2,162)
Other assets (5,274) (5,848)
Total deferred tax assets $(14,399) $(11,847)
Asset valuation allowances 1,264 637
Net deferred tax liabilities $16,062 $19,020

Deferred income tax (assets) and liabilities are included in the balance sheet, as shown
below. Deferred income tax (assets) and liabilities are classified as current or long term consis-
tent with the classification of the related temporary difference—separately by tax jurisdiction.

2008 2007
Balance Sheet Classification (Millions of Dollars) (Millions of Dollars)
Other current assets $(2,097) $(2,497)
Other assets, including intangibles, net (1,725) (1,451)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 158 69
Deferred income tax liabilities 19,726 22,899
Net deferred tax liabilities $16,062 $19,020

In its 2008 income statement and income tax footnote, Exxon Mobil reports a 47 percent
effective tax rate amounting to $36,530 million. We discover from the footnote, “Cash Flow
Information,” that the company actually made cash tax payments for the year of $33,942 million,
or $2.6 billion less.

Table 4-6 depicts Exxon Mobil’s actual tax payments versus the amount it

accrued in the income statement for the 10 years ending December 2008. Exxon



Free Cash Flow 173

Mobil paid $161.8 billion in total taxes versus the $177 billion shown in the
income statements under the effective rate.

TABLE 4-6

Exxon Mobil Actual Taxes Paid versus Accrued

Cash Paid Accrued
1998 2,718 2,616
1999 3,805 3,240
2000 8,671 11,091
2001 9,855 9,014
2002 6,106 6,499
2003 8,149 11,006
2004 13,510 15,911
2005 22,535 23,302
2006 26,165 27,902
2007 26,342 29,864
2008 33,941 36,530
Total 161,797 176,975

As is taken from CT Capital’s credit model (discussed in Chapter 8), from
which we determine cost of equity capital, Exxon Mobil is not penalized for income
tax stability, meaning that it has a stable rate, whether using accrued or actual tax
payments. The stability rate of O represents the markup to the cost of capital result-
ing from the tax payment rate changing by more than 10 percent from the prior year
or exceeding other stability measures, as explained in Chapter 8.

Tax stability:

Tax expense/pretax income 42%
Tax payment/pretax income 39%
Stability of tax rate 0
Tax expense/pretax income (most recent quarter) 46%

Source: CT Capital, LLC, September 18, 2009.
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Example:

Archer Daniels Midland Company (ADM) is one of the world’s largest processors of oilseeds, corn,
wheat, cocoa, and other feedstuffs and is a leading manufacturer of vegetable oil and protein meal,
corn sweeteners, flour, biodiesel, ethanol, and other value-added food and feed ingredients. Its 2009
10K shows the reporting effect when deferred taxes are reversed. In this instance, Archer Daniels had
invested in an overseas entity (WIHL), where it claimed the funds were permanently invested. During
2009, ADM began liquidation of WIHL, and thus Archer Daniels could no longer make this claim and
had to reverse the tax benefit. Fortunately, its consolidated tax rate, owing to other jurisdictional ben-
efits, overcame this, bringing the company below the statutory rate. As we see from its segments and
geographic information, owing to the U.S. recession, over half the company’s sales came from “other
foreign” during 2009, including South America, where the tax rate is low.

2009 2008 2007
Net sales and other operating income
United States $35,485 $37,466 $24,244
Germany 7,431 8,335 6,569
Other foreign 26,291 24,015 13,205
$69,207 $69,816 $44,018

Archer Daniels Midland Income Taxes

2009 2008
(Millions of Dollars) (Millions of Dollars)
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant, and equipment $599 $592
Equity in earnings of affiliates 142 272
Inventory reserves 64 28
Other 80 36
$885 $928
Deferred tax assets
Pension and postretirement benefits $301 $156
Purchased call options 78 98
Stock compensation 59 53
Tax credit carryforwards, net 36 43
Reserves and other accruals 19 9
Other 153 96
$646 $455
Net deferred tax liabilities $239 $473
Current deferred tax liabilities included in
accrued expenses 9) —

Noncurrent deferred tax liabilities $230 $473
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Reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate with the company’s effective tax rate
on earnings is as follows:
2009 2008 2007
Statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of
federal tax benefit 1.0 1.3 1.4
Foreign earnings taxed at rates
other than the U.S. statutory rate (9.2) (4.6) (2.9)
WIHL liquidation 6.6 — —
Adjustment of income taxes to filed tax returns (0.1) 0.2 (0.4)
Other (0.7) (0.6) (1.6)
Effective rate 32.6% 31.3% 31.5%

QUARTERLY EFFECTIVE TAX RATES

It is not unusual for entities to overaccrue a reported tax rate during early quarters
of the year, leaving themselves a cushion for later in the year. Table 4-7 shows the
quarterly effective tax rates reported to shareholders of General Electric (GE) and,
in the second column, the eventual effective rate for that year. For the five years
shown, GE management overaccrued in each of their first quarters, based on the
final rate. Whether GE was attempting to manage earnings for later in the year
cannot be stated with certainty, although the consistency is obvious because GE’s
fourth quarter had its lowest effective rate in all periods shown. The investor
should be aware of the effective quarterly rate and what signals it may mean for
management’s expectation for full-year results. As depicted in the case of Kellogg,
which, unlike GE, has a high effective rate, the fourth quarter rate often has been
the highest reported rate of its fiscal year, with quarterly swings not as pronounced
as with GE, especially the first quarter estimated rate compared with the full-year
rate. Unquestionably, quarterly effective rates give management a tool to manipu-
late earnings and operating cash flows over the very short term and present
another reason one should look toward free cash flow and actual tax payments.

OTHER TAX CREDITS

Tax credits allow a firm to potentially lower cash taxes due. They can be in the
form of a credit applied against the actual tax rate or a direct dollar-for-dollar
credit against taxes otherwise due. This is true for both U.S. and foreign taxes.
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TABLE 47

Quarterly and Yearly Effective Tax Rate—General Electric and Kellogg

Kellogg Co. General Electric
Tax Rate (Qtly) Tax Rate (Year) Tax Rate (Qtly) Tax Rate (Year)
Mar 04 35.5 23.6
Jun 04 33.6 15.1
Sep 04 34.5 18.6
Dec 04 35.9 34.8 14.9 17.3
Mar 05 32.0 18.8
Jun 05 33.1 16.6
Sep 05 30.0 19.7
Dec 05 29.1 31.2 14.4 17.2
Mar 06 32.0 18.4
Jun 06 31.3 17.8
Sep 06 32.0 15.1
Dec 06 31.4 31.7 14.7 15.5
Mar 07 241 19.3
Jun 07 31.9 20.1
Sep 07 26.7 10.8
Dec 07 33.8 28.7 10.4 15.0
Mar 08 30.3 15.7
Jun 08 29.9 15.9
Sep 08 28.1 10.4
Dec 08 31.4 29.7 —52.7 5.3

For example, under the Tax Reform Act of 1986, the U.S. government incen-
tivized the formation of affordable housing aimed at low-income Americans. The
credit, because it provides a direct reduction in taxes otherwise due, has eco-
nomic value for profitable enterprises. As the U.S. economy was expanding, low-
income-housing tax credits (LIHTC) traded at premiums, but as the United States
entered recession, companies such as FNMA, which had large unusable credits,
were forced to write down their value.

Tax credits are shown as an operating item on the cash-flow statement under
U.S. GAAP only to the extent that they relate to the accounting expense; if the tax
deduction exceeds the amount attributable to the accounting expense, such excess
is a financing item.
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Example:

This decreased demand has reduced the value of these investments. We determine the
fair value of our LIHTC investments using internal models that estimate the present
value of the expected future tax benefits (tax credits and tax deductions for net operat-
ing losses) expected to be generated from the properties underlying these investments.
Our estimates are based on assumptions that other market participants would use in
valuing these investments. The key assumptions used in our models, which require sig-
nificant management judgment, include discount rates and projections related to the
amount and timing of tax benefits. We compare the model results to the limited number
of observed market transactions and make adjustments to reflect differences between
the risk profile of the observed market transactions and our LITHC investments.

Source: FNMA March 2009 10Q.

In a related story, in November 2009, the financial press reported that
Goldman Sachs was interested in buying million of dollars of such credits from
FNMA, which would have the effect of lowering Goldman Sachs’ tax bill while
providing cash to FNMA.

Tax credits are incentives and can come from state, federal, or foreign
authorities.” The goals of incentives vary—but always involve motivation—from
labor force hiring, research or capital equipment expenditures, remittance of over-
seas earnings, purchase of certain securities, or prevention of unemployment, such
as aid following natural disasters. They are aimed at improving the economic
activity of the provider, with the ultimate goal of increased taxes in the longer run.
The analyst should determine the continuing likelihood of such credits and the
durational impact on cash flows. For example, in its 2009 10K, Graham Packaging
Company, Inc., reported a higher than 35 percent statutory rate owing to the
absence of tax benefits being recorded on losses in jurisdictions with valuation
allowances and the inability to offset foreign tax credits against domestic tax
expense because of net operating losses.

2 The corporate foreign tax credit is a set of provisions designed by Congress to eliminate potential
double taxation on the foreign-source income of U.S. corporations. Double taxation occurs when
an item of income is taxed by both the United States, as the corporation’s country of residence, and
the country where the income was generated. The current provisions allow U.S. businesses to credit
their foreign taxes paid, accrued, or deemed paid against their U.S. income tax liability, subject to
limitations that prevent taxpayers from using taxes paid in a country with a higher tax rate than the
United States to offset their tax liability on U.S. income. Corporations are required to calculate this
credit separately for different income categories to prevent taxpayers from combining income that
traditionally is taxed at low rates, such as dividend or interest income, with income that typically
is taxed at higher rates, such as active business income. For additional information, go to IRS.gov.
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Provision for Income Taxes

Our provision for income taxes increased $3.1 million, or 39.2 percent, from $8.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2007, to $11.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2008. We had an effective income tax rate of approximately 33.3 percent and 36.1 per-
cent for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively. The 2007 effective
income tax rate is lower primarily due to the 2007 federal tax credit related to Hurricane
Katrina and higher tax exempt interest income for 2007.

Source: Odyssey HealthCare, Inc., 2008 10K.

STABILITY OF TAX RATE

Entities with stable businesses and cash flows have more predictable and steady tax
rates. Entities with unstable businesses, either in sales, cost of sales, or operating cash
flows, have more unpredictable tax rates, both the effective rate and the cash rate of
the tax return. Unstable tax rates are not a surefire warning sign of trouble, but there
is always a precipitating event or events that force the inconsistency —when tax rate
levels are routinely low or volatile, the analyst should uncover the reason, especially
if owing to business conditions, foreign income or credits, tax holidays, or clever
bookkeeping. Investors cannot count on growing distributable cash with such volatil-
ity. For this reason, more stable rate payers enjoy lower cost of capital, on average.
Uncertainty, even in tax planning, is the enemy of security valuation and credit analy-
sis and, for this reason, is directly associated with the cost of capital.

As with Enron, we see a very volatile cash tax rate for General Motors (GM)
prior to its declaring bankruptcy. There was no single period in the 10 years pre-
ceding GM’s bankruptcy when their actual cash tax rate was stable (Fig. 4-2).

Under SFAS 95, the analyst is able to model the historic and expected stability
of the company’s financial performance more accurately because of the cash tax and
cash interest information. As noted, an estimate (that was not always accurate) was
necessary prior to SFAS 95. Since the analyst does not have access to actual tax-based
profits or corporate tax returns, one needed to approximate the cash taxes from the
income tax footnote.

GM was characterized by a very volatile effective tax rate as well. When
reviewing the company’s effective tax rate, we see somewhat greater stability until
2003, a time when the stock still was trading above $40 per share. By 2007, the com-
pany already reported 5 years of 10 percent swings in its effective tax rate (Fig. 4-3).

In the upcoming examples, for Kraft, Jo-Ann Stores, and Tesoro, depicted are
the actual taxes paid/pretax income, the latter from the income statement. As long
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General Motors’ Cash Tax Rate
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as the cash tax rate, defined as taxes paid/pretax income, is applied consistently
(including adding permanent differences), the result is meaningful in assessing sta-
bility. There are analysts who prefer to use earnings before interest, taxes, depreci-
ation and amortization (EBITDA) as the denominator as a form of unlevered tax
rate. To exclude interest and depreciation would not accurately reflect pretax
income, even though those amounts would differ from the tax return.

As we see in the three charts in Figs. 4-4 through 4-6, Kraft, a stable-cash-flow
company, shows a fairly steady tax rate (Fig. 4-4), in contrast to both Jo-Ann Stores
and Tesoro. Each of these companies had small amounts of permanent timing differ-
ences, so there was no need to add that amount to pretax income in arriving at the
cash tax rate.

Jo-Ann Stores, a specialty crafts retailer, historically has had an unstable tax
rate, reflective of its underlying business, which likewise has shown inconsistent
results. Notice the relationship for the years 1999-2005, when the company had a
consistently high rate along with its increasing market value, and its subsequent
tax volatility, along with the concurrent fluctuation in its market value (Fig. 4-5).

Tesoro, a large refiner and gasoline marketer, saw a large negative cash tax
rate jump to a large positive rate, then down again, and then up again (Fig. 4-6).

FIGURE 4-4

Kraft: Approximate Cash Tax Rate versus Market Value
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